
December 12, 2023 

Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority  

Date: December 12, 2023 

Location:    
GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 
2828 WALKER FIELD DRIVE 
GRAND JUNCTION, CO 81506 
AIRPORT TERMINAL - 3rd FLOOR CONFERENCE ROOM 
or  
Electronic Meeting 
Link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86820765355?pwd=aTMvNWk4MGxKc3ZhcTI2a2hUT1hWQT09 

Time:  11:30 AM 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA   

 Call to Order  

 Pledge of Allegiance 

 Approval of Agenda 

 Commissioner Comments 

 Citizens Comments 

The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority welcomes respectful public comments at its 
meetings. The Citizens Comment section is open to all individuals that would like to comment. If 
you wish to speak under the Citizens Comment portion of the agenda, please e-mail your 
comment to the Board Clerk (boardclerk@gjairport.com) 15 minutes prior to the meeting. 
Comments not related to specific agenda items will be addressed during the citizen comment 
section of the agenda. Citizen comments related to a specific action item will be addressed during 
the discussion of that action item. The Board Chair will indicate when you may come forward and 
comment. Please state your name for the record. Presentations are limited to three minutes and 
yielding time to others is not permitted. Speakers are to address the Chair, not each other or the 
audience, and are expected to conduct themselves in an appropriate manner. The use of abusive 
or profane language shall not be allowed. No debate or argument between speakers and/or 
members of the audience shall be permitted.  

 Consent Agenda 

A.  October 17, 2023 Meeting Minutes ______________________________________ 1 

- Approve the October 17, 2023 Board Meeting Minutes. 

1/153



December 12, 2023 

B. November 7, 2023 Meeting Minutes ______________________________________ 2 

- Approve the November 7, 2023 Special Board Meeting Minutes. 

C. Air Service Incentive Program Revisions ___________________________________ 3 

- Adopt the proposed revisions to the Air Service Incentive Program. 

D. Asset Capitalization Policy ______________________________________________ 4 

- Staff recommend that the current Asset Capitalization Policy be adopted as 
proposed. 

 Action 

A. Resolution No. 2023-014 Appoint Budget Officer ____________________________ 5 

- Adopt Resolution No. 2023-014 to appoint Jennifer Kroeker as the Budget Officer.  

B. Resolution No. 2023-015 to Adopt 2024 Budget and Appropriate Funds for 2024 __ 6 

- Adopt Resolution No. 2023-015 to adopt the 2024 Budget and appropriate funds 
for 2024. 

C. Resolution No. 2023-016: Rates and Charges _______________________________ 7 

- Adopt Resolution No. 2023-016: Rates and Charges, effective January 1, 2024. 

D. Resolution No. 2023-017: Delegation of Authority ___________________________ 8 

- Adopt Resolution No. 2023-017: Resolution of the Board of Commissioners 
Regarding Delegation of Authority. 

E. 2024 Grant Applications________________________________________________ 9 

- Approve the four 2024 Airport Improvement Program grant applications for the 
Runway 12-30 replacement program and authorize the Executive Director to sign 
and submit the applications to the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA).  

 Discussion 

A. 2024 Officer & Committee Appointments 
B. 2024 Draft Board Meeting Calendar _____________________________________ 10 

 Staff Reports 

A.  CIP Update – Colin Bible 
B.  Executive Director Report (Angela Padalecki) 
C. Finance and Activity Report (Jennifer Kroeker)  ____________________________ 11 

 Any other business which may come before the Board 

 Adjournment 

2/153



October 17, 2023 Minutes – Page 1 
 
 

  
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board 

Regular Board Meeting 
 Meeting Minutes 
October 17, 2023 

 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING    
I. Call to Order  
Mr. Tom Benton, Board Chair, called the Meeting of the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 
Board to order at 11:30 AM on October 17, 2023 in Grand Junction, Colorado and in the County 
of Mesa. The meeting was hosted in the 3rd floor conference room as well as electronically. 

 
 
II. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
III. Approval of Agenda  
  
Commissioner Velarde made a motion to approve the October 17, 2023 Board Agenda. 
Commissioner Davis seconded the motion. Voice Vote: All Ayes; motion carried.  

Commissioners Present: 
   Tom Benton (Chairman) 
   Linde Marshall (Vice-Chair) 
   Thaddeus Shrader 
   Cody Davis 
   Chris West 
   Randall Reitz 
   Ron Velarde 
    
Airport Staff: 
   Angela Padalecki  
   Dan Reimer (Counsel) 
   Diana Thomas 
   Ben Peck 
   Dylan Heberlein  
   Cameron Reece (Clerk) 
   Jennifer Kroeker 
   Kristina Warren 
   Shelagh Flesch 
      

Guests: 
Colin Bible, Garver 
Jeremy Lee, Mead and Hunt 
Brad Rolf, Mead and Hunt 
Allison Thomas, Garver 
D. Godfrey, CAF 
 

3/153



October 17, 2023 Minutes – Page 2 
 
 

 
 
IV. Commissioner Comments 
Commissioner Davis commented to applaud the staff efforts in operating a successful Airshow.   
 
V. Citizen Comments 
No Citizen Comments were made. 
 
VI. Consent Agenda 
 

A.  September 19, 2023 Meeting Minutes  
- Approve the September 19, 2023 Board Meeting Minutes.  
 

B. Plante Moran Audit Engagement Letter for 2023 Audits  
- Approve the audit engagement letter with Plante Moran for the 2023 audits. 

 
Commissioner West  made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda. Commissioner Shrader 
seconded the motion. Voice Vote: All Ayes; motion carried.  
 
VII. Action 
 

A. Resolution No. 2023-013 Appoint Budget Officer and Treasurer 
 

Commissioner Marshall made a motion to Adopt Resolution No. 2023-013 to appoint Diana 
Thomas as the Budget Officer and Treasurer.   Commissioner Davis  seconded the motion.  Roll Call 
Vote: Commissioner Shrader, yes; Commissioner West, yes; Commissioner Davis, yes; 
Commissioner Marshall, yes; Commissioner Velarde, yes; Commissioner Reitz, yes; and 
Commissioner Benton. The motion carried. 

 
VIII. Public Hearing (C.R.S. §29-1-108(1) 

A. GJRAA 2024 Budget 
 
IX. Staff Reports 

A. CIP Update – Colin Bible 
B. Executive Director Report (Angela Padalecki) 
C. Finance and Activity Report (Diana Thomas) 

 
X. Executive Session 

Commissioner Davis made a motion to move into Executive session for the purpose of 
receiving legal advice on specific legal questions related to pending or threatened litigation, 
as authorized by Colorado Revised Statute Section 24-6-402(4)(b). Commissioner Velarde 
seconded the motion. Voice Vote: All Ayes; motion carried. 

 

4/153



October 17, 2023 Minutes – Page 3 
 
 

Commissioner Davis made a motion to move from Executive Session back into a public meeting. 
Commissioner Shrader seconded the motion. Voice Vote: All Ayes; motion carries. 
 
XI. Any other business which may come before the Board 

 
XII. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 1:18pm 
 

Audio recording of the complete meeting can be found at 
https://gjairport.com/Board_Meetings 
  

 
Tom Benton, Board Chair 
 
ATTEST: 
 
Cameron Reece, Clerk to the Board 

5/153



November 7, 2023 Minutes – Page 1 
 
 

  
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board 

Special Board Meeting 
 Meeting Minutes 
November 7, 2023 

 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING    
I. Call to Order  
Mr. Tom Benton, Board Chair, called the Meeting of the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 
Board to order at 11:30 AM on November 7, 2023 in Grand Junction, Colorado and in the County 
of Mesa. The meeting was hosted in the 3rd floor conference room as well as electronically. 

 
 
II. Pledge of Allegiance 
III. Approval of Agenda  
  
Commissioner Velarde made a motion to approve the November 7, 2023 Special Board Agenda. 
Commissioner West seconded the motion. Voice Vote: All Ayes; motion carried.  
IV. Commissioner Comments 
Commissioner Benton Commented to thank Dylan and his Operations team for a successful 
Airshow. 

Commissioners Present: 
   Tom Benton (Chairman) 
   Linde Marshall (Vice-Chair) 
   Thaddeus Shrader 
   Cody Davis 
   Chris West 
   Randall Reitz 
   Ron Velarde 
    
Airport Staff: 
   Angela Padalecki  
   Dan Reimer (Counsel) 
   Ben Peck 
   Dylan Heberlein  
   Cameron Reece (Clerk) 
   Jennifer Kroeker 
   Kristina Warren 
      

Guests: 
Brad Rolf, Mead and Hunt 
 

6/153



November 7, 2023 Minutes – Page 2 
 
 

 
V. Citizen Comments 
No Citizen Comments were made. 
 
VI. Consent Agenda 
 

A.  Health Insurance Renewal 
- Approve the proposed health insurance plan and cost sharing as outlined in the Agenda 
Item Summary to renew the Medical, Dental, and Vision plans effective January 1, 2024 
through December 31, 2024 and authorize the Executive Director to sign all plan 
documents and approve invoices. 

 
B. Taylor Fence Vehicle Gate 1 Replacement 

- Authorize the Executive Director or her designee to award the bid for the replacement of 
vehicle gate 1 to Taylor Fence and execute the associated work order not to exceed 
$132,416.00. 

 
Commissioner Marshall  made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda. Commissioner Reitz 
seconded the motion. Voice Vote: All Ayes; motion carried.  
 
VII. Executive Session 

Commissioner Marshall made a motion to move into Executive session for the purpose of 
receiving legal advice on specific legal questions related to pending or threatened litigation, 
as authorized by Colorado Revised Statute Section 24-6-402(4)(b). Commissioner Shrader 
seconded the motion. Voice Vote: All Ayes; motion carried. 

 
Commissioner Marshall made a motion to move from Executive Session back into a public 
meeting. Commissioner Velarde seconded the motion. Voice Vote: All Ayes; motion carries. 
 
VIII. Any other business which may come before the Board 

 
IX. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 12:18pm 
 

Audio recording of the complete meeting can be found at 
https://gjairport.com/Board_Meetings  

 
Tom Benton, Board Chair 
 
ATTEST: 
 
Cameron Reece, Clerk to the Board 

7/153



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Air Service Incentive Program Revisions 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECCOMENDATION: Adopt the proposed revisions to the Air Service Incentive Program. 

SUMMARY: Proposed revisions: 

1. Change the definition of seasonal from 12-50 weeks to 8-30 weeks 
and adjusted terms and conditions #4 to align. This gives GJT more 
ability to incentivize shorter seasons, and incorporates the 
updated FAA Policy Regarding Air Carrier Incentive Program (“FAA 
Policy”) published Dec. 7, 2023 that defines seasonal service as 
lasting no more than 7 months.   

2. Update the target markets to add: ISP (Long Island) and HPN 
(Westchester County) to New York City region; PVU (Provo) and 
OGD (Ogden) to Salt Lake City region; Boston, MA region – BOS 
(Boston), PVD (Rhode Island), MHT (Manchester-Boston); Miami, 
FL region – MIA (Miami) and FLL (Fort Lauderdale); Orlando region 
– MCO (Orlando) and SFB (Sanford); Tampa region – TPA (Tampa) 
and PIE (St. Pete-Clearwater); AZA (Mesa) to Phoenix region; and 
Nashville (BNA).  

3. Modify New Entrant Incentive to clarify eligibility for incentives on 
a previously unserved market in accordance with FAA Policy. 

4. Update Terms and Conditions to reference and align language to 
match FAA Policy. 

The Air Service Incentive Program was adopted to incentivize airlines to 
provide or expand service. Airport incentives help reduce airline barriers 
to entry in new markets including name and/or service awareness, 
reduced financial risk for uncertain routes or destinations, and 
demonstrates community support in new air service.  
 
This program is intended to be dynamic and updated at least annually. It 
was last updated in November 2022. 

REVIEWED BY:  Executive Director, Legal Counsel, and CMT Air Service Consultant 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

To Be Determined – depending on eligible airline service 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

Air Service Incentive Program red line 

STAFF CONTACT:                 Angela Padalecki 
apadalecki@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8588 

8/153



 
 
 

Grand Junction Regional Airport Air Service Incentive Program 
 

Background 
The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority has developed the following air service incentive program 
to increase access and affordability of commercial air service at GJT in accordance with applicable 
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) rules and guidance. 
 
Goal of the Program 
The goal of the Grand Junction Regional Airport Air Service Incentive Program is to increase access to 
affordable air service at GJT through new passenger service to unserved destinations with an emphasis 
on in-demand, target markets.   
 
Definition of Key Terms 

1. Unserved Destination – Airport destination without nonstop service in the past six months 
2. New Service – Nonstop service connecting GJT with an unserved destination 
3. Additional Service – Nonstop service from an air carrier to a destination not currently served by 

that air carrier from GJT 
4. Seasonal Service – Airport destination with scheduled nonstop service for at least 8-consecutive 

weeks but fewer than 30-consecutive weeks in a 12-month period 
 
Targeted Airport Destinations 
Through rigorous analysis and conversations with community stakeholders, GJT has identified the 
following target markets and airport destinations for new air service: 
 

Table 1: GJT Target Airport Destinations 

Target Market Target Airport Destinations 

New York City LGA, JFK, EWR, ISP, HPN, and SWF 

Washington D.C. DCA, BWI, and IAD 

Chicago ORD and MDW 

Los Angeles LAX, ONT, LGB, BUR, SNA and SBD 

San Francisco SFO, OAK, and SJC 

Seattle SEA and PAE 

Houston IAH and HOU 

Atlanta ATL 

Minneapolis-St. Paul MSP 

Charlotte CLT 

Detroit DTW 

Dallas DAL 

Portland PDX 

Philadelphia PHL 

San Diego SAN 

Austin AUS 

Salt Lake City SLC, PVU, and OGD 

Boston BOS, PVD, and MHT 

9/153



 
 
 

Miami/South Florida MIA and FLL 

Orlando MCO and SFB 

Tampa/St. Petersburg TPA and PIE 

Phoenix/Mesa AZA 

Nashville BNA 

Other Colorado Airports APA, ASE, BJC, COS, DRO, EGE, FNL, GUC, HDN, 
MTJ, TEX  

 
Incentive Categories 
New Service to a Targeted Unserved Destination 
Eligibility: Any passenger air carrier establishing new service to a Targeted Destination as outlined in 
Table 1.  The Targeted Destination must be an Unserved Destination from GJT at the time service is 
initiated. 
 

1. Year-round, daily service to a Targeted, Unserved Destination:  An air carrier is eligible for a 
100% landing fee waiver for 24 months, 100% waiver of joint use space rent for the first 12 
months and a 50% waiver in Year 2; $50,000 in marketing support for new service to be used 
during the first 24 months of service. 

2. Year-round, less than daily service to a Targeted, Unserved Destination:  An air carrier is 
eligible for a 100% landing fee waiver for 24 months, 100% waiver of joint use space rent for the 
first 12 months and a 50% waiver in Year 2; $25,000 in marketing support for new service to be 
used during the first 24 months of service. 

3. Seasonal service to a Targeted, Unserved Destination:  An air carrier is eligible for a 100% 
landing fee waiver for 24 months, 100% waiver of joint use space rent for the first 12 months 
and a 50% waiver in Year 2; $25,000 in marketing support for new service scheduled to operate 
at least twice a week to be used during the first 24 months of service. 
 

New Service to an Unserved, Non-Target Destination 
Eligibility: Any passenger air carrier establishing service to a new destination not included in Table 1. 

1. New service to an Unserved, non-targeted Destination: An air carrier is eligible for a 100% 
landing fee waiver for 12 months. 

 
Expanded Service to an Existing Destination  
Eligibility: Any passenger air carrier establishing service to a destination currently served or suspended 
within the past 6 months. 

1. Additional Service to an existing destination:  A air carrier is eligible for a 100% landing fee 
waiver for 12 months. 

 
New Entrant Incentive 
Eligibility: Any passenger air carrier that did not serve GJT during the last 12 months.  The new entrant 
incentive is able to be combined with any of the new service categories listed above. 
 

1. New entrant carrier:  A new entrant air carrier is eligible for a 100% waiver of preferential use 
space rent for the first 12 months. If a new entrant carrier is only providing service on a 
previously unserved market, they also qualify for a 50% waiver in Year 2.   

10/153



 
 
 
Terms and Conditions  

1. This incentive program is effective immediately and may be amended by the Grand Junction 
Airport Authority at any time. 

2. This incentive program will be administered in compliance with federal law, the Airport 
Improvement Program Grant Assurances, and FAA policy, including the Policy and Procedures 
Concerning the Use of Airport Revenue (1999) and the FAA Policy Regarding Air Carrier Incentive 
Program (2023). 

3. Participation in this program requires an incentive agreement between the Grand Junction 
Airport Authority and an air carrier. The Airport Authority reserves the right, based on budget 
availability, to limit an incentive on a specific route to the first air carrier to establish service, 
defined as the first air carrier to sign an incentive agreement. 

4. To qualify for incentives, a seasonal route must be operated for a minimum of 8 consecutive 
weeks. 

5. An air carrier may only qualify for an incentive for a particular route one time. Seasonal service 
may not receive an incentive each time it returns for a new season. 

6. To qualify for incentives, a carrier must be current on payment of rates and charges.   
7. Air carriers must operate service throughout duration of the promotional period at the level 

specified. 
8. Air carriers must use the passenger terminal in order to qualify for incentives. 
9. An air carrier may qualify for an incentive regardless of the type of economic and safety 

certificates it has sought and received from the U.S. Department of Transportation and FAA, 
including authorities granted under 14 C.F.R. Parts 119, 121 and Part 135, provided that the air 
carrier otherwise satisfies the eligibility and qualification requirements of this incentive 
program. 

10. An air carrier may qualify for an incentive whether the air carrier operates as a signatory or non-
signatory at GJT, provided that the air carrier otherwise satisfies the eligibility and qualification 
requirements of this incentive program. 

11. Air carriers may choose to forgo some or all fee waivers and rent abatements for an increased 
marketing incentive of equal value based upon service schedule and aircraft gauge committed at 
the time of entering into an incentive agreement with GJT.  If the airline changes its frequency 
or gauge over the incentive period, the amount of the marketing incentive will be increased or 
reduced accordingly.   

12. Incentives may not be transferred from one carrier to another.  Incentives cannot be transferred 
between routes. 

13. Additional incentives including marketing support and minimum revenue guarantees (MRG) may 
be available through Grand Junction Regional Air Service Alliance. 

 

11/153



 
 
 

Grand Junction Regional Airport Air Service Incentive Program 
 

Background 
The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority has developed the following air service incentive program 
to increase access and affordability of commercial air service at GJT in accordance with applicable 
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) rules and guidance. 
 
Goal of the Program 
The goal of the Grand Junction Regional Airport Air Service Incentive Program is to increase access to 
affordable air service at GJT through new passenger service to unserved destinations with an emphasis 
on in-demand, target markets.   
 
Definition of Key Terms 

1. Unserved Destination – Airport destination without nonstop service in the past six months 
2. New Service – Nonstop service connecting GJT with an unserved destination 
3. Additional Service – Nonstop service from an air carrier to a destination not currently served by 

that air carrier from GJT 
4. Seasonal Service – Airport destination with scheduled nonstop service for at least 8-consecutive 

weeks but fewer than 30-consecutive weeks in a 12-month period 
 
Targeted Airport Destinations 
Through rigorous analysis and conversations with community stakeholders, GJT has identified the 
following target markets and airport destinations for new air service: 
 

Table 1: GJT Target Airport Destinations 

Target Market Target Airport Destinations 

New York City LGA, JFK, EWR, ISP, HPN, and SWF 

Washington D.C. DCA, BWI, and IAD 

Chicago ORD and MDW 

Los Angeles LAX, ONT, LGB, BUR, SNA and SBD 

San Francisco SFO, OAK, and SJC 

Seattle SEA and PAE 

Houston IAH and HOU 

Atlanta ATL 

Minneapolis-St. Paul MSP 

Charlotte CLT 

Detroit DTW 

Dallas DAL 

Portland PDX 

Philadelphia PHL 

San Diego SAN 

Austin AUS 

Salt Lake City SLC, PVU, and OGD 

Boston BOS, PVD, and MHT 

12/153



 
 
 

Miami/South Florida MIA and FLL 

Orlando MCO and SFB 

Tampa/St. Petersburg TPA and PIE 

Phoenix/Mesa AZA 

Nashville BNA 

Other Colorado Airports APA, ASE, BJC, COS, DRO, EGE, FNL, GUC, HDN, 
MTJ, TEX  

 
Incentive Categories 
New Service to a Targeted Unserved Destination 
Eligibility: Any passenger air carrier establishing new service to a Targeted Destination as outlined in 
Table 1.  The Targeted Destination must be an Unserved Destination from GJT at the time service is 
initiated. 
 

1. Year-round, daily service to a Targeted, Unserved Destination:  An air carrier is eligible for a 
100% landing fee waiver for 24 months, 100% waiver of joint use space rent for the first 12 
months and a 50% waiver in Year 2; $50,000 in marketing support for new service to be used 
during the first 24 months of service. 

2. Year-round, less than daily service to a Targeted, Unserved Destination:  An air carrier is 
eligible for a 100% landing fee waiver for 24 months, 100% waiver of joint use space rent for the 
first 12 months and a 50% waiver in Year 2; $25,000 in marketing support for new service to be 
used during the first 24 months of service. 

3. Seasonal service to a Targeted, Unserved Destination:  An air carrier is eligible for a 100% 
landing fee waiver for 24 months, 100% waiver of joint use space rent for the first 12 months 
and a 50% waiver in Year 2; $25,000 in marketing support for new service scheduled to operate 
at least twice a week to be used during the first 24 months of service. 
 

New Service to an Unserved, Non-Target Destination 
Eligibility: Any passenger air carrier establishing service to a new destination not included in Table 1. 

1. New service to an Unserved, non-targeted Destination: An air carrier is eligible for a 100% 
landing fee waiver for 12 months. 

 
Expanded Service to an Existing Destination  
Eligibility: Any passenger air carrier establishing service to a destination currently served or suspended 
within the past 6 months. 

1. Additional Service to an existing destination:  A air carrier is eligible for a 100% landing fee 
waiver for 12 months. 

 
New Entrant Incentive 
Eligibility: Any passenger air carrier that did not serve GJT during the last 12 months.  The new entrant 
incentive is able to be combined with any of the new service categories listed above. 
 

1. New entrant carrier:  A new entrant air carrier is eligible for a 100% waiver of preferential use 
space rent for the first 12 months. If a new entrant carrier is only providing service on a 
previously unserved market, they also qualify for a 50% waiver in Year 2.   

13/153



 
 
 
Terms and Conditions  

1. This incentive program is effective immediately and may be amended by the Grand Junction 
Airport Authority at any time. 

2. This incentive program will be administered in compliance with federal law, the Airport 
Improvement Program Grant Assurances, and FAA policy, including the Policy and Procedures 
Concerning the Use of Airport Revenue (1999) and the FAA Policy Regarding Air Carrier Incentive 
Program (2023). 

3. Participation in this program requires an incentive agreement between the Grand Junction 
Airport Authority and an air carrier. The Airport Authority reserves the right, based on budget 
availability, to limit an incentive on a specific route to the first air carrier to establish service, 
defined as the first air carrier to sign an incentive agreement. 

4. To qualify for incentives, a seasonal route must be operated for a minimum of 8 consecutive 
weeks. 

5. An air carrier may only qualify for an incentive for a particular route one time. Seasonal service 
may not receive an incentive each time it returns for a new season. 

6. To qualify for incentives, a carrier must be current on payment of rates and charges.   
7. Air carriers must operate service throughout duration of the promotional period at the level 

specified. 
8. Air carriers must use the passenger terminal in order to qualify for incentives. 
9. An air carrier may qualify for an incentive regardless of the type of economic and safety 

certificates it has sought and received from the U.S. Department of Transportation and FAA, 
including authorities granted under 14 C.F.R. Parts 119, 121 and Part 135, provided that the air 
carrier otherwise satisfies the eligibility and qualification requirements of this incentive 
program. 

10. An air carrier may qualify for an incentive whether the air carrier operates as a signatory or non-
signatory at GJT, provided that the air carrier otherwise satisfies the eligibility and qualification 
requirements of this incentive program. 

11. Air carriers may choose to forgo some or all fee waivers and rent abatements for an increased 
marketing incentive of equal value based upon service schedule and aircraft gauge committed at 
the time of entering into an incentive agreement with GJT.  If the airline changes its frequency 
or gauge over the incentive period, the amount of the marketing incentive will be increased or 
reduced accordingly.   

12. Incentives may not be transferred from one carrier to another.  Incentives cannot be transferred 
between routes. 

13. Additional incentives including marketing support and minimum revenue guarantees (MRG) may 
be available through Grand Junction Regional Air Service Alliance. 

 

14/153



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Asset Capitalization Policy 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommend adoption of the Asset Capitalization Policy revisions as 

proposed. 

 

SUMMARY: The GFOA Best Practice Advisory for Capitalization Thresholds 

recommends a minimum capitalization threshold for state and local 

government entities of $5,000. The GJRAA current policy is set at $5,000 

and was last updated in January 2019.  Given the specialized nature of the 

airport and higher average costs for operating expenses and equipment, a 

higher capitalization threshold is appropriate.  

 

Staff recommends increasing the capitalization threshold to $10,000 

effective January 1, 2023. The proposed change has been reviewed by the 

Chairman of the Finance and Audit Committee and with Plante Moran, the 

current financial auditor; both support this change. 

 

Current practice at the airport is to expense all assets purchased during the 

year for budget tracking purposes, then capitalize all assets at year end. 

Since assets purchased in 2023 have not yet been capitalized the 

implementation date of January 1, 2023 is recommended.  

 

REVIEWED BY:  Executive Director and Legal Counsel 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

N/A, primarily a financial reporting matter      

ATTACHMENTS: Redline Asset Capitalization Policy 

STAFF  

CONTACT: 

Angela Padalecki, Executive Director 

Office: 970.248.8588 

Email: apadalecki@gjairport.com 

 

15/153



GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

ASSET CAPITALIZATION POLICY 

 

VERSION 1.0 
ADOPTED January 15, 2019 

1. Scope and Purpose:   

 

This accounting policy establishes the minimum cost (capitalization amount) that shall be used to 

determine capital assets that are to be recorded in the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authorities 

(GJRAA) financial statements (or books). 

 

2. Guidelines 

 

2.1. A "material or supply" is generally considered to be tangible property that is used or consumed 

in the business within twelve months of acquisition, is not inventory, or has a unit cost of less 

than $10,000. Materials and supplies meeting this definition may be expensed.  

 

2.2.  A “Capital Asset” is defined as a unit of tangible property that: (1) has an economic useful life 

of more than 12 months; and (2) was acquired or produced for a cost of more than $10,000 

including acquisition and installation costs on the same invoice. Capital Assets must be 

capitalized and depreciated for financial statement (or bookkeeping) purposes.  

 

2.3. GJRAA establishes $10,000 as the threshold amount for minimum capitalization of tangible 

property.  Any items costing below this amount will be expensed in annual financial statements 

(or books).   

 

2.4. All capital assets are recorded at historical cost as of the date acquired.   

 

2.5. Depreciation will be calculated on a straight-line basis.  

 

 

16/153



GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

ASSET CAPITALIZATION POLICY 

 

VERSION 1.0 
ADOPTED January 15, 2019 

1. Scope and Purpose:   

 

This accounting policy establishes the minimum cost (capitalization amount) that shall be used to 

determine capital assets that are to be recorded in the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authorities 

(GJRAA) financial statements (or books). 

 

2. Guidelines 

 

2.1. A "material or supply" is generally considered to be tangible property that is used or consumed 

in the business within twelve months of acquisition, is not inventory, or has a unit cost of less 

than $10,000. Materials and supplies meeting this definition may be expensed.  

 

2.2.  A “Capital Asset” is defined as a unit of tangible property that: (1) has an economic useful life 

of more than 12 months; and (2) was acquired or produced for a cost of more than $10,000 

including acquisition and installation costs on the same invoice. Capital Assets must be 

capitalized and depreciated for financial statement (or bookkeeping) purposes.  

 

2.3. GJRAA establishes $10,000 as the threshold amount for minimum capitalization of tangible 

property.  Any items costing below this amount will be expensed in annual financial statements 

(or books).   

 

2.4. All capital assets are recorded at historical cost as of the date acquired.   

 

2.5. Depreciation will be calculated on a straight-line basis.  

 

 

17/153



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  Resolution 2023-014 - Appoint Budget Officer 
 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Adopt Resolution No. 2023-014 to appoint Jennifer Kroeker as the 
Budget Officer. 

SUMMARY: Jennifer Kroeker is the GJRAA Finance Manager.  Colorado Revised 
Statutes 29-1-104 requires the governing body of each local 
government to designate a person to prepare the budget and 
submit the same to the governing body.  
 

REVIEWED BY: Executive Director and Legal Counsel 

FISCAL IMPACT: N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: Resolution 2023-014 

STAFF CONTACT: Angela Padalecki 
Email: apadalecki@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8588 
 

 

18/153



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-014 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

APPOINTING THE FINANCE MANAGER 

AS THE BUDGET OFFICER 

 

WHEREAS, the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority (“GJRAA”) is the owner and 

operator of the Grand Junction Regional Airport (“Airport”) located in Grand Junction, 

Colorado; and 

 

WHEREAS, the GJRAA is subject to the Local Government Budget Law of Colorado, 

Colorado Revised Statutes (C.R.S.), Title 29, Article 1, Part 1 (“Budget Law”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Budget Law, at C.R.S. § 29-1-104, requires the governing body of each local 

government to “designate or appoint a person to prepare the budget and submit the same to the 

governing body”; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Budget Law, at C.R.S. § 29-1-103 and § 29-1-105, sets forth the procedural 

and substantive requirements for preparing the annual budget; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, by this Resolution, the Board hereby resolves and directs as follows: 

 

1. The Board hereby designates Jennifer Kroeker, Finance Manager, pursuant to C.R.S. 

Section 29-1-104, to be responsible for preparing the budget and submitting the same to 

the Board. For internal purposes, this role is designated as the “Budget Officer”. 

 

2. The Board hereby directs all GJRAA employees to provide the Budget Officer, upon 

request, with true and accurate information on actual spending and estimates of 

anticipated spending for purposes of preparing GJRAA’s budget. 

 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 12th day of December, 2023. 

   

Board Members Voting Aye: Those Voting Nay: 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

19/153



GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 

AUTHORITY 

 

 

ATTEST: Chairman 
 

 

 

 
 

Clerk 

 

 

 

20/153



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Resolution 2023-015 to Adopt Budget and Appropriate Funds 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Adopt resolution no. 2023-015 to approve the 2024 Budget and 
appropriate funds for 2024.  
 

SUMMARY: The 2024 Budget was presented to the Finance and Audit Committee in 
October for their review and comments. A Draft budget was then 
presented to the board at the October 17, 2023 Board Meeting and made 
available for public comment.   
 
Following the presentation, a notice of budget hearing was advertised.   
 
Minor changes were made to the budget to increase fuel and oil expenses 
by $53K and to increase Rental Car Service area rent by $4K per 
comments received upon presentation. Staff recommends adoption.  
  

REVIEWED BY:  Executive Director and Legal Counsel  

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

Total Appropriations for 2024: $29,843,368 
Operating – $6,744,569 
Debt Service – $1,925,363 
Capital – $21,173,436 

ATTACHMENTS: Resolution 2023-015 
Budget Message  
Budget Summary  

STAFF  
CONTACT: 

Angela Padalecki 
970-852-1247 
apadalecki@gjairport.com 

 

21/153



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-015 

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT BUDGET  

AND  

APPROPRIATE SUMS OF MONEY.  

A RESOLUTION OF THE GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL 

AIRPORT AUTHORITY BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR  

OPERATIONS, CAPITAL PROJECTS, DEBT SERVICE 

AND RESERVES, ADOPTING A BUDGET, AND 

APPROPRIATING SUMS OF MONEY FOR THE GRAND 

JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY FOR THE 

CALENDAR YEAR BEGINNING ON THE FIRST DAY OF 

JANUARY 2023 AND ENDING ON THE LAST DAY OF 

DECEMBER 2023. 

WHEREAS, the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority, a political subdivision of the 

State of Colorado, subject to the Local Government Budget Law of Colorado; and 

WHEREAS, as required by State Statute, a proposed budget for fiscal year 2024 was 

submitted to the Board of Commissioners on October 13, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, upon due and proper notice, published and posted in accordance with the 

law, said proposed budget was open for inspection by the public at a designated place, a public 

hearing was held on October 17, 2023, and interested parties were given the opportunity to file or 

register any objections to said proposed budget; and 

WHEREAS, the Board considered such public comment; and  

WHEREAS, the Budget attached hereto is a balanced budget which complies with all 

applicable State laws; and 

WHEREAS, it is not only required by law, but also necessary to appropriate the revenues 

and reserves provided in the Budget for the purposes described therein, thereby establishing a 

limitation on expenditures for the operations of the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY, A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF 

THE STATE OF COLORADO:  

Section 1. The recitals hereinabove are hereby adopted as findings and incorporated herein. 

Section 2. That the budget as submitted, amended, and attached is approved and adopted as 

the budget of the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority for the year stated above; and that 

the sums of money derived from revenues and reserves are appropriated for Operations, Capital 

Projects, Debt Service, and Reserves totaling $29,843,368 as set forth therein. 

22/153



Section 3. The Executive Director is authorized to spend up to the approved capital, operating 

and expense budgets, provided actual revenues are consistent with budgeted revenues.  

Section 4. The Executive Director is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between 

expense categories as necessary to meet operational needs provided any transfers in excess of 

$50,000 shall be reported to the Executive Committee of the Board. 

ADOPTED on this 12th day of December 2023. 

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL 

AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

 

       

ATTEST:  Tom Benton, Chairman 

 

      

Cameron Reece, Clerk 

Board Members Voting AYE:  Those Voting NAY: 

   

   

   

   

   

   

 

23/153



BUDGET MESSAGE 

(Pursuant to 29-1-103(1)(e), C.R.S.) 

 

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

 

The attached 2024 Budget for the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority (the Authority) 

reflects a conservative estimate for commercial passenger traffic activity as the airlines continue 

to modify their route schedules amid pilot shortages and increased costs.  

 

The Authority’s objectives in developing the 2024 budget were to:  

 Maintain a strong financial position and achieve a net operating income of at least 

$1,500,000 to support the ongoing capital program 

 Continue to make infrastructure improvements and repairs 

 Maintain competitive airline rates and charges to enable robust growth 

 

The 2024 operating revenue budget reflects rate increases to rental rates as well as landing fees 

and conservative commercial activity levels. The increase in operating expenses reflects 

increases in supply and personnel costs. 

 

The Authority also has an ambitious capital improvement program and aging infrastructure with 

sizable repair and maintenance needs. Budgeted grant funded projects are based on preliminary 

discussions with funding partners at the Federal Aviation Administration and the Aeronautics 

Division of the Colorado Department of Transportation. In addition to these projects, the 

Authority plans to invest up to $1,000,000 on maintenance and development projects.  

 

Basis of Accounting 
The budgetary basis of accounting used to develop the budget is the modified accrual basis of 

accounting. The modified accrual basis of accounting differs from the generally accepted 

accounting principles (GAAP) basis in that outlays for acquisition of capital assets and debt 

principal payments are included as expenditures, and non-cash expenditures including 

depreciation and adjustments to post-employment benefit liabilities are excluded from 

expenditures. 

 

Services to be Provided 

The Authority is responsible for overseeing the operation, maintenance, and development of the 

Grand Junction Regional Airport (the Airport). Therefore, the primary services provided by the 

Authority include repair, maintenance, and improvement of Airport facilities and maintaining 

compliance with all Federal Aviation Administration and Transportation Security Administration 

requirements to allow aviation activities to continue at the Airport.  

24/153



GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY
2024 BUDGET

Account Name

OPERATING REVENUE
Aeronautical revenue

Total Passenger Airline Revenue 2,054,000$      2,190,638$      2,487,000$       
Total Non-passenger airline revenue 896,000           1,125,814        1,108,000         

Total Aeronautical revenue 2,950,000        3,316,452        3,595,000         
Non-aeronautical revenue 4,315,000        4,895,601        5,182,000         

Total Operating revenues 7,265,000        8,212,053        8,777,000         
OPERATING EXPENSES

Personnel compensation and benefits 2,983,000        2,654,317        3,154,550         
Communications and utilities 452,000           424,316           502,087             
Supplies and materials 609,000           710,297           825,550             
Contract services 834,000           731,073           985,182             
Repairs & maintenance 644,000           772,272           648,000             
Insurance 151,000           176,070           200,000             
Other 392,000           194,075           429,200             

Total Operating Expenses 6,065,000        5,662,420        6,744,569         
Net Revenue (Expense) from Operations 1,200,000        2,549,633        2,032,431         

NON-OPERATING REVENUE (EXPENSE)
Passenger facility charges (restricted rev) 1,004,000        946,612           958,000             
Interest income 33,000             997,900           1,104,000         
Interest expense (709,000)          (791,946)          (764,363)           
Customer facility charges (restricted rev) 624,000           604,495           604,000             
Capital contributions 34,843,823      24,641,609      18,645,835       
Capital expenditures - W/ Grant Funding (37,764,795)    (25,592,578)     (20,173,436)      
Capital expenditures - W/O Grant Funding (3,000,000)      (3,885,699)       (1,000,000)        
Debt principle payments (795,000)          (795,000)          (1,161,000)        
Non-Capital grant funding 71,000             105,213           71,000               

Total Non-operating Revenue (Expense) (5,692,972)      (3,769,394)       (1,715,963)        

Net Change in Position (Budgetary Basis) (4,492,972)$    (1,219,761)$     316,467$           

Actual/Projected Ending Cash Balance
Restricted Cash 3,031,000        3,190,066$      3,917,066$       
Unrestricted Cash 9,341,000        17,913,925$    17,503,392$     

Total Cash Balance 12,372,000$   21,103,991$    21,420,458$     

2023 Budget
2023 

Forecast 2024 Budget

25/153



GJRAA
2024 BUDGET
Company Wide - Operating Revenue Summary

Account Name $ % $ %
Aeronautical revenue

A Passenger airline landing fees 630,000          726,089             815,000          185,000         29.4% 88,911          12.2%
B Terminal rent 1,397,000       1,403,598          1,613,000       216,000         15.5% 209,402        14.9%
C Other Passenger Airline Revenue 27,000             60,951               59,000             32,000           118.5% (1,951)           -3.2%

Total Passenger Airline Revenue 2,054,000       2,190,638          2,487,000       433,000         21.1% 296,362        13.5%
Non-passenger airline revenue

D Non-passenger landing fees 115,000          159,555             122,000          7,000             6.1% (37,555)         -23.5%
E Cargo and hangar rentals 59,000             62,266               64,000             5,000             8.5% 1,734            2.8%
F State fuel tax disbursement 210,000          374,087             389,000          179,000         85.2% 14,913          4.0%
G Fuel flowage fee - capital 237,000          229,103             230,000          (7,000)            -3.0% 897               0.4%
G Fuel flowage fee - operations 237,000          232,999             234,000          (3,000)            -1.3% 1,001            0.4%
H Fuel sales - airside 30,000             52,039               54,000             24,000           80.0% 1,961            3.8%
I Rapid refuel 8,000               12,885               15,000             7,000             87.5% 2,115            16.4%
I Airplane ramp parking -                       2,880                  -                       -                      0.0% (2,880)           -100.0%

Total Non-passenger airline revenue 896,000          1,125,814          1,108,000       212,000         23.7% (17,814)         -1.6%

Total Aeronautical revenue 2,950,000       3,316,452          3,595,000       645,000         21.9% 278,548        8.4%

Non-aeronautical revenue
J Land and building leases 637,000          640,164             689,000          52,000           8.2% 48,836          7.6%
K Terminal - restaurant & retail 171,000          237,813             248,000          77,000           45.0% 10,187          4.3%
L Rent - office space 181,000          184,872             184,000          3,000             1.7% (872)              -0.5%

M Rent - rental car exclusive sp 74,000             74,713               82,000             8,000             10.8% 7,287            9.8%
M Rental car - gross rev & mag 1,174,000       1,164,263          1,212,000       38,000           3.2% 47,737          4.1%
M Rental car service area 61,000             63,789               65,000             4,000             6.6% 1,211            1.9%
M Rental car facility fuel sales 220,000          257,134             276,000          56,000           25.5% 18,866          7.3%
M Total rental car revenue 1,529,000       1,559,899          1,635,000       106,000         6.9% 75,101          4.8%
K Parking revenue 1,648,000       2,110,935          2,250,000       602,000         36.5% 139,065        6.6%
K Ground transportation 56,000             82,331               90,000             34,000           60.7% 7,669            9.3%
K Parking and ground transportation 1,704,000       2,193,266          2,340,000       636,000         37.3% 146,734        6.7%
N Security fee 68,000             51,274               61,000             (7,000)            -10.3% 9,726            19.0%
O Advertising Revenue 10,000             7,500                  10,000             -                      0.0% 2,500            33.3%
O Other revenue 15,000             20,813               15,000             -                      0.0% (5,813)           -27.9%

Total Non-aeronautical revenue 4,315,000       4,895,601          5,182,000       867,000         20.1% 286,399        5.9%

Total Operating revenues 7,265,000$     8,212,053$        8,777,000$     1,512,000$   20.8% 564,947$     6.9%

Variance to 2023 
Forecast

2023 Budget 2023 Forecast 2024 Budget

Variance to 2023 
Budget

26/153



GJRAA
2024 BUDGET
Company Wide - Operating Expenses

Account Name $ % $ %

P Salaries-Full Time 2,085,000            1,951,850          2,189,250         104,250   5.0% 237,400      12.2%
P Medicare - 1.45% Er 34,000                 26,985               35,700              1,700       5.0% 8,715           32.3%
P Pera - 14.2% Er/Pension 305,000               282,382             320,250            15,250     5.0% 37,868        13.4%
P 401(K) Er 65,000                 46,886               68,250              3,250       5.0% 21,364        45.6%
Q Health Insurance Er 392,000               280,190             431,200            39,200     10.0% 151,010      53.9%
P Health & Wellness Benefit 4,000                   2,373                  7,000                3,000       75.0% 4,627           195.0%
P Life Insurance Er 8,000                   5,230                  8,400                400           5.0% 3,170           60.6%
P Suta Er 7,000                   2,528                  7,350                350           5.0% 4,822           190.7%
P Worker Compensation 83,000                 55,893               87,150              4,150       5.0% 31,257        55.9%

Personnel compensation and benefits 2,983,000           2,654,317          3,154,550         171,550   5.8% 500,233      18.8%

R Utilities-Gas 63,000                 62,151               96,000              33,000     52.4% 33,849        54.5%
R Utilities-Electric 307,000               271,932             307,000            -                0.0% 35,068        12.9%
R Utilities-Water 20,000                 20,068               21,000              1,000       5.0% 933              4.6%
R Utilities-Trash 15,000                 19,440               20,000              5,000       33.3% 560              2.9%
R Utilities-Sewer 7,000                   7,252                  7,300                300           4.3% 48                0.7%
R Cell Phones 19,000                 22,453               28,800              9,800       51.6% 6,347           28.3%
R Phone Service 21,000                 21,020               21,987              987           4.7% 967              4.6%

Communications and utilities 452,000               424,316             502,087            50,087     11.1% 77,771        18.3%

S Employee Recognition 10,000                 10,020               11,000              1,000       10.0% 980              9.8%
S Uniforms 16,000                 18,398               19,000              3,000       18.8% 602              3.3%
S Office Supplies 2,000                   1,333                  2,000                -                0.0% 667              50.0%
T Materials & Supplies 95,000                 125,743             185,000            90,000     94.7% 59,257        47.1%
S Board Expense 5,000                   5,000                  5,000                -                0.0% -                   0.0%
S Postage & Shipping 1,000                   280                     1,000                -                0.0% 720              257.1%
U Tools & Equipment 95,000                 100,705             95,000              -                0.0% (5,705)         -5.7%
V Glycol Disposal 20,000                 34,436               35,000              15,000     75.0% 564              1.6%
S Snow Removal 20,000                 18,067               20,000              -                0.0% 1,933           10.7%
S Wildlife Control 3,000                   6,566                  7,000                4,000       133.3% 434              6.6%
S Runway & Taxiway Lighting 10,000                 12,573               13,000              3,000       30.0% 427              3.4%
S Firefighting Supplies 6,000                   20,758               21,000              15,000     250.0% 242              1.2%
W Fuel - Diesel 31,000                 52,754               61,000              30,000     96.8% 8,246           15.6%
W Fuel - Unleaded 290,000               298,874             345,000            55,000     19.0% 46,126        15.4%

Oil & Lubricants 5,000                   4,790                  5,550                550           11.0% 760              15.9%
Supplies and materials 609,000               710,297             825,550            216,550   35.6% 115,253      16.2%

Variance to 2023 
Budget

2023 Forecast2023 Budget 2024 Budget

Variance to 2023 
Forecast

27/153



GJRAA
2024 BUDGET
Company Wide - Operating Expenses

Account Name $ % $ %

Variance to 2023 
Budget

2023 Forecast2023 Budget 2024 Budget

Variance to 2023 
Forecast

S Personnel Services 3,000                   2,797                  5,000                2,000       66.7% 2,203           78.8%
S ARFF Physicals 6,000                   9,627                  8,000                2,000       33.3% (1,627)         -16.9%
X Professional Services - Other 34,000                 70,398               71,000              37,000     108.8% 602              0.9%
Y Purchased Services 14,000                 14,486               59,000              45,000     321.4% 44,514        307.3%
Z Security Guard 250,000               257,049             295,606            45,606     18.2% 38,557        15.0%

AA Professional Services - Legal 120,000               88,137               120,000            -                0.0% 31,863        36.2%
AB Professional Services - Acct 47,000                 47,000               58,576              11,576     24.6% 11,576        24.6%
AC Professional Services - It 185,000               172,987             193,000            8,000       4.3% 20,013        11.6%
AD Professional Svcs - Eng & Plan 160,000               56,592               160,000            -                0.0% 103,408      182.7%

Fingerprint Processing 15,000                 12,000               15,000              -                0.0% 3,000           25.0%
Contract services 834,000               731,073             985,182            151,182   18.1% 254,109      34.8%

AE Repairs & Maintenance 450,000               482,029             400,000            (50,000)    -11.1% (82,029)       -17.0%
S Boarding Bridge Maintenance 25,000                 24,945               34,000              9,000       36.0% 9,055           36.3%

AF Elevator & Escalators 50,000                 24,345               50,000              -                0.0% 25,655        105.4%
S Copier Service 9,000                   8,193                  9,000                -                0.0% 807              9.8%

AG Pavement Maintenance 50,000                 130,524             50,000              -                0.0% (80,524)       -61.7%
S Tower Repairs & Maintenance 24,000                 23,766               35,000              11,000     45.8% 11,234        47.3%
S Landscaping 11,000                 12,723               20,000              9,000       81.8% 7,277           57.2%

SRE Repairs & Maintenance 25,000                 65,747               50,000              25,000     100.0% (15,747)       -24.0%
Repairs & maintenance 644,000               772,272             648,000            4,000       0.6% (124,272)     -16.1%

AH Insurance 151,000               176,070             200,000            49,000     32.5% 23,930        13.6%
Insurance 151,000               176,070             200,000            49,000     32.5% 23,930        13.6%

AI Education & Training 77,000                 45,806               90,000              13,000     16.9% 44,194        96.5%
AI Travel & Meetings 15,000                 23,269               24,000              9,000       60.0% 731              3.1%
S Professional Dues 18,000                 21,525               22,000              4,000       22.2% 475              2.2%
S Licenses & Fees 1,000                   2,180                  2,200                1,200       120.0% 20                0.9%
S Publications 1,000                   16                       1,000                -                0.0% 984              6150.0%
S Meals 5,000                   2,169                  5,000                -                0.0% 2,831           130.5%

AJ Marketing 45,000                 12,638               55,000              10,000     22.2% 42,362        335.2%
AJ Marketing Incentives 25,000                 25,000              -                25,000        
AK Air Service Development 85,000                 76,087               95,000              10,000     11.8% 18,913        24.9%
AL Other 20,000                 10,385               10,000              (10,000)    -50.0% (385)             -3.7%
S Contingency 100,000               -                          100,000            -                100,000      

Other 392,000               194,075             429,200            37,200     9.5% 235,125      121.2%

Total Operating Expenses 6,065,000           5,662,420          6,744,569         679,569   11.2% 1,082,149   19.1%

28/153



GJRAA
2024 BUDGET
Company Wide - Non-Operating Activity

 Account Name $ % $ %
Non-operating revenue (expenses)

AM Passenger facility charges 1,004,000        946,612             958,000                (46,000)           -4.6% 11,388            1.2%
AN Interest income 33,000             997,900             1,104,000             1,071,000       3245.5% 106,100          10.6%                       

Interest expense - sib -                        (84,096)              (96,263)                 (96,263)           100.0% (12,167)           14.5%
Interest expense - bond (709,000)          (707,850)            (668,100)              40,900            -5.8% 39,750            -5.6%

AO Interest expense (709,000)          (791,946)            (764,363)              (55,363)           7.8% 27,583            -3.5%
AP Customer facility charges 624,000           604,495             604,000                (20,000)           -3.2% (495)                -0.1%                       

Federal Grant revenue - Capital 30,483,823      20,868,776        18,156,092          (12,327,731)   -40.4% (2,712,684)     -13.0%
Non-Federal Grant Revenue- Capital 4,360,000        3,772,833          489,743                (3,870,257)     -88.8% (3,283,090)     -87.0%

AQ Capital contributions 34,843,823      24,641,609        18,645,835          (16,197,988)   -46.5% (5,995,773)     -24.3%
Capital expense - W/ Grant Funding (37,764,795)    (25,592,578)      (20,173,436)         17,591,359     -46.6% 5,419,142       -21.2%
Capital expense - W/O Grant Funding (3,000,000)      (3,885,699)         (1,000,000)           2,000,000       -66.7% 2,885,699       -74.3%

AR Capital expenditures (40,764,795)    (29,478,277)      (21,173,436)         19,591,359     -48.1% 8,304,841       -28.2%                       
Debt principal - sib -                        -                          (326,000)              (326,000)         100.0% (326,000)         0.0%
Debt principal - bond (795,000)          (795,000)            (835,000)              (40,000)           5.0% (40,000)           5.0%

AO Debt principle payments (795,000)          (795,000)            (1,161,000)           (366,000)         46.0% (366,000)         46.0%                       
AS Federal Grant revenue - Non-Capital 71,000             105,213             71,000                  -                       0.0% (34,213)           -32.5%

  Total Non-operating revenue (expenses) (5,692,972)      (3,769,394)         (1,715,963)           3,977,009       -70% 2,053,430       -54%

Variance to 2023 
Forecast

Variance to 2023 
Budget

2023 Budget 2023 Forecast 2024 Budget

29/153



GJRAA
2024 BUDGET
Capital Expenses with Grant Funding

GRANT FUNDED CAPITAL PROJECTS
Project Cost 

Estimate Prior Years
FORECAST 

2023
BUDGET 

2024
Future 
Years Total

AIP 69 - Airport Development Plan 1,035,414          1,035,414          100% -                      0% -                  0% 962,614    72,800         -               -               1,035,414     
AIP 72 - Grading & Drainage Construction - Sch 1 - 3 19,621,922       19,621,922       100% -                      0% -                  0% 3,520,362   13,222,808    2,878,752      -                  19,621,922  
AIP 75 - Sch 4-7 Grading and Drainage Design Only Grant 2,852,667          2,852,667          100% -                      0% -                  0% 1,452,745   1,399,922      -                  -                  2,852,667     
AIP 76 - Grading & Drainage Sch 4 Sitework 10,867,475       9,780,728          90% 250,000             2% 836,748         8% 1,739,085   8,762,133      366,257         -                  10,867,475  
AIP 77 - NAVAIDS & Utilities 2,158,462          1,942,616          90% -                      0% 215,846         10% 538,630       1,127,181      492,651         -                  2,158,462     
Rehabilitate Runway 4/22 - Construction 4,841,618          -                      0% 4,023,000          83% 818,618         17% -                4,841,618      -                  -                  4,841,618     
Terminal Project- BIL Passenger Boarding Bridge 5,000,000          4,500,000          90% 250,000             5% 250,000         5% -                50,000            4,950,000      -                  5,000,000     
Terminal Project- BIL Fire Suppression 7,500,000          6,750,000          90% 375,000             5% 375,000         5% -                -                  200,000         7,300,000      7,500,000     
Earthwork Design 295,800             266,220             90% -                      0% 29,580            10% -                295,800         -                  -                  295,800        
Pavement Design 1,704,410          1,533,969          90% -                      0% 170,441         10% -                782,176         922,234         -                  1,704,410     
AIP 78 - Temp NAVAID Equipment Construction 8,289,553          7,460,598          90% 250,000             3% 578,955         7% -                -                  7,460,598      828,955         8,289,553     
AIP 79 - Schedule 5 - 7 Grading and Drainage Construction 7,270,748          6,543,673          90% -                      0% 727,075         10% -                -                  5,453,061      1,817,687      7,270,748     
AIP 80 - Earthwork and Drainage Schedule 6 7,761,765          6,985,589          90% -                      0% 776,177         10% -                -                  7,373,677      388,088         7,761,765     
AIP 81 - Runway Pavement Package 1 Construction 10,238,235       9,214,411          90% -                      0% 1,023,823      10% -                -                  2,047,647      8,190,588      10,238,235  

89,438,069$     78,487,806$     88% 5,148,000$       6% 5,802,262$   6% 7,250,822   30,481,638   32,144,876   18,525,318   89,438,068     
Note:  This schedule presents forecasted grant funding and related capital spending for 2023 and budget for 2024, it is not a comprehensive schedule for all projects.

Funding Source
Federal portion 24,611,092    29,218,263    16,672,787    47,248,121     

State portion 4,227,068      489,743         389,869         4,898,000       
GJRAA Portion 1,643,479      2,436,869      1,462,663      37,291,947     

Total 30,481,638   32,144,876   18,525,318   89,438,068     
Non-Federal Grant Project total 4,841,618      -                  -                  4,841,618       

Federal Grant project total 25,640,021    32,144,876    18,525,318    84,596,451     

Total FAA Funding Colorado Discretionary
Local - GJRAA 

Cost

30/153



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Resolution No. 2023-016 to Approve Rates and Charges 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECCOMENDATION: Adopt Resolution No. 2023-016: Rates and Charges, effective January 1, 2024. 
 

SUMMARY: The annual rates and charges resolution enacts rates for the coming year, and 
the approved 2024 budget reflects the proposed rates. 
 
Proposed 2024 Rates & Charges Highlights: 

 Airline Rates & Charges increased 15% in accordance with the rate-
making methodology described in the new Airline Use & Lease 
Agreements. Other language was updated to reflect the final version 
of the standard form Airline Use and Lease Agreement approved by 
the GJRAA Board in July 2023. 

 A new landing fee was added for unscheduled commercial landings at 
2X the non-signatory commercial landing fee. This will primarily apply 
to flights that divert to GJT by airlines without regularly scheduled 
service. Most diversions are by airlines with scheduled service at GJT. 
When airlines without scheduled service divert to GJT they can put a 
significant strain on airport resources, especially staffing. This new 
landing fee will help ensure those operations are charged fairly. 

 Rates and charges to fulfil Colorado Open Record Requests (CORA) are 
set to the maximum rate permissible under Colorado State Statute. 
The GJRAA rates have consistently been set at the maximum 
allowable rate at the time of the Rates and Charges Resolution, but 
the rates are sometimes adjusted mid-year. The language in the 
resolution has been adjusted to allow the Airport to charge the max 
rate at the time of the request without the need for the Board to take 
action midyear.   

 The $4/day Rental Car Customer Facility Charge (CFC) was added to 
the resolution. The CFC has not changed, but has been missing in past 
versions of the Rates and Charges Resolution. 

 
 

REVIEWED BY:  Executive Director and Legal Counsel 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

The 2024 Adopted Budget reflects these anticipated changes 
 

ATTACHMENTS: Board Resolution 2023-016: Rates and Charges 
 

31/153



STAFF CONTACT:                 Angela Padalecki 
apadalecki@gjairport.com 

 

32/153



 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-16 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

ESTABLISHING RATES AND CHARGES FOR 

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 

 

WHEREAS, the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority (“GJRAA”) is the owner and operator 

of the Grand Junction Regional Airport (“Airport”) located in Grand Junction, Colorado; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Colorado Public Airport Authority Act, (C.R.S. § 41-3-106(1)(h)), authorizes 

GJRAA to “exact and require charges, fees, and rentals, together with a lien to enforce the 

payment”; and 

 

WHEREAS, federal law (49 U.S.C. § 40116(e)(2)), recognizes the right of an airport proprietor to 

impose “reasonable rental charges, landing fees, and other service charges from aircraft operators 

for using airport facilities”; and 

 

WHEREAS, federal law (49 U.S.C. § 47107(a)(13)) and GJRAA’s contractual commitments to the 

federal government require that GJRAA “maintain a schedule of charges for use of facilities and 

services at the airport that will make the airport as self-sustaining as possible under the 

circumstances existing at the airport, including the volume of traffic and economy of collection”; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the federal government does not set the level of fees charged at airports (49 U.S.C. § 

47129(a)(3)), but is authorized to adjudicate disputes as to whether a fee is reasonable and not 

unjustly discriminatory; and 

 

WHEREAS, the attached schedule of rates and charges is designed and intended to (i) compensate 

GJRAA for its costs to accommodate Airport tenants and users; (ii) make the Airport as financially 

self-sustaining as possible; (iii) capture a percentage of revenues by businesses and entities 

accessing the Airport for commercial purposes; and (iv) make the Airport competitive and attractive 

to aeronautical and non-aeronautical users, as compared to airports of comparable size and traffic. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, by this Resolution, the Board hereby resolves and directs as follows: 

 

1. The Board adopts the attached schedule of rates and charges, effective as of January 1, 2024. 

 

2. The attached schedule of rates and charges shall apply, without limitation, to the following 

categories of Airport tenants and users:  Air Carriers, General Aviation, Aircraft Ground 

Service Providers, Ground Transportation Operators (including Transportation Network 

Companies), Rental Car Concessionaires, Peer-to-Peer Car Sharing Operators, Fuel 

Providers, and other users of Airport facilities, supplies and services. 

 

3. The attached schedule of rates and charges shall be implemented and imposed upon the 

above-described categories of Airport tenants and users as follows: 

 

a. The applicable rates and charges shall be incorporated within any and all leases, 

licenses, permits, contracts and other agreements entered into after the effective date 

hereof. 

33/153



Page 2 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

 

b. The applicable rates and charges shall apply in the case of any existing lease, license, 

permit, contract or other agreement that explicitly requires the Airport tenant or user 

to pay rates and charges as prescribed by the Board. 

 

c. The applicable rates and charges shall apply to any user of the Airport or Airport 

services conducting an activity covered by the schedule of rates and charges that 

does not operate pursuant to a lease, license, permit, contract or other agreement with 

GJRAA. 

 

4. The terms of this Resolution and the attached schedule of rates and charges shall not apply 

in a manner that would present an irreconcilable conflict with the express terms of a lease, 

license, permit, contract or other agreement between GJRAA and an Airport tenant or user. 

 

5. The attached schedule of rates and charges is not intended to be exclusive or exhaustive. The 

Board reserves the right to charge for items not covered by the attached schedule of rates 

and charges, including recovery for damage to the Airport and fines and penalties for 

violation of Airport rules and regulations. 

 

6. The attached schedule of rates and charges shall continue in effect unless and until 

superseded by a further amendment adopted by the Board. It is the Board’s intent to review 

the attached schedule of rates and charges on no less than an annual basis. 

 

7. This resolution shall supersede all previous schedules of rates and charges promulgated by 

the Board. 

 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 12th day of December, 2023. 

   

Board Members Voting AYE  Board Members Voting NAY 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

   

 

 

34/153



Page 3 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

  GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 

AUTHORITY 

  ___________________________________ 

ATTEST:  Chairman 

________________________________   

Clerk   

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

35/153



Page 4 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

SCHEDULE OF RATES AND CHARGES 

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 

 

I. General Requirements 

 

Consent 

Airport tenants and users agree to be bound by this schedule of rates and charges by accessing 

the Airport, including for the conduct of commercial activities, or by seeking facilities, supplies 

or services from GJRAA. No express consent is required. 

  

Deadline for Payment 

Payment shall be due and payable with thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice, bill or other 

notice of payment obligation, unless directed otherwise by GJRAA. 

 

Payment of Rates and Charges 

All payments due GJRAA shall be paid to the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority, 2828 

Walker Field Drive, Suite 301, Grand Junction, Colorado, 81506, unless directed otherwise by 

GJRAA. 

 

Interest 

GJRAA reserves the right to charge interest on any rates and charges owed but not paid when 

due at the rate of three percent (3%) per month from the due date until receipt of payment. Any 

partial payments received on said indebtedness shall be applied first to accrued interest, and then 

to principal. 

 

Inspection of Books and Records 

GJRAA reserves the right to seek inspection of books and records for the limited purpose of 

establishing proper calculation and payment of rates and charges imposed hereunder. 

 

Remedies for Nonpayment 

GJRAA reserves the right to seek recovery of all rates and charges due and payable, and interest 

thereon, as well as incidental and consequential damages and attorney’s fees. GJRAA may 

pursue all remedies available under law, including without limitation, termination of a lease, 

license, permit, contract or other agreement; retention of a security deposit, bond or contract 

security; or suit for specific performance, injunctive relief or money damages.  

 

  

36/153



Page 5 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

 

 

II. Aircraft Operators and Aircraft Ground Service Operators 

 

A. Fees 

 

Landing Fees 

 

Class of Aircraft Fee Per Landing 
Commercial Signatory Aircraft  $2.46/1,000 lbs.  

Commercial Non-Signatory Aircraft  $3.80/1,000 lbs.  

Unscheduled Non-Signatory Aircraft* $7.60/1,000 lbs. 

General Aviation Aircraft $0.00 

Military Aircraft $0.00 

 

 * Unscheduled Non-Signatory Aircraft shall include air carriers operating at the 

Airport where the flight was not scheduled at least seven days in advance of the 

operation. 

 No landing fee will be assessed in the event an aircraft lands at the Airport due to a 

declared emergency. 

 A one-half (½) landing fee will be charged for each landing performed in 

conjunction with a training flight. 

 No landing fee will be assessed in the event an aircraft departs from the Airport for 

another destination and, without making a stop at another airport, is forced to return 

to and land at the Airport because of weather, mechanical or other similar emergency 

or precautionary reasons. 

 

 

Joint Use Space Fees 

Signatory Airlines shall pay for Joint Use Space, including the ticket queuing space, 

security, passenger boarding area, and baggage claim in the Airport’s terminal building 

based their pro rata share of the 27,479 total square feet at a cost of $47.17 per square foot 

per year.  The pro rata share shall be based on the total number of enplaned revenue 

passengers during said month.  

 

Preferential Use Space Fees 

Signatory Airlines that rent preferential use space, including airline ticket counters, office 

space, and garage/baggage space shall pay $47.17 per square foot per year. 

 

 

  

37/153



Page 6 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

Other Fees 

 

 Loading Bridge - $10.69 fee per turn. A loading bridge turn shall mean each time an 

aircraft is “connected” to the loading bridge. If an aircraft enplanes and deplanes 

passengers without disconnecting, this will count as one “turn”. 

 Fuel Purchase - Purchasing fuel (gasoline and/or diesel) from the airside GJRAA 

fuel tank shall pay actual fuel cost plus $1.00 per gallon. 

 

Non-Signatory Airlines 

 

When not otherwise specified herein, the rate charged to Non-Signatory Airlines shall be 

120% of the rate prescribed herein for Signatory Airlines. 

 

B. Reports/Billing 

 

On or before the 10th of each month, each Aircraft Operator or Aircraft Ground Service 

Operator at the Airport shall submit to the Airport administration offices such reports of the 

preceding month’s activities as GJRAA may request to enable GJRAA to compute the rates 

(also referred to, in some cases, as fees above), charges, and other monies owed by the 

Aircraft Operator or Aircraft Ground Service Operator hereunder.  The reports shall be 

attested to as correct to the best of the signer’s knowledge by the Aircraft Operator or 

Aircraft Ground Service Operator or its designee.  Any subsequent changes in the 

information will be reported to GJRAA as soon as practical; but in no event more than seven 

(7) days from their discovery.   

 

The reports shall be submitted in a format provided by or approved by GJRAA.  GJRAA 

reserves the right to obtain clarification of any matter contained in the reports, or for 

additional information from the Aircraft Operator or Aircraft Ground Service Operator for 

Airport marketing, statistical, fee-setting, or other purposes.  Note: Reports not submitted 

by the end of the 10th of each month may be subject to a $100 per day late fee.   

 

III. Ground Transportation Operators  

 

Ground Transportation Operators shall include all shuttles, courtesy vehicles, 

limousines/sedans, taxis, transportation network companies, sightseeing tours, and 

buses (excluding mass transit buses operated by, or under contract with, a public 

entity). 

 

Ground Transportation Operators shall pay GJRAA the following fee: 

 

Number of Seats Trip Fee 

1-8 $2.50 

9-15 $3.75 

16+ $8.00 

 

 

 

 

38/153



Page 7 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

Hotel/Motel Courtesy Vehicle Operators 

 

Each Hotel/Motel Courtesy Vehicle Operator shall pay GJRAA a per trip fee equal to 25% 

of the applicable TNC rate of $2.50/trip for a fee of $.63/trip multiplied by the number of 

trips each month.  Fee shall be paid quarterly unless other payment arrangements are made 

between the Operator and GJRAA.  Hotel/Motel Courtesy Vehicle Operators shall only pick 

up and drop off at the Airport the patrons of their respective hotels/motels, and not persons 

who are not patrons of their hotels/motels. 

 

Off-Airport Parking Providers   

 

Each Off-Airport Parking Provider shall pay GJRAA a monthly fee equal to 10% of 

monthly gross revenues.  This applies to all hotel/motel operators offering parking to guests 

or non-guests of the hotel/motel for a fee in addition to the cost of a nightly room rate, 

provided that the hotel/motel operator only shall be required to pay GJRAA the percentage 

of monthly gross revenues associated with parking by Airport passengers.  In addition, 

shuttle vehicles from each said company shall also pay GJRAA a trip fee as previously 

defined. 

 

Compliance   

 

Failure to comply or to operate without a permit may result in a $100 fine per occurrence.   

39/153



Page 8 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

 

B. Miscellaneous Provisions Applicable to Ground Transportation Operators 
 

No Diversion of Passengers 

 

Ground Transportation Operators shall not, through their officers, agents, representatives, or 

employees, divert or cause to be diverted any prospective customer to a location off of 

Airport property, in order to pick up said customer or item off of Airport property and 

thereby avoid paying the fees that would otherwise be owed to GJRAA.  For example, a 

Ground Transportation Operator shall not instruct a customer to walk or utilize a 

Hotel/Motel Courtesy Vehicle to be transported or to transport an item off of Airport 

property in order to then pick-up the customer at a hotel/motel off of Airport property to 

avoid paying fees.   

 

Signage 

 

Ground Transportation Operators serving the Airport shall display signage on their vehicles 

identifying the Ground Transportation Operator and/or such other identification as GJRAA 

may request to enable GJRAA to determine whether the vehicle is authorized to provide 

ground transportation, which includes, in the case of commercial limousines/sedans/SUVs, a  

stamp or sticker issued by the Colorado Public Utilities Commission. 

  

40/153



Page 9 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

IV. Fueling Operations 

 

A. Fuel Flowage Fees 

Fuel Providers shall pay a fuel flowage fee to GJRAA on all fuel sold at the Airport to military, 

government and general aviation aircraft fuel purchasers.  Unless specified in an airline 

operating agreement, Commercial Aircraft Operators operating out of the terminal building are 

excluded from fuel flowage fees.  

 

The following fuel flowage per gallon rates apply: 

 

 

Type 

 

Full Service FBO 

 

Self Service 

Commercial 

Operator 

Self-Fueler 

Avgas $0.1017  $0.1017  $0.1017  

Jet A $0.1017  $0.1017  $0.1017  

Military $0.1017 $0.1017 $0.1017 

 

The Fuel Provider shall be deemed to owe its fuel flowage fee to GJRAA on the date the fuel is 

delivered by the Fuel Provider to the fuel purchaser involved, regardless of when or whether 

that fuel purchaser subsequently pays for said fuel. The Fuel Provider shall pay the fuel flowage 

fee required hereunder to GJRAA within thirty (30) days following the end of each calendar 

month in which a fuel sale is deemed to occur. 

 

B. ARFF Standby Services for “Rapid Refueling” Operations 

Fuel Providers shall pay GJRAA one hundred fifty dollars ($150.00) per hour, billable in 15-

minute increments per rescue truck providing coverage for any requested Aircraft Rescue 

Firefighting (ARFF) standby services associated in any way whatsoever with the fueling of an 

aircraft while that aircraft’s engine(s) is/are in operation (“rapid refueling”).   The ARFF 

Standby Service charge begins when the rescue truck leaves the ARFF bay, or from the current 

location of the rescue truck if not in the ARFF bay.  The ARFF Standby Service charge 

terminates when the rescue truck has returned to the ARFF bay, or back to the original location 

of the rescue truck if not in the ARFF bay. 

 

C. Rental Car Fuel Station Fees 

Rental Car Fuel Station Operators purchasing fuel (gasoline) from the GJRAA landside fuel 

tank shall pay actual fuel cost plus up to $1.00 per gallon. 

 

41/153



Page 10 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

V. Leases of Airport Property  

 

Terminal Building Fee 

Non-Aircraft Operator tenants of the terminal building leasing exclusive space and not operating 

under a current operating agreement will pay $40.08 per square foot per year.   

 

Airside Leases 

New Airside Leases will have a rate equal to the greater of fair market value or the maximum 

price per square foot being charged to current lessees. For the period 4/1/2023 – 3/31/24, the 

maximum price is $0.2504 per square foot. For the current rate contact the Authority. 

 

Rental Car Service Area 
 

 4/1/23 – 3/31/24 

Cost per sq. ft. per month 

Ground $0.2276 

Building $0.4911 

 

 

 

 

42/153



Page 11 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

VI. OTHER  
 

A. Security Badge Fees 

 

SIDA and Sterile Area Badges:   

Includes Criminal History Records Check (“CHRC”) fingerprinting, Security Threat 

Assessment (“STA”), photo, paperwork, required training class and identification media 

badge. 

 

Initial Issue ........................................................................................$110.00 

 

Renewal...............................................................................................$75.00 

 

 

  

AOA Badges: 

Includes STA, photo, paperwork, required training class and identification media badge. 

 

Initial Issue ..........................................................................................$45.00 

Renewal...............................................................................................$35.00 

 

Change from AOA Badge to SIDA Badge 

 Initial Issue ........................................................................................$110.00 

  

 

Lost or Not Returned Badges 

Charge to employer for ID not returned ...........................................$250.00 

Lost badge - 1st replacement .............................................................. $50.00 

Lost badge - 2nd replacement ........................................................... $100.00 

Lost badge - 3rd replacement ............................................................ $300.00 

 

Keys 

Initial Issue ..........................................................................................$15.00 

Replacement- If broken.......................................................................$15.00 

Replacement- If lost or stolen $100.00 plus the actual cost for re-keying the locks and 

producing additional key(s). 

  

43/153



Page 12 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

 

B. Airport Parking Violations:  

 

 Fine paid within 

14 days 

Fine paid after 

14 days 

Parking Violation – Curbside $75 $150 

Parking Violation – Designated Short-term Parking 

(per day)  

$15 $25 

Parking Violation – Permit Parking (per day) $30 $45 

Handicap Parking Violation (per day) $75 $150 

 

Payments of parking violations are made directly to Clancy Systems International, Inc.  

Payment of tickets can be made through mail by check, or online by check or credit card 

(Visa or MasterCard).   

 

 

C. Terminal Parking: 

 

20 minutes or less FREE 

More than 20 minutes $2.00 each additional 20 minutes 

Daily maximum $12.00 

 

 

D. Internet and Phone Service: 

 

Service Provided Monthly Fee 

Internet $75 

Telephone $30 

 

E. Billable Staff Time: 

 

Staff Level Hourly Rate 

Level 1 $100 

Level 2 $75 

Level 3 $50 

 

 

F. Monthly Aircraft Tie-Down Fee on Designated GJRAA Maintained Ramp:  

Aircraft less than 12,500 pounds - $60 per month 

 

 

G. Colorado Open Records Act (CORA) Requests  

CORA requests are subject to a research-and-retrieval fee at the maximum rate 

permissible under Colorado Revised Statute Section 24-72-205(6) and a per-page copy 

fee at the maximum rate permissible under CRS § 24-72-205(5), provided that both such 

fees shall be published on the Airport website. As of the effective date, the research-and-

44/153



Page 13 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

retrieval fee is $33.58 per hour (after the first hour, which is free) and the copy fee is $.25 

per page. Full or partial payment may be required prior to release of public records. 

 

H. Credit Card Payment Convenience Fee 

 Payments made to the Authority via credit card will be assessed a 4% convenience fee. 

 

I. Lease Transfer Fee 
A fee of $250 will be charged to cover administrative and legal fees associated with the 

execution of a lease transfer. 

J. Rental Car Facility Use Fee 

A fee of $4.00 per transaction day shall be imposed upon rental car customers picking up 

motor vehicles at the Airport, to be collected, held in trust and remitted to GJRAA by 

rental car companies in accordance with the terms of each rental car concession 

agreement. 

 

45/153



 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-016 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

ESTABLISHING RATES AND CHARGES FOR 

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 

 

WHEREAS, the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority (“GJRAA”) is the owner and operator 

of the Grand Junction Regional Airport (“Airport”) located in Grand Junction, Colorado; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Colorado Public Airport Authority Act, (C.R.S. § 41-3-106(1)(h)), authorizes 

GJRAA to “exact and require charges, fees, and rentals, together with a lien to enforce the 

payment”; and 

 

WHEREAS, federal law (49 U.S.C. § 40116(e)(2)), recognizes the right of an airport proprietor to 

impose “reasonable rental charges, landing fees, and other service charges from aircraft operators 

for using airport facilities”; and 

 

WHEREAS, federal law (49 U.S.C. § 47107(a)(13)) and GJRAA’s contractual commitments to the 

federal government require that GJRAA “maintain a schedule of charges for use of facilities and 

services at the airport that will make the airport as self-sustaining as possible under the 

circumstances existing at the airport, including the volume of traffic and economy of collection”; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the federal government does not set the level of fees charged at airports (49 U.S.C. § 

47129(a)(3)), but is authorized to adjudicate disputes as to whether a fee is reasonable and not 

unjustly discriminatory; and 

 

WHEREAS, the attached schedule of rates and charges is designed and intended to (i) compensate 

GJRAA for its costs to accommodate Airport tenants and users; (ii) make the Airport as financially 

self-sustaining as possible; (iii) capture a percentage of revenues by businesses and entities 

accessing the Airport for commercial purposes; and (iv) make the Airport competitive and attractive 

to aeronautical and non-aeronautical users, as compared to airports of comparable size and traffic. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, by this Resolution, the Board hereby resolves and directs as follows: 

 

1. The Board adopts the attached schedule of rates and charges, effective as of January 1, 2024. 

 

2. The attached schedule of rates and charges shall apply, without limitation, to the following 

categories of Airport tenants and users:  Air Carriers, General Aviation, Aircraft Ground 

Service Providers, Ground Transportation Operators (including Transportation Network 

Companies), Rental Car Concessionaires, Peer-to-Peer Car Sharing Operators, Fuel 

Providers, and other users of Airport facilities, supplies and services. 

 

3. The attached schedule of rates and charges shall be implemented and imposed upon the 

above-described categories of Airport tenants and users as follows: 

 

a. The applicable rates and charges shall be incorporated within any and all leases, 

licenses, permits, contracts and other agreements entered into after the effective date 

hereof. 

46/153



Page 2 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

 

b. The applicable rates and charges shall apply in the case of any existing lease, license, 

permit, contract or other agreement that explicitly requires the Airport tenant or user 

to pay rates and charges as prescribed by the Board. 

 

c. The applicable rates and charges shall apply to any user of the Airport or Airport 

services conducting an activity covered by the schedule of rates and charges that 

does not operate pursuant to a lease, license, permit, contract or other agreement with 

GJRAA. 

 

4. The terms of this Resolution and the attached schedule of rates and charges shall not apply 

in a manner that would present an irreconcilable conflict with the express terms of a lease, 

license, permit, contract or other agreement between GJRAA and an Airport tenant or user. 

 

5. The attached schedule of rates and charges is not intended to be exclusive or exhaustive. The 

Board reserves the right to charge for items not covered by the attached schedule of rates 

and charges, including recovery for damage to the Airport and fines and penalties for 

violation of Airport rules and regulations. 

 

6. The attached schedule of rates and charges shall continue in effect unless and until 

superseded by a further amendment adopted by the Board. It is the Board’s intent to review 

the attached schedule of rates and charges on no less than an annual basis. 

 

7. This resolution shall supersede all previous schedules of rates and charges promulgated by 

the Board. 

 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 12th day of December, 2023. 

   

Board Members Voting AYE  Board Members Voting NAY 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

________________________________  ___________________________________ 

   

 

 

47/153



Page 3 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

  GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 

AUTHORITY 

  ___________________________________ 

ATTEST:  Chairman 

________________________________   

Clerk   

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

48/153



Page 4 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

SCHEDULE OF RATES AND CHARGES 

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 

 

I. General Requirements 

 

Consent 

Airport tenants and users agree to be bound by this schedule of rates and charges by accessing 

the Airport, including for the conduct of commercial activities, or by seeking facilities, supplies 

or services from GJRAA. No express consent is required. 

  

Deadline for Payment 

Payment shall be due and payable with thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice, bill or other 

notice of payment obligation, unless directed otherwise by GJRAA. 

 

Payment of Rates and Charges 

All payments due GJRAA shall be paid to the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority, 2828 

Walker Field Drive, Suite 301, Grand Junction, Colorado, 81506, unless directed otherwise by 

GJRAA. 

 

Interest 

GJRAA reserves the right to charge interest on any rates and charges owed but not paid when 

due at the rate of three percent (3%) per month from the due date until receipt of payment. Any 

partial payments received on said indebtedness shall be applied first to accrued interest, and then 

to principal. 

 

Inspection of Books and Records 

GJRAA reserves the right to seek inspection of books and records for the limited purpose of 

establishing proper calculation and payment of rates and charges imposed hereunder. 

 

Remedies for Nonpayment 

GJRAA reserves the right to seek recovery of all rates and charges due and payable, and interest 

thereon, as well as incidental and consequential damages and attorney’s fees. GJRAA may 

pursue all remedies available under law, including without limitation, termination of a lease, 

license, permit, contract or other agreement; retention of a security deposit, bond or contract 

security; or suit for specific performance, injunctive relief or money damages.  

 

  

49/153



Page 5 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

 

 

II. Aircraft Operators and Aircraft Ground Service Operators 

 

A. Fees 

 

Landing Fees 

 

Class of Aircraft Fee Per Landing 
Commercial Signatory Aircraft  $2.464/1,000 lbs.  

Commercial Non-Signatory Aircraft  $3.80/1,000 lbs.  

Unscheduled Non-Signatory Aircraft* $7.60/1,000 lbs. 

General Aviation Aircraft $0.00 

Military Aircraft $0.00 

 

 * Unscheduled Non-Signatory Aircraft shall include air carriers operating at the 

Airport where the flight was not scheduled at least seven days in advance of the 

operation. 

 No landing fee will be assessed in the event an aircraft lands at the Airport due to a 

declared emergency. 

 A one-half (½) landing fee will be charged for each landing performed in 

conjunction with a training flight. 

 No landing fee will be assessed in the event an aircraft departs from the Airport for 

another destination and, without making a stop at another airport, is forced to return 

to and land at the Airport because of weather, mechanical or other similar emergency 

or precautionary reasons. 

 

 

Joint Use Space Fees 

Signatory Airlines shall pay for Joint Use Space, including the ticket queuing space, 

security, passenger boarding area, and baggage claim in the Airport’s terminal building 

based their pro rata share of the 27,479 total square feet at a cost of $47.17 per square foot 

per year.  The pro rata share shall be based on the total number of enplaned revenue 

passengers during said month.  

 

Preferential Use Space Fees 

Signatory Airlines that rent preferential use space, including airline ticket counters, office 

space, and garage/baggage space shall pay $47.17 per square foot per year. 

 

 

  

50/153



Page 6 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

Other Fees 

 

 Loading Bridge - $10.69 fee per turn. A loading bridge turn shall mean each time an 

aircraft is “connected” to the loading bridge. If an aircraft enplanes and deplanes 

passengers without disconnecting, this will count as one “turn”. 

 Fuel Purchase - Purchasing fuel (gasoline and/or diesel) from the airside GJRAA 

fuel tank shall pay actual fuel cost plus $1.00 per gallon. 

 

Non-Signatory Airlines 

 

When not otherwise specified herein, the rate charged to Non-Signatory Airlines shall be 

120% of the rate prescribed herein for Signatory Airlines. 

 

B. Reports/Billing 

 

On or before the 10th of each month, each Aircraft Operator or Aircraft Ground Service 

Operator at the Airport shall submit to the Airport administration offices such reports of the 

preceding month’s activities as GJRAA may request to enable GJRAA to compute the rates 

(also referred to, in some cases, as fees above), charges, and other monies owed by the 

Aircraft Operator or Aircraft Ground Service Operator hereunder.  The reports shall be 

attested to as correct to the best of the signer’s knowledge by the Aircraft Operator or 

Aircraft Ground Service Operator or its designee.  Any subsequent changes in the 

information will be reported to GJRAA as soon as practical; but in no event more than seven 

(7) days from their discovery.   

 

The reports shall be submitted in a format provided by or approved by GJRAA.  GJRAA 

reserves the right to obtain clarification of any matter contained in the reports, or for 

additional information from the Aircraft Operator or Aircraft Ground Service Operator for 

Airport marketing, statistical, fee-setting, or other purposes.  Note: Reports not submitted 

by the end of the 10th of each month may be subject to a $100 per day late fee.   

 

III. Ground Transportation Operators  

 

Ground Transportation Operators shall include all shuttles, courtesy vehicles, 

limousines/sedans, taxis, transportation network companies, sightseeing tours, and 

buses (excluding mass transit buses operated by, or under contract with, a public 

entity). 

 

Ground Transportation Operators shall pay GJRAA the following fee: 

 

Number of Seats Trip Fee 

1-8 $2.50 

9-15 $3.75 

16+ $8.00 

 

Hotel/Motel Courtesy Vehicle Operators 

 

51/153



Page 7 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

Each Hotel/Motel Courtesy Vehicle Operator shall pay GJRAA a per trip fee equal to 25% 

of the applicable TNC rate of $2.50/trip for a fee of $.63/trip multiplied by the number of 

trips each month.  Fee shall be paid quarterly unless other payment arrangements are made 

between the Operator and GJRAA.  Hotel/Motel Courtesy Vehicle Operators shall only pick 

up and drop off at the Airport the patrons of their respective hotels/motels, and not persons 

who are not patrons of their hotels/motels. 

 

Off-Airport Parking Providers   

 

Each Off-Airport Parking Provider shall pay GJRAA a monthly fee equal to 10% of 

monthly gross revenues.  This applies to all hotel/motel operators offering parking to guests 

or non-guests of the hotel/motel for a fee in addition to the cost of a nightly room rate, 

provided that the hotel/motel operator only shall be required to pay GJRAA the percentage 

of monthly gross revenues associated with parking by Airport passengers.  In addition, 

shuttle vehicles from each said company shall also pay GJRAA a trip fee as previously 

defined. 

 

Compliance   

 

Failure to comply or to operate without a permit may result in a $100 fine per occurrence.   

52/153



Page 8 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

 

B. Miscellaneous Provisions Applicable to Ground Transportation Operators 
 

No Diversion of Passengers 

 

Ground Transportation Operators shall not, through their officers, agents, representatives, or 

employees, divert or cause to be diverted any prospective customer to a location off of 

Airport property, in order to pick up said customer or item off of Airport property and 

thereby avoid paying the fees that would otherwise be owed to GJRAA.  For example, a 

Ground Transportation Operator shall not instruct a customer to walk or utilize a 

Hotel/Motel Courtesy Vehicle to be transported or to transport an item off of Airport 

property in order to then pick-up the customer at a hotel/motel off of Airport property to 

avoid paying fees.   

 

Signage 

 

Ground Transportation Operators serving the Airport shall display signage on their vehicles 

identifying the Ground Transportation Operator and/or such other identification as GJRAA 

may request to enable GJRAA to determine whether the vehicle is authorized to provide 

ground transportation, which includes, in the case of commercial limousines/sedans/SUVs, a  

stamp or sticker issued by the Colorado Public Utilities Commission. 

  

53/153



Page 9 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

IV. Fueling Operations 

 

A. Fuel Flowage Fees 

Fuel Providers shall pay a fuel flowage fee to GJRAA on all fuel sold at the Airport to military, 

government and general aviation aircraft fuel purchasers.  Unless specified in an airline 

operating agreement, Commercial Aircraft Operators operating out of the terminal building are 

excluded from fuel flowage fees.  

 

The following fuel flowage per gallon rates apply: 

 

 

Type 

 

Full Service FBO 

 

Self Service 

Commercial 

Operator 

Self-Fueler 

Avgas $0.1017  $0.1017  $0.1017  

Jet A $0.1017  $0.1017  $0.1017  

Military $0.1017 $0.1017 $0.1017 

 

The Fuel Provider shall be deemed to owe its fuel flowage fee to GJRAA on the date the fuel is 

delivered by the Fuel Provider to the fuel purchaser involved, regardless of when or whether 

that fuel purchaser subsequently pays for said fuel. The Fuel Provider shall pay the fuel flowage 

fee required hereunder to GJRAA within thirty (30) days following the end of each calendar 

month in which a fuel sale is deemed to occur. 

 

B. ARFF Standby Services for “Rapid Refueling” Operations 

Fuel Providers shall pay GJRAA one hundred fifty dollars ($150.00) per hour, billable in 15-

minute increments per rescue truck providing coverage for any requested Aircraft Rescue 

Firefighting (ARFF) standby services associated in any way whatsoever with the fueling of an 

aircraft while that aircraft’s engine(s) is/are in operation (“rapid refueling”).   The ARFF 

Standby Service charge begins when the rescue truck leaves the ARFF bay, or from the current 

location of the rescue truck if not in the ARFF bay.  The ARFF Standby Service charge 

terminates when the rescue truck has returned to the ARFF bay, or back to the original location 

of the rescue truck if not in the ARFF bay. 

 

C. Rental Car Fuel Station Fees 

Rental Car Fuel Station Operators purchasing fuel (gasoline) from the GJRAA landside fuel 

tank shall pay actual fuel cost plus up to $1.00 per gallon. 

 

54/153



Page 10 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

V. Leases of Airport Property  

 

Terminal Building Fee 

Non-Aircraft Operator tenants of the terminal building leasing exclusive space and not operating 

under a current operating agreement will pay $40.08 per square foot per year.   

 

Airside Leases 

New Airside Leases will have a rate equal to the greater of fair market value or the maximum 

price per square foot being charged to current lessees. For the period 4/1/2023 – 3/31/24, the 

maximum price is $0.2504 per square foot. For the current rate contact the Authority. 

 

Rental Car Service Area 
 

 4/1/23 – 3/31/24 

Cost per sq. ft. per month 

Ground $0.2276 

Building $0.4911 

 

 

 

 

55/153



Page 11 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

VI. OTHER  
 

A. Security Badge Fees 

 

SIDA and Sterile Area Badges:   

Includes Criminal History Records Check (“CHRC”) fingerprinting, Security Threat 

Assessment (“STA”), photo, paperwork, required training class and identification media 

badge. 

 

Initial Issue ........................................................................................$110.00 

 

Renewal...............................................................................................$75.00 

 

 

  

AOA Badges: 

Includes STA, photo, paperwork, required training class and identification media badge. 

 

Initial Issue ..........................................................................................$45.00 

Renewal...............................................................................................$35.00 

 

Change from AOA Badge to SIDA Badge 

 Initial Issue ........................................................................................$110.00 

  

 

Lost or Not Returned Badges 

Charge to employer for ID not returned ...........................................$250.00 

Lost badge - 1st replacement .............................................................. $50.00 

Lost badge - 2nd replacement ........................................................... $100.00 

Lost badge - 3rd replacement ............................................................ $300.00 

 

Keys 

Initial Issue ..........................................................................................$15.00 

Replacement- If broken.......................................................................$15.00 

Replacement- If lost or stolen $100.00 plus the actual cost for re-keying the locks and 

producing additional key(s). 

  

56/153



Page 12 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

 

B. Airport Parking Violations:  

 

 Fine paid within 

14 days 

Fine paid after 

14 days 

Parking Violation – Curbside $75 $150 

Parking Violation – Designated Short-term Parking 

(per day)  

$15 $25 

Parking Violation – Permit Parking (per day) $30 $45 

Handicap Parking Violation (per day) $75 $150 

 

Payments of parking violations are made directly to Clancy Systems International, Inc.  

Payment of tickets can be made through mail by check, or online by check or credit card 

(Visa or MasterCard).   

 

 

C. Terminal Parking: 

 

20 minutes or less FREE 

More than 20 minutes $2.00 each additional 20 minutes 

Daily maximum $12.00 

 

 

D. Internet and Phone Service: 

 

Service Provided Monthly Fee 

Internet $75 

Telephone $30 

 

E. Billable Staff Time: 

 

Staff Level Hourly Rate 

Level 1 $100 

Level 2 $75 

Level 3 $50 

 

 

F. Monthly Aircraft Tie-Down Fee on Designated GJRAA Maintained Ramp:  

Aircraft less than 12,500 pounds - $60 per month 

 

 

G. Colorado Open Records Act (CORA) Requests  

CORA requests are subject to a research-and-retrieval fee at the maximum rate 

permissible under Colorado Revised Statute Section 24-72-205(6) and a per-page copy 

fee at the maximum rate permissible under CRS § 24-72-205(5), provided that both such 

fees shall be published on the Airport website. As of the effective date, the research-and-

57/153



Page 13 of 13 

Effective January 1, 2024 

retrieval fee is $33.58 per hour (after the first hour, which is free) and the copy fee is $.25 

per page. Full or partial payment may be required prior to release of public records. 

 

H. Credit Card Payment Convenience Fee 

 Payments made to the Authority via credit card will be assessed a 4% convenience fee. 

 

I. Lease Transfer Fee 
A fee of $250 will be charged to cover administrative and legal fees associated with the 

execution of a lease transfer. 

J. Rental Car Facility Use Fee 

A fee of $4.00 per transaction day shall be imposed upon rental car customers picking up 

motor vehicles at the Airport, to be collected, held in trust and remitted to GJRAA by 

rental car companies in accordance with the terms of each rental car concession 

agreement. 

 

58/153



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 
Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Resolution No. 2023-017 – Delegation of Authority 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Adopt Resolution Number 2023-017: Resolution of the Board of 
Commissioners Regarding Delegation of Authority.  
 

SUMMARY: The Board adopted a formal Delegation of Authority in 2021 to more easily 
distinguish between authorities delegated to the Executive Director and 
those reserved to the Board. At the time of adoption, the Board determined 
that the resolution should be reviewed and considered at least once per year. 
The current resolution sunsets on January 31, 2024. 

The Board amended the Delegation of Authority in April 2022 and again in 
December 2022. The Board has not requested further changes. Airport Staff 
recommends modest updates to the Delegation of Authority to:  (1) extend 
the sunset date (in Section 6) to January 31, 2025; (2) update references to 
the current version of the Purchasing and Procurement Policy (effective 
August 15, 2023); and (3) add minor clarifications based on situations that 
arose over the past year. These proposed changes appear in the redlined 
version of the Resolution. 

REVIEWED BY:  Legal Counsel  

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: Resolution Number 2023-017: Resolution of the Board of Commissioners 
Regarding Delegation of Authority  
 

STAFF CONTACT: Angela Padalecki, Executive Director 
apadalecki@gjairport.com  
Phone: (970) 852-1247 

 

59/153



 1 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-017 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 REGARDING DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority (“GJRAA”) is the owner and 

operator of the Grand Junction Regional Airport (“Airport”), located in Grand Junction, 

Colorado; and 

 

WHEREAS, GJRAA was formed under and derives its authority from C.R.S. § 41-3-101, et. 

seq., known as the “Public Airport Authority Act” (the “Act”), and is governed by the GJRAA 

Board of Commissioners (“Board”); and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 41-3-105(1) of the Act provides, “All powers, privileges, and duties vested 

in or imposed upon any authority organized pursuant to the provisions of this article shall be 

exercised and performed by and through the board except as otherwise provided by law; but the 

exercise of any and all executive, administrative and ministerial powers may be by said board 

delegated and redelegated to any of the officers created or by the board acting under this article”; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 41-3-105(5)(f) of the Act provides that the Board shall have the power 

“[t]o prescribe by resolution a system of business administration; to create any and all necessary 

offices; [and] to establish and reestablish the powers and duties and compensation of all officers 

and employees”; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 41-3-105(5)(g) of the Act provides that the Board shall have the power 

“[t]o employ clerical, legal, consulting, and engineering assistance and labor, and to delegate and 

redelegate to such employees the powers conferred by this article, under such conditions and 

restrictions as shall be fixed by the board to authorize such employees to bind the authority by 

contract”; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board previously has delegated authority over Airport matters in, for example 

and without limitation, (i) annual resolutions on financial matters, including both banking and 

expenditures; (ii) the annual resolution adopting a budget; (iii) the Grand Junction Regional 

Airport Authority Purchasing and Procurement Policy (current version dated Aug. 15, 2023); (iv) 

policies on the capitalization and disposal of Airport assets; and (v) other Board resolutions and 

policies; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board believes that formal delegation over certain matters not addressed in 

other resolutions and policies is desirable in the exercise of the Board’s obligations under the 

Act; would remove ambiguity about the proper authority for many routine and recurring Airport 

matters; and further that such delegation should be revisited annually. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, by this Resolution, the Board hereby delegates authority to the 

Executive Director of the Airport and reserves other powers unto itself, as follows:  

60/153



 2 

 

1. The following powers shall be delegated to the Executive Director: 

 

a. To initiate procurements for goods and services. 

 

b. To enter into contract negotiations, including with the apparent best proposer in a 

solicitation, and present contracts for the Board’s consideration. 

 

c. To authorize payment of invoices submitted by vendors, contractors and 

consultants in accordance with executed contracts (for services) and purchase 

orders (for goods), except to the extent expenditure approval is reserved to the 

Board in the then-current Purchasing and Procurement Policy or other source. 

 

d. To extend or renew a contract or agreement where the GJRAA’s consent is 

ministerial in nature and/or the power to extend or renew is delegated to the 

Executive Director in the contract or agreement. 

 

e. To declare in default or terminate an agreement with which second party is not in 

compliance. 

 

f. To approve permits and licenses for access to Airport property for terms not to 

exceed thirty (30) days and not to exceed ninety (90) days total, including 

extensions and renewals. 

 

g. To hire and set compensation, benefits and bonuses for Authority employees, in 

accordance with the annual budget approved by the Board. 

 

h. To submit statements of interest, funding requests, lists of grant-eligible projects, 

and applications for grants and other financial assistance, provided the following 

conditions are met:  (i) the submittal does not contractually commit the GJRAA to 

accept the grant or assistance, if awarded; (ii) the percentage local match to be 

required of the GJRAA does not exceed fifty percent of the total award value or 

two million dollars ($2,000,000); and (iii) the Executive Director consults with 

and obtains the consent of the Board’s Executive Committee prior to the 

submission. This delegation does not apply to the powers reserved to the Board in 

Section 2(c) below, concerning certain grant applications submitted to the Federal 

Aviation Administration (“FAA”). 

 

i. To request airport improvement program grant amendments from the FAA and 

authorize change orders to contractors funded by the grant in accordance with the 

Purchasing and Procurement Policy, provided that a local match on the part of the 

GJRAA is not increased by more than $100,000 and a grant amendment is not 

increased by more than $250,000. 

 

j. To execute airline operating license agreements, upon establishing that the airline 

is capable to satisfy the terms and conditions of the license and the license 

61/153



 3 

conforms in all material respect to the then-current standard form approved by the 

Board. 

 

k. To execute airline incentive agreements (marketing and operations), provided the 

airline is eligible in accordance with the airline incentive policy approved by the 

Board and the agreement conforms in material respects to the then-current 

standard form approved by the Board. 

 

l. To consent to the sublease of Airport property, upon establishing that the sublease 

agreement conforms to the then-current standard form approved by the Board. 

 

m. To approve commercial operator permits for the conduct of commercial 

aeronautical activities, upon establishing that the operator complies with the 

Airport Minimum Standards and the permit conforms to the then-current standard 

form approved by the Board. 

 

n. To approve the form of and execute avigation easements. 

 

o. To prepare such additional standard form contracts, permits, licenses and other 

agreements, provided that the authority to approve such agreements shall be 

reserved to the Board. 

 

p. To develop, adopt, implement and enforce Standard Operative Procedures, 

directives and policies that implement, interpret, administer and enforce Board 

policies and/or that direct the conduct of GJRAA employees. 

 

q. To develop, adopt, and administer internal forms and agreements for GJRAA 

employees, including, by way of example but without limitation:  parking permit 

agreement, key agreement, uniform policy, purchase card agreement, motor 

vehicle record authorization form, and employee conflict-of-interest form. 

 

r. To develop, sign and implement the Airport Certification Manual and associated 

Letters of Agreement with the FAA; Airport Security Program; Airport 

Emergency Program; Tarmac Delay Contingency Plan; Airport Layout Plan and 

such similar and related documents concerning the operation and management of 

the Airport as may be required to be prepared under federal law and regulation. 

 

s. To issue Notices to Airmen, including the authority to temporarily close the 

Airport in coordination with the FAA. 

 

t. To prepare and submit the Airport Capital Improvement Plan to the State of 

Colorado and the FAA. 

 

u. To develop and implement policies and programs to preclude unlawful 

discrimination and promote participation in Airport programs by socially and 

economically disadvantaged individuals, in accordance with federal law and 

62/153



 4 

regulation, including the Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program, 

Airport Concession Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (ACDBE) Program, Title 

VI Plan, Community Participation Plan, and Language Assistance Plan. 

 

v. To develop and implement a document retention program in accordance with all 

applicable legal requirements. 

 

2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board recognizes that the following non-exclusive list 

of powers rest with and shall be reserved to the Board: 

 

a. To bind the GJRAA by contract, except as explicitly delegated to the Executive 

Director hereunder or by separate resolution or writing, including contracts for the 

purchase of goods and services; and leases, licenses, permits and other 

agreements providing for the use and possession of Airport property. 

 

b. To amend the Airport By-Laws. 

 

c. To approve the application for grant funding through the FAA Airport 

Improvement Program and to approve grant agreements and co-sponsorship 

agreements. 

 

d. To approve the form of standard agreements. 

 

e. To consent to the assignment of lease agreements and other contracts. 

 

f. To approve, revise and rescind policies applicable to the GJRAA and Airport, 

including but not limited to: 

 

i. Airport operating policies and procedures, such as the Lease Policy, 

Design Intent Guidelines, Non-Commercial Use Policy, General Aviation 

Minimum Standards, Colorado Open Records Act Policy and Procedures, 

Airport Rules and Regulations, and Nondiscrimination Policy. 

 

ii. Board and employee conduct policies, such as the Code of Professional 

Conduct, Airport Compliance Program, Employee Handbook, Bring Your 

Own Device Policy, and Whistleblower Policy. 

 

iii. Financial policies, such as the Grant Management and Oversight Policy, 

Purchasing and Procurement Policy, Asset Capitalization Policy, and 

Asset Disposal Policy. 

 

g. The power to adopt such resolutions as necessary and desirable in the interests of 

the GJRAA and Airport, consistent with the Act and in furtherance of the 

GJRAA’s role as owner, operator and sponsor of the Airport. 

 

63/153



 5 

3. The Executive Director may further delegate to her designee(s) the powers conferred in 

Section 1, provided that any further delegation of powers not documented in the 

Purchasing and Procurement Policy that contractually bind or obligate the GJRAA must 

be in writing and kept with this resolution in the records of the Airport. 

 

4. Nothing in this Resolution shall be construed to prohibit the Executive Director and her 

staff, in their discretion, from bringing to the Board for its approval matters which have, 

by this Resolution, been deemed delegated to the Executive Director and her designees. 

 

5. This Resolution supersedes and replaces Resolution 2014-02 (Resolution of the Board of 

Commissioners Regarding Authority to Execute Standardized Agreements) but does not 

otherwise supersede or replace any other Board resolution or policy, except to the extent 

of a direct conflict, in which event this resolution shall control. 

 

6. The Board intends that the delegations of authority granted by this Resolution shall be 

reviewed and approved by the Board on an annual basis. Unless renewed by the Board, 

the authority granted to the Executive Director by this resolution shall expire at 11:59 pm 

on January 31, 2025. 

 
 
ADOPTED this 12th day of December, 2023. 

 

 

   

Board Members Voting Aye:    Those Voting Nay: 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Tom Benton, Chairman 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Cameron Reece, Clerk 

 

64/153



 1 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-017 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 REGARDING DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority (“GJRAA”) is the owner and 

operator of the Grand Junction Regional Airport (“Airport”), located in Grand Junction, 

Colorado; and 

 

WHEREAS, GJRAA was formed under and derives its authority from C.R.S. § 41-3-101, et. 

seq., known as the “Public Airport Authority Act” (the “Act”), and is governed by the GJRAA 

Board of Commissioners (“Board”); and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 41-3-105(1) of the Act provides, “All powers, privileges, and duties vested 

in or imposed upon any authority organized pursuant to the provisions of this article shall be 

exercised and performed by and through the board except as otherwise provided by law; but the 

exercise of any and all executive, administrative and ministerial powers may be by said board 

delegated and redelegated to any of the officers created or by the board acting under this article”; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 41-3-105(5)(f) of the Act provides that the Board shall have the power 

“[t]o prescribe by resolution a system of business administration; to create any and all necessary 

offices; [and] to establish and reestablish the powers and duties and compensation of all officers 

and employees”; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 41-3-105(5)(g) of the Act provides that the Board shall have the power 

“[t]o employ clerical, legal, consulting, and engineering assistance and labor, and to delegate and 

redelegate to such employees the powers conferred by this article, under such conditions and 

restrictions as shall be fixed by the board to authorize such employees to bind the authority by 

contract”; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board previously has delegated authority over Airport matters in, for example 

and without limitation, (i) annual resolutions on financial matters, including both banking and 

expenditures; (ii) the annual resolution adopting a budget; (iii) the Grand Junction Regional 

Airport Authority Purchasing and Procurement Policy (current version dated Aug. 15, 2023); (iv) 

policies on the capitalization and disposal of Airport assets; and (v) other Board resolutions and 

policies; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board believes that formal delegation over certain matters not addressed in 

other resolutions and policies is desirable in the exercise of the Board’s obligations under the 

Act; would remove ambiguity about the proper authority for many routine and recurring Airport 

matters; and further that such delegation should be revisited annually. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, by this Resolution, the Board hereby delegates authority to the 

Executive Director of the Airport and reserves other powers unto itself, as follows:  

65/153



 2 

 

1. The following powers shall be delegated to the Executive Director: 

 

a. To initiate procurements for goods and services. 

 

b. To enter into contract negotiations, including with the apparent best proposer in a 

solicitation, and present contracts for the Board’s consideration. 

 

c. To authorize payment of invoices submitted by vendors, contractors and 

consultants in accordance with executed contracts (for services) and purchase 

orders (for goods), except to the extent expenditure approval is reserved to the 

Board in the then-current Purchasing and Procurement Policy or other source. 

 

d. To extend or renew a contract or agreement where the GJRAA’s consent is 

ministerial in nature and/or the power to extend or renew is delegated to the 

Executive Director in the contract or agreement. 

 

e. To declare in default or terminate an agreement with which second party is not in 

compliance. 

 

f. To approve permits and licenses for access to Airport property for terms not to 

exceed thirty (30) days and not to exceed ninety (90) days total, including 

extensions and renewals. 

 

g. To hire and set compensation, benefits and bonuses for Authority employees, in 

accordance with the annual budget approved by the Board. 

 

h. To submit statements of interest, funding requests, lists of grant-eligible projects, 

and applications for grants and other financial assistance, provided the following 

conditions are met:  (i) the submittal does not contractually commit the GJRAA to 

accept the grant or assistance, if awarded; (ii) the percentage local match to be 

required of the GJRAA does not exceed fifty percent of the total award value or 

two million dollars ($2,000,000); and (iii) the Executive Director consults with 

and obtains the consent of the Board’s Executive Committee prior to the 

submission. This delegation does not apply to the powers reserved to the Board in 

Section 2(c) below, concerning certain grant applications submitted to the Federal 

Aviation Administration (“FAA”). 

 

i. To request airport improvement program grant amendments from the FAA and 

authorize change orders to contractors funded by the grant in accordance with the 

Purchasing and Procurement Policy, provided that a local match on the part of the 

GJRAA is not increased by more than $100,000 and a grant amendment is not 

increased by more than $250,000. 

 

j. To execute airline operating license agreements, upon establishing that the airline 

is capable to satisfy the terms and conditions of the license and the license 

66/153



 3 

conforms in all material respect to the then-current standard form approved by the 

Board. 

 

k. To execute airline incentive agreements (marketing and operations), provided the 

airline is eligible in accordance with the airline incentive policy approved by the 

Board and the agreement conforms in material respects to the then-current 

standard form approved by the Board. 

 

l. To consent to the sublease of Airport property, upon establishing that the sublease 

agreement conforms to the then-current standard form approved by the Board. 

 

m. To approve commercial operator permits for the conduct of commercial 

aeronautical activities, upon establishing that the operator complies with the 

Airport Minimum Standards and the permit conforms to the then-current standard 

form approved by the Board. 

 

n. To approve the form of and execute avigation easements. 

 

o. To prepare such additional standard form contracts, permits, licenses and other 

agreements, provided that the authority to approve such agreements shall be 

reserved to the Board. 

 

p. To develop, adopt, implement and enforce Standard Operative Procedures, 

directives and policies that implement, interpret, administer and enforce Board 

policies and/or that direct the conduct of GJRAA employees. 

 

q. To develop, adopt, and administer internal forms and agreements for GJRAA 

employees, including, by way of example but without limitation:  parking permit 

agreement, key agreement, uniform policy, purchase card agreement, motor 

vehicle record authorization form, and employee conflict-of-interest form. 

 

r. To develop, sign and implement the Airport Certification Manual and associated 

Letters of Agreement with the FAA; Airport Security Program; Airport 

Emergency Program; Tarmac Delay Contingency Plan; Airport Layout Plan and 

such similar and related documents concerning the operation and management of 

the Airport as may be required to be prepared under federal law and regulation. 

 

s. To issue Notices to Airmen, including the authority to temporarily close the 

Airport in coordination with the FAA. 

 

t. To prepare and submit the Airport Capital Improvement Plan to the State of 

Colorado and the FAA. 

 

u. To develop and implement policies and programs to preclude unlawful 

discrimination and promote participation in Airport programs by socially and 

economically disadvantaged individuals, in accordance with federal law and 

67/153



 4 

regulation, including the Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program, 

Airport Concession Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (ACDBE) Program, Title 

VI Plan, Community Participation Plan, and Language Assistance Plan. 

 

v. To develop and implement a document retention program in accordance with all 

applicable legal requirements. 

 

2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board recognizes that the following non-exclusive list 

of powers rest with and shall be reserved to the Board: 

 

a. To bind the GJRAA by contract, except as explicitly delegated to the Executive 

Director hereunder or by separate resolution or writing, including contracts for the 

purchase of goods and services; and leases, licenses, permits and other 

agreements providing for the use and possession of Airport property. 

 

b. To amend the Airport By-Laws. 

 

c. To approve the application for grant funding through the FAA Airport 

Improvement Program and to approve grant agreements and co-sponsorship 

agreements. 

 

d. To approve the form of standard agreements. 

 

e. To consent to the assignment of lease agreements and other contracts. 

 

f. To approve, revise and rescind policies applicable to the GJRAA and Airport, 

including but not limited to: 

 

i. Airport operating policies and procedures, such as the Lease Policy, 

Design Intent Guidelines, Non-Commercial Use Policy, General Aviation 

Minimum Standards, Colorado Open Records Act Policy and Procedures, 

Airport Rules and Regulations, and Nondiscrimination Policy. 

 

ii. Board and employee conduct policies, such as the Code of Professional 

Conduct, Airport Compliance Program, Employee Handbook, Bring Your 

Own Device Policy, and Whistleblower Policy. 

 

iii. Financial policies, such as the Grant Management and Oversight Policy, 

Purchasing and Procurement Policy, Asset Capitalization Policy, and 

Asset Disposal Policy. 

 

g. The power to adopt such resolutions as necessary and desirable in the interests of 

the GJRAA and Airport, consistent with the Act and in furtherance of the 

GJRAA’s role as owner, operator and sponsor of the Airport. 

 

68/153



 5 

3. The Executive Director may further delegate to her designee(s) the powers conferred in 

Section 1, provided that any further delegation of powers not documented in the 

Purchasing and Procurement Policy that contractually bind or obligate the GJRAA must 

be in writing and kept with this resolution in the records of the Airport. 

 

4. Nothing in this Resolution shall be construed to prohibit the Executive Director and her 

staff, in their discretion, from bringing to the Board for its approval matters which have, 

by this Resolution, been deemed delegated to the Executive Director and her designees. 

 

5. This Resolution supersedes and replaces Resolution 2014-02 (Resolution of the Board of 

Commissioners Regarding Authority to Execute Standardized Agreements) but does not 

otherwise supersede or replace any other Board resolution or policy, except to the extent 

of a direct conflict, in which event this resolution shall control. 

 

6. The Board intends that the delegations of authority granted by this Resolution shall be 

reviewed and approved by the Board on an annual basis. Unless renewed by the Board, 

the authority granted to the Executive Director by this resolution shall expire at 11:59 pm 

on January 31, 2025. 

 
 
ADOPTED this 12th day of December, 2023. 

 

 

   

Board Members Voting Aye:    Those Voting Nay: 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Tom Benton, Chairman 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Cameron Reece, Clerk 

 

69/153



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 
Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: 2024 Airport Improvement Program Grant Applications  

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve the four 2024 Airport Improvement Program grant applications for 
the Runway 12-30 replacement program and authorize the Executive 
Director to sign and submit the applications to the Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA). 

SUMMARY: The Airport Improvement Program (AIP) grant applications are for projects 
listed on the Airport’s 2024 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) and that have 
been discussed with the FAA, GJRAA’s on-call engineers, and the program 
manager. Based on guidance from the FAA, the grant funding request for 
2024 has been split into four separate grant applications as follows:  

1. Design of Runway 12-30 pavement – Phase 2 - $1,130,999. 
2. Construction of Earthwork and Drainage – Schedule 6 - $5,839,002; 
3. Construction of the Runway Pavement – Package I - $9,697,500; 
4. Permanent FAA NAVAIDs – Design RA -$218,700 

The amounts listed above represent 90% of the anticipated project costs for 
each in expectation that GJRAA will be required to fund 10%. These projects 
were included in the 2024 budget. If the applications are accepted and 
funding is awarded, the Grant Offers will be presented to the Board for 
individual approval.  

REVIEWED BY:  Executive Director, Program Manager (Colin Bible) and Legal Counsel (Dan 
Reimer)  

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

Anticipated Funding Sources                                              
Federal - $16,886,201 
CDOT - $250,000 
GJRAA - $1,626,245 
Total Project Cost - $18,762,446 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Design: Runway 12-30 Pavement – Phase 2 Grant Application 
2. Construction: Earth Work Grant Application 
3. Construction: Runway Pavement Grant Application 
4. Design: Permanent FAA NAVAIDs Grant Application 

STAFF CONTACT: Angela Padalecki 
apadalecki@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8588 

 

70/153



OMB Number:  4040-0004 
Expiration Date:  11/30/2025

Application for Federal Assistance SF-424 

*1.  Type of Submission:

Preapplication

Application

Changed/Corrected Application

*2.  Type of Application

New

Continuation

Revision 

* If Revision, select appropriate letter(s):

* Other (Specify)

*3.  Date Received: 4. Applicant Identifier:

5a.  Federal Entity Identifier: *5b.  Federal Award Identifier:

State Use Only: 
6. Date Received by State: 7. State Application Identifier:

8. APPLICANT INFORMATION:

*a.  Legal Name:

*b.  Employer/Taxpayer Identification Number (EIN/TIN): *c.  UEI:

d. Address:

*Street 1:

Street 2:

*City:

County/Parish:

*State: 

*Province:

*Country:

*Zip / Postal Code

e. Organizational Unit:

Department Name: Division Name: 

f. Name and contact information of person to be contacted on matters involving this application:

Prefix: *First Name:

Middle Name: 

*Last Name:

Suffix:

Title: 

 Organizational Affiliation: 

*Telephone Number: Fax Number: 

*Email:

71/153



Application for Federal Assistance SF-424 

*9. Type of Applicant 1: Select Applicant Type:

Type of Applicant 2:  Select Applicant Type: 

Type of Applicant 3:  Select  Applicant Type: 

*Other (Specify)

*10. Name of Federal Agency:

11. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number:

CFDA Title:  

*12.  Funding Opportunity Number:

*Title:

13. Competition Identification Number:

Title: 

14. Areas Affected by Project (Cities, Counties, States, etc.):

*15.  Descriptive Title of Applicant’s Project:

Attach supporting documents as specified in agency instructions. 

72/153



Application for Federal Assistance SF-424 

16. Congressional Districts Of:

*a. Applicant: *b. Program/Project:

Attach an additional list of Program/Project Congressional Districts if needed. 

17. Proposed Project:

*a. Start Date: *b. End Date:

18. Estimated Funding ($):

*a.  Federal

*b.  Applicant

*c.  State

*d.  Local

*e.  Other
*f.  Program Income
*g.  TOTAL

. 

*19.  Is Application Subject to Review By State Under Executive Order 12372 Process?

a. This application was made available to the State under the Executive Order 12372 Process for review on

b. Program is subject to E.O. 12372 but has not been selected by the State for review.

c. Program is not covered by E.O. 12372.

*20.  Is the Applicant Delinquent On Any Federal Debt?
Yes No

If “Yes”, explain:

21. *By signing this application, I certify (1) to the statements contained in the list of certifications** and (2) that the statements
herein are true, complete and accurate to the best of my knowledge.  I also provide the required assurances** and agree to comply
with any resulting terms if I accept an award.  I am aware that any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or claims may subject
me to criminal, civil, or administrative penalties.  (U. S. Code, Title 218, Section 1001)

** I AGREE

** The list of certifications and assurances, or an internet site where you may obtain this list, is contained in the announcement or 
agency specific instructions. 

Authorized Representative: 

Prefix: *First Name:

Middle Name: 

*Last Name:

Suffix:

*Title:

*Telephone Number: Fax Number: 

* Email:

*Signature of Authorized Representative: *Date Signed:

73/153



74/153



U.S. Department  
of Transportation 
Federal Aviation 
Administration 

FAA Form 5100-100, Application for Federal Assistance 
(Development and Equipment Projects) 

Paperwork Reduction Act Burden Statement 
A federal agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, nor shall a 
person be subject to a penalty for failure to comply with a collection of information subject to the 
requirements of the Paperwork Reduction Act unless that collection of information displays a currently 
valid OMB Control Number. The OMB Control Number for this information collection is 2120-0569. Public 
reporting for this collection of information is estimated to be approximately 28 hours per response, 
including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining 
the data needed, completing and reviewing the collection of information. All responses to this collection of 
information are required under 49 U.S.C. Section 47105 to retain a benefit and to meet the reporting 
requirements of 2 CFR 200; no assurance of confidentiality is provided. Send comments regarding this 
burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing 
this burden to: Information Collection Clearance Officer, Federal Aviation Administration, 10101 Hillwood 
Parkway, Fort Worth, TX 76177-1524. 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR FORM 5100-100 

PART I – Application for Federal Assistance 
Part I of the Application for Federal Assistance consists of a completed Standard Form (SF) 424. The 
remaining parts of Form 5100-100 (Parts II, III and IV) represent continuation pages that the Sponsor 
must attach to the associated SF-424 form. The signature of the Sponsor’s authorized representative on 
the SF-424 form represents acceptance of the representations and certifications made within the 
corresponding FAA 5100-100 form. 

PART II – Project Approval Information 
This information is necessary for the Federal Aviation Administration to evaluate this request for Federal 
assistance.  Responses do not require an explanation unless explicitly requested by the question. 

SECTION A. STATUTORY CONDITIONS 
Item 1 – Indicate whether the Sponsor maintains an active registration in the Federal System for Award 
Management (SAM).  Pursuant to 2 CFR §25.200(b), a Sponsor must maintain an active registration in 
the Central Contractor Registration repository (housed within SAM) with current information at the time of 
the application and during the active period of the Federal award. 

Item 2 – Indicate whether the Sponsor can commence the project within the same fiscal year the grant is 
made or within 6 months of when the grant is made, whichever is later. Attach explanation for negative 
responses. This information is considered when allocating discretionary funds. (49 U.S.C. § 47115(d)(2)) 

75/153



ii 

Item 3 – Indicate whether the Sponsor can complete the project without unreasonable delays. If 
applicable, provide listing of foreseeable events (winter shutdown, land acquisition issues, non-
aeronautical events, etc.) that have potential to delay completion of the project. (49 USC § 47106(a)) 

Item 4 – Indicate whether the environmental review (i.e. environmental assessment, mitigated FONSI, 
etc.) identified impacts or effects on the environment that require mitigating measures that lessen the 
impact or effect on the environment. If yes, provide a summary listing of mitigating measures. 
(49 U.S.C. § 47106(c)) 

Item 5 – Indicate whether the project covered by this request is also covered by an approved Passenger 
Facility Charge (PFC) application or other Federal assistance program by selecting all applicable check 
boxes (49 U.S.C. § 40117(d) and 2 CFR § 200.403). If the approved PFC application only addresses the 
Sponsor’s AIP matching share, select the appropriate check box.   

If the project, or portions thereof, is covered by another Federal assistance program, identify the Federal 
assistance program by name and the Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number.  

Item 6 – Indicate whether the Sponsor intends to seek reimbursement of Sponsor indirect costs as 
defined by 2 CFR §200.414 and 2 CFR Appendix VII to Part 200.  This information request does not 
include the indirect costs claimed by a for-profit entity (e.g. consultant). 

 The de minimis rate may only be used if the Sponsor has not previously received a negotiated
Indirect Cost Rata (ICR) and does not exceed the limitations prescribed in Appendix VII to Part
200.

 A Sponsor with an existing approved negotiated ICR must identify the ICR value, the name of the
cognizant agency that approved the ICR and the date of approval.

SECTION B. CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 
This section addresses the Sponsor’s declaration regarding lobbying activities. The declaration made in 
the section are under signature of the authorized representative as identified in box 21 of form SF-424, to 
which this form is attached. 

Title 31 U.S.C. § 1352 establishes that no appropriated funds may be expended by a recipient of a 
Federal grant to pay any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any 
agency, Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of 
Congress in connection with this covered Federal assistance action.  Pursuant to 40 CFR part 20, this 
certification attests that the Sponsor has not made, and will not make, any payment prohibited payment 
by 31 U.S.C. § 1352.  

FAA Form 5100-100 

76/153



FAA Form 5100-100 iii 

SECTION C. REPRESENTATIONS AND CERTIFICATION 

1. Compatible Land Use (49 U.S.C. § 47107(a)(10)) – Identify actions the Sponsor has taken to
assure land uses in close proximity to the airport are compatible with normal airport operations.

2. Defaults – Confirm that Sponsor is not in default on any obligation to the United States or any
agency of the United States government.

3. Possible Disabilities – Confirm that Sponsor has no facts or circumstances (i.e. legal, financial
or otherwise) that might adversely affect the Sponsor in completing the project and carrying out
the provisions of the associated Grant Assurances.

4. Consistency with Local Plans (49 U.S.C. § 47106(a)) – Confirm project is consistent with plans
(existing at the time the project is approved) of public agencies authorized by the State in which
the airport is located to plan.

5. Consideration of Local Interests (49 U.S.C. § 47106(b)) – Confirm the Sponsor has given fair
consideration to the community in and near the project.

6. Consultation with Users (49 U.S.C. § 47105(a)) - Confirm the Sponsor has consulted with
airport users that will be affected by the project.

7. Public Hearings (49 U.S.C. § 47106(c)) – For projects involving the location of an airport,
runway or major runway extension, confirm the Sponsor:

a. Provided an opportunity for a public hearing to consider economic, social and
environmental effects of the project.

b. Has voting representation from the communities in which the project is located; or has
advised the communities that they have the right to petition the Secretary about the
proposed project.

8. Air and Water Quality Standards - Confirm Sponsor will comply with applicable air and water
quality standards.

9. Exclusive Rights (49 U.S.C. § 47107(a) – Identify all instances of exclusive rights to conduct
aeronautical services at the airport.

10. Land (49 U.S.C. § 47106(b)) –

a. Identify property interests specific to the development project and/or land acquisition. The
declaration of property interest is to be based upon a title opinion submitted by an
attorney. When identifying the property interest, use the same parcel numbers as used to
identify the property on the associated Exhibit A property map.
Example: “Sponsor maintains property interest as depicted within the property table on
the Exhibit A property map dated __/__/__ originally filed with AIP Project ###.”

b. Complete this subpart if the Sponsor proposes a project for which they have not yet
obtained appropriate property interests. Note that the work may not commence until
Sponsor obtains acceptable property interests. Identify such property by parcel number
that corresponds to the associated Exhibit A property map.

c. Complete this subpart when acquiring property interests under the grant.  Identify such
property by parcel number that corresponds to the associated Exhibit A property map.

77/153



FAA Form 5100-100 iv 

PART III – Budget Information 
SECTION A. GENERAL 

1. Assistance Listing Number - Show the Assistance Listing Number from which the assistance is
requested.

2. Functional or Other Breakout:  Indicate “Airport Improvement Program”.  Prepare a separate set of
Part III forms for other Federal program categories.

SECTION B. CALCULATION OF FEDERAL GRANT 

When applying for a new grant, use the Total Amount Column only.  Use all columns when requesting 
revisions of previously awarded amounts. 

Line 1 - Enter amounts needed for administration expenses, which may include such items as: legal fees, 
mailing/shipping expenses, audit fees and documented Sponsor employee time that is necessary to 
administer the grant.  

Line 2 - Enter amounts pertaining to allowable preliminary expenses.  These include such expenses as 
independent fee estimate preparation, advertising expenses and permits. 

Line 3 - Enter amounts directly associated with the acquisition of land, existing structures, and related 
right-of-way.  

Line 4 - Enter fees for architectural engineering basic services. 

Line 5 - Enter amounts for architectural engineering special services (e.g. surveys, tests and borings). 

Line 6 - Enter fees for inspection, testing and monitoring of construction and related programs. 

Line 7 - Enter amounts associated with the development of land where the primary purpose of the grant 
is land improvement. Site work normally associated with major construction should be excluded from this 
category and shown on line 11. 

Line 8 - Enter the dollar amounts needed to provide relocation advisory assistance, and the net amounts 
for replacement (last resort) housing. Do not include relocation administration expenses on this Line; 
include them on Line 1. 

Line 9 - Enter the estimated amount of relocation payments to be made to displaced persons, business 
concerns, and non-profit organizations for moving expenses and replacement housing. 

Line 10 - Enter the cost of demolition or removal of improvements on developed land. Reduce the costs 
on this line by the amount of expected proceeds from the sale of salvage, if so instructed by the Federal 
grantor agency. Otherwise, show the proceeds on Line 15. 

Line 11 - Enter amounts for the actual construction of, addition to or restoration of a facility. Include in this 
category the amounts of project improvements such as grading, drainage, paving, marking, lighting, 
buildings, seeding/sodding, etc. 

Line 12 - Enter amounts for equipment. Examples include ARFF vehicles, SRE equipment, AWOS 
equipment, interactive training, NAVAID equipment, etc.) 

Line 13 - Enter miscellaneous amounts for items not specifically covered by previous categories. 

78/153



FAA Form 5100-100 v 

Line 14 - Enter the sum of Lines 1-13. 

Line 15 - Enter the estimated amount of program income that will be earned during the grant period and 
applied to the program. Examples include vehicle trade-in value, sale of millings resulting from project, 
credits passed on from contractor, etc. This line may be used to indicate applied liquidated damages. 

Line 16 - Enter the difference between Line 14 and Line 15. 

Line 17 - Enter the aggregate amount for those items, which are a part of the project but not subject to 
Federal participation. Refer to Section C, exclusions. 

Line 18 – Enter the subtotal sum of Lines 16 and 17. (This is the amount to which the matching share 
ratio prescribed in program legislation is applied.) 

Line 19 - Indicate the total amount of the Federal assistance requested. This value is determined by 
multiplying the grant participation rate by the amount indicated in line 18. 

Line 20 – Indicate the amount of the Grantee’s share (from Section D). 

Line 21 – Indicate the amount of other shares (from Section D) 

Line 22 – Indicate sum of Lines 19, 20 and 21. 

SECTION C. EXCLUSIONS 

Line 23 a-g - Identify and list those costs which are part of the project cost but are not subject to Federal 
participation because of program legislation or Federal grantor agency instructions. The total amount on 
Line g should agree with the amount shown on Line 17 of Section B. 

SECTION D. PROPOSED METHOD OF FINANCING NON-FEDERAL SHARE 
Line 24 a-g - Show the source of the grantee’s share. If cash is not immediately available, specify the 
actions completed to date and those actions remaining to make cash available under Section E - 
Remarks. Indicate also the period of time that will be required after execution of the grant agreement to 
obtain the funds. If there is a non-cash contribution, explain what this contribution will consist of. 

Line 24h - Indicate total of Lines 24 a-g. This amount must equal the amount in Section B, Line 20. 

Line 25a - Show the amount that will be contributed by a State or state agency, only if the applicant is not 
a State or state agency. If there is a non-cash or other contribution, explain what the contribution will 
consist of under Section E - Remarks. 

Line 25b - Show the amount that will be contributed from other sources. If there is a non-cash 
contribution, explain what the contribution will consist of under Section E - Remarks. 

Line 25c - Show the total of Lines 28a and 28b. This amount must be the same as the amount shown in 
Section B, Line 21. 

Line 26 - Enter the totals of Lines 24h and 25c. 

SECTION E. OTHER REMARKS 

Make any remarks pertinent to the project and provide any other information required by these 
instructions or the grantor agency. Attach additional sheets, if necessary.  

79/153



FAA Form 5100-100 vi 

PART IV – Program Narrative
Prepare the program narrative statement in accordance with the following instructions for all new grant 
programs. Requests for supplemental assistance should be responsive to Item 5b only. Requests for 
continuation or refunding or other changes of an approved project should be responsive to Item 5c only. 

1. OBJECTIVES AND NEED FOR THIS ASSISTANCE

Provide a short and concise description of the proposed improvement. Include a narrative on why this 
improvement is needed. 

2. RESULTS OR BENEFITS EXPECTED

Identify results and benefits to be derived. For example, include a description of who will occupy the 
facility and show how the facility will be used. For land acquisition or development projects, explain how 
the project will benefit the public. 

3. APPROACH
a. Outline a plan of action pertaining to the scope and detail of how the Sponsor proposes to

accomplish the work.

b. Cite factors, which might accelerate or decelerate the work, and your reason for taking this
approach as opposed to others. Describe any unusual features of the project such as
construction approach, reductions in cost or time or extraordinary social and community
involvements.

c. Provide projections of project milestone dates. As a minimum, identify target dates for defining
project costs (i.e. bid opening or completion of negotiations), anticipated issuance of notice-to-
proceed and anticipated project completion date.

d. Identify monitoring and oversight mechanisms the Sponsor proposes to implement.

e. List key individuals and entities such as consultant, Sponsor personnel and contractor who will
work on the project. Provide a short description of the nature of their effort or contribution.

4. GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION

Identify location of the project. This will typically be the name of the airport.

5. IF APPLICABLE, PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:
a. Describe the relationship between this project and other work planned, anticipated or underway

under the Federal Assistance listed under Part II, Section A, Item 5.

b. Explain the reason for all requests for supplemental assistance and justify the need for additional
funding.

c. If there have been significant changes in the project objectives, location, approach or time delays,
explain and justify. For other requests for changes or amendments, explain the reason for the
change(s). If the scope, budget, or objectives have changed or an extension of time is necessary,
explain the circumstances and justify.

6. SPONSOR’S REPRESENTATIVE

Identify contact information of Sponsor’s representative.

80/153



FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 1 of 7 

U.S. Department of Transportation 
Federal Aviation Administration 

OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

Application for Federal Assistance (Development and Equipment Projects) 

PART II – PROJECT APPROVAL INFORMATION 

Part II - SECTION A 

The term “Sponsor” refers to the applicant name provided in box 8 of the associated SF-424 form. 
Item 1. 
Does Sponsor maintain an active registration in the System for Award Management 
(www.SAM.gov)?  Yes  No 

Item 2. 
Can Sponsor commence the work identified in the application in the fiscal year the 
grant is made or within six months after the grant is made, whichever is later?  Yes  No  N/A 

Item 3. 
Are there any foreseeable events that would delay completion of the project? If yes, 
provide attachment to this form that lists the events.  Yes  No  N/A 

Item 4. 
Will the project(s) covered by this request have impacts or effects on the 
environment that require mitigating measures? If yes, attach a summary listing of 
mitigating measures to this application and identify the name and date of the 
environmental document(s). 

 Yes  No  N/A 

Item 5. 
Is the project covered by this request included in an approved Passenger Facility 
Charge (PFC) application or other Federal assistance program? If yes, please 
identify other funding sources by checking all applicable boxes. 

 Yes  No  N/A 

The project is included in an approved PFC application.
If included in an approved PFC application,  

does the application only address AIP matching share?  Yes  No 

The project is included in another Federal Assistance program. Its CFDA number is below. 

Item 6. 
Will the requested Federal assistance include Sponsor indirect costs as described in 
2 CFR Appendix VII to Part 200, States and Local Government and Indian Tribe 
Indirect Cost Proposals? 

 Yes  No  N/A 

If the request for Federal assistance includes a claim for allowable indirect costs, select the applicable indirect cost rate 
the Sponsor proposes to apply:  

De Minimis rate of 10% as permitted by 2 CFR § 200.414. 

Negotiated Rate equal to  % as approved by   (the Cognizant Agency) 
on  (Date) (2 CFR part 200, appendix VII). 

Note: Refer to the instructions for limitations of application associated with claiming Sponsor indirect costs. 

81/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 2 of 7 

PART II - SECTION B 

Certification Regarding Lobbying 
The declarations made on this page are under the signature of the authorized representative as identified in box 21 of 
form SF-424, to which this form is attached. The term “Sponsor” refers to the applicant name provided in box 8 of the 
associated SF-424 form. 

The Authorized Representative certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 

(1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Sponsor, to any person
for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer
or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any
Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any
cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal
contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.

(2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer
or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract,
grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the Authorized Representative shall complete and submit Standard
Form-LLL, ‘‘Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,’’ in accordance with its instructions.

(3) The Authorized Representative shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans,
and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was 
made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification 
shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure. 

82/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 3 of 7 

PART II – SECTION C

The Sponsor hereby represents and certifies as follows: 

1. Compatible Land Use – The Sponsor has taken the following actions to assure compatible usage of land adjacent
to or in the vicinity of the airport:

2. Defaults – The Sponsor is not in default on any obligation to the United States or any agency of the United States
Government relative to the development, operation, or maintenance of any airport, except as stated herewith:

3. Possible Disabilities – There are no facts or circumstances (including the existence of effective or proposed leases,
use agreements or other legal instruments affecting use of the Airport or the existence of pending litigation or other
legal proceedings) which in reasonable probability might make it impossible for the Sponsor to carry out and complete
the Project or carry out the provisions of the Grant Assurances, either by limiting its legal or financial ability or
otherwise, except as follows:

4. Consistency with Local Plans – The project is reasonably consistent with plans existing at the time of submission
of this application) of public agencies that are authorized by the State in which the project is located to plan for the
development of the area surrounding the airport.

5. Consideration of Local Interest – It has given fair consideration to the interest of communities in or near where the
project may be located.

6. Consultation with Users – In making a decision to undertake an airport development project under Title 49, United
States Code, it has consulted with airport users that will potentially be affected by the project (§ 47105(a)(2)).

7. Public Hearings – In projects involving the location of an airport, an airport runway or a major runway extension, it
has afforded the opportunity for public hearings for the purpose of considering the economic, social, and environmental
effects of the airport or runway location and its consistency with goals and objectives of such planning as has been
carried out by the community and it shall, when requested by the Secretary, submit a copy of the transcript of such
hearings to the Secretary. Further, for such projects, it has on its management board either voting representation from
the communities where the project is located or has advised the communities that they have the right to petition the
Secretary concerning a proposed project.

8. Air and Water Quality Standards – In projects involving airport location, a major runway extension, or runway
location it will provide for the Governor of the state in which the project is located to certify in writing to the Secretary
that the project will be located, designed, constructed, and operated so as to comply with applicable and air and water
quality standards. In any case where such standards have not been approved and where applicable air and water
quality standards have been promulgated by the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency, certification
shall be obtained from such Administrator. Notice of certification or refusal to certify shall be provided within sixty days
after the project application has been received by the Secretary.

83/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 4 of 7 

PART II – SECTION C (Continued) 

9. Exclusive Rights – There is no grant of an exclusive right for the conduct of any aeronautical activity at any airport
owned or controlled by the Sponsor except as follows:

10. Land – (a) The sponsor holds the following property interest in the following areas of land, which are to be developed
or used as part of or in connection with the Airport subject to the following exceptions, encumbrances, and adverse
interests, all of which areas are identified on the aforementioned property map designated as Exhibit “A”. [1]

The Sponsor further certifies that the above is based on a title examination by a qualified attorney or title company and 
that such attorney or title company has determined that the Sponsor holds the above property interests. 

(b) The Sponsor will acquire within a reasonable time, but in any event prior to the start of any construction work
under the Project, the following property interest in the following areas of land on which such construction work is to be 
performed, all of which areas are identified on the aforementioned property map designated as Exhibit “A”. [1]

(c) The Sponsor will acquire within a reasonable time, and if feasible prior to the completion of all construction
work under the Project, the following property interest in the following areas of land which are to be developed or used 
as part of or in connection with the Airport as it will be upon completion of the Project, all of which areas are identified on 
the aforementioned property map designated as Exhibit “A”. [1]

1 State the character of property interest in each area and list and identify for each all exceptions, encumbrances, and adverse 
interests of every kind and nature, including liens, easements, leases, etc. The separate areas of land need only be identified here by 
the area numbers shown on the property map. 

84/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 5 of 7 

PART III – BUDGET INFORMATION – CONSTRUCTION

SECTION A – GENERAL 

1. Assistance Listing Number:

2. Functional or Other Breakout:

SECTION B – CALCULATION OF FEDERAL GRANT 

Cost Classification 
Latest Approved 

Amount 
(Use only for 

revisions) 

Adjustment 
+ or (-) Amount
(Use only for 

revisions) 

Total 
Amount 

Required 

1. Administration expense

2. Preliminary expense

3. Land, structures, right-of-way

4. Architectural engineering basic fees

5. Other Architectural engineering fees

6. Project inspection fees

7. Land development

8. Relocation Expenses

9. Relocation payments to Individuals and Businesses

10. Demolition and removal

11. Construction and project improvement

12. Equipment

13. Miscellaneous

14. Subtotal (Lines 1 through 13)

15. Estimated Income (if applicable)

16. Net Project Amount (Line 14 minus 15)

17. Less: Ineligible Exclusions (Section C, line 23 g.)

18. Subtotal (Lines 16 through 17)

19. Federal Share requested of Line 18

20. Grantee share

21. Other shares

22. TOTAL PROJECT (Lines 19, 20 & 21)

85/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 6 of 7 

SECTION C – EXCLUSIONS 

23. Classification (Description of non-participating work)
Amount Ineligible for 

Participation 

a. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

e. 

f. 

g. Total 

SECTION D – PROPOSED METHOD OF FINANCING NON-FEDERAL SHARE 

24. Grantee Share – Fund Categories Amount 

a. Securities

b. Mortgages

c. Appropriations (by Applicant)

d. Bonds

e. Tax Levies

f. Non-Cash

g. Other (Explain):

h. TOTAL - Grantee share

25. Other Shares

a. State

b. Other

c. TOTAL - Other Shares

26. TOTAL NON-FEDERAL FINANCING

SECTION E – REMARKS 
(Attach sheets if additional space is required) 

Amount 

86/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 
OMB EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 7 of 7 

PART IV – PROGRAM NARRATIVE 
(Suggested Format) 

PROJECT: 

AIRPORT: 

1. Objective:

2. Benefits Anticipated:

3. Approach: (See approved Scope of Work in Final Application)

4. Geographic Location:

5. If Applicable, Provide Additional Information:

6. Sponsor’s Representative: (include address & telephone number)

87/153



CIP/PREAPPLICATION DATA SHEET 
 

AIRPORT:  Grand Junction Regional Airport (GJT) 
LOCAL 
PRIORITY:  

N/A UPDATED:  December 2023 

WORK ITEM: Runway Pavement Design – Phase 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

JUSTIFICATION: Runway 12-30 Pavement Design is the continuation of the Runway 11-29 
Replacement/Relocation Program. The goal continues to be relocation of the Runway with minimal impact the aircraft 
users, including maintaining IFR procedures, Navigational Aids, etc. Design of the runway pavement section will begin 
in Spring 2023. The pavement section construction will begin in 2024. 

 

SPONSOR SIGNATURE:__________________________________________DATE:_12/12/2023_ 
 

COST ESTIMATE: $1,256,665 Item (earthwork, drainage, and grading)  
 

ADMINISTRATION: $ 10,000   $         $       
ENGINEERING: $ 1,246,665        $              $       

CONSTRUCTION: $         $       TOTAL: $ 1,256,665 

ADO USE: 
PREAPP 
NO:      
 

GRANT 
NO:       

NPIAS 
CODE:      

WORK 
CODE:      

FAA 
PRIOR:      

 
FED $      
 

  

 

SKETCH: 
 

 
 

88/153



OMB Number:  4040-0004 
Expiration Date:  11/30/2025

Application for Federal Assistance SF-424 

*1.  Type of Submission:

Preapplication

Application

Changed/Corrected Application

*2.  Type of Application

New

Continuation

Revision 

* If Revision, select appropriate letter(s):

* Other (Specify)

*3.  Date Received: 4. Applicant Identifier:

5a.  Federal Entity Identifier: *5b.  Federal Award Identifier:

State Use Only: 
6. Date Received by State: 7. State Application Identifier:

8. APPLICANT INFORMATION:

*a.  Legal Name:

*b.  Employer/Taxpayer Identification Number (EIN/TIN): *c.  UEI:

d. Address:

*Street 1:

Street 2:

*City:

County/Parish:

*State: 

*Province:

*Country:

*Zip / Postal Code

e. Organizational Unit:

Department Name: Division Name: 

f. Name and contact information of person to be contacted on matters involving this application:

Prefix: *First Name:

Middle Name: 

*Last Name:

Suffix:

Title: 

 Organizational Affiliation: 

*Telephone Number: Fax Number: 

*Email:

89/153



Application for Federal Assistance SF-424 

*9. Type of Applicant 1: Select Applicant Type:

Type of Applicant 2:  Select Applicant Type: 

Type of Applicant 3:  Select  Applicant Type: 

*Other (Specify)

*10. Name of Federal Agency:

11. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number:

CFDA Title:  

*12.  Funding Opportunity Number:

*Title:

13. Competition Identification Number:

Title: 

14. Areas Affected by Project (Cities, Counties, States, etc.):

*15.  Descriptive Title of Applicant’s Project:

Attach supporting documents as specified in agency instructions. 

90/153



Application for Federal Assistance SF-424 

16. Congressional Districts Of:

*a. Applicant: *b. Program/Project:

Attach an additional list of Program/Project Congressional Districts if needed. 

17. Proposed Project:

*a. Start Date: *b. End Date:

18. Estimated Funding ($):

*a.  Federal

*b.  Applicant

*c.  State

*d.  Local

*e.  Other
*f.  Program Income
*g.  TOTAL

. 

*19.  Is Application Subject to Review By State Under Executive Order 12372 Process?

a. This application was made available to the State under the Executive Order 12372 Process for review on

b. Program is subject to E.O. 12372 but has not been selected by the State for review.

c. Program is not covered by E.O. 12372.

*20.  Is the Applicant Delinquent On Any Federal Debt?
Yes No

If “Yes”, explain:

21. *By signing this application, I certify (1) to the statements contained in the list of certifications** and (2) that the statements
herein are true, complete and accurate to the best of my knowledge.  I also provide the required assurances** and agree to comply
with any resulting terms if I accept an award.  I am aware that any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or claims may subject
me to criminal, civil, or administrative penalties.  (U. S. Code, Title 218, Section 1001)

** I AGREE

** The list of certifications and assurances, or an internet site where you may obtain this list, is contained in the announcement or 
agency specific instructions. 

Authorized Representative: 

Prefix: *First Name:

Middle Name: 

*Last Name:

Suffix:

*Title:

*Telephone Number: Fax Number: 

* Email:

*Signature of Authorized Representative: *Date Signed:

91/153



92/153



U.S. Department  
of Transportation 
Federal Aviation 
Administration 

FAA Form 5100-100, Application for Federal Assistance 
(Development and Equipment Projects) 

Paperwork Reduction Act Burden Statement 
A federal agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, nor shall a 
person be subject to a penalty for failure to comply with a collection of information subject to the 
requirements of the Paperwork Reduction Act unless that collection of information displays a currently 
valid OMB Control Number. The OMB Control Number for this information collection is 2120-0569. Public 
reporting for this collection of information is estimated to be approximately 28 hours per response, 
including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining 
the data needed, completing and reviewing the collection of information. All responses to this collection of 
information are required under 49 U.S.C. Section 47105 to retain a benefit and to meet the reporting 
requirements of 2 CFR 200; no assurance of confidentiality is provided. Send comments regarding this 
burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing 
this burden to: Information Collection Clearance Officer, Federal Aviation Administration, 10101 Hillwood 
Parkway, Fort Worth, TX 76177-1524. 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR FORM 5100-100 

PART I – Application for Federal Assistance 
Part I of the Application for Federal Assistance consists of a completed Standard Form (SF) 424. The 
remaining parts of Form 5100-100 (Parts II, III and IV) represent continuation pages that the Sponsor 
must attach to the associated SF-424 form. The signature of the Sponsor’s authorized representative on 
the SF-424 form represents acceptance of the representations and certifications made within the 
corresponding FAA 5100-100 form. 

PART II – Project Approval Information 
This information is necessary for the Federal Aviation Administration to evaluate this request for Federal 
assistance.  Responses do not require an explanation unless explicitly requested by the question. 

SECTION A. STATUTORY CONDITIONS 
Item 1 – Indicate whether the Sponsor maintains an active registration in the Federal System for Award 
Management (SAM).  Pursuant to 2 CFR §25.200(b), a Sponsor must maintain an active registration in 
the Central Contractor Registration repository (housed within SAM) with current information at the time of 
the application and during the active period of the Federal award. 

Item 2 – Indicate whether the Sponsor can commence the project within the same fiscal year the grant is 
made or within 6 months of when the grant is made, whichever is later. Attach explanation for negative 
responses. This information is considered when allocating discretionary funds. (49 U.S.C. § 47115(d)(2)) 

93/153



ii 

Item 3 – Indicate whether the Sponsor can complete the project without unreasonable delays. If 
applicable, provide listing of foreseeable events (winter shutdown, land acquisition issues, non-
aeronautical events, etc.) that have potential to delay completion of the project. (49 USC § 47106(a)) 

Item 4 – Indicate whether the environmental review (i.e. environmental assessment, mitigated FONSI, 
etc.) identified impacts or effects on the environment that require mitigating measures that lessen the 
impact or effect on the environment. If yes, provide a summary listing of mitigating measures. 
(49 U.S.C. § 47106(c)) 

Item 5 – Indicate whether the project covered by this request is also covered by an approved Passenger 
Facility Charge (PFC) application or other Federal assistance program by selecting all applicable check 
boxes (49 U.S.C. § 40117(d) and 2 CFR § 200.403). If the approved PFC application only addresses the 
Sponsor’s AIP matching share, select the appropriate check box.   

If the project, or portions thereof, is covered by another Federal assistance program, identify the Federal 
assistance program by name and the Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number.  

Item 6 – Indicate whether the Sponsor intends to seek reimbursement of Sponsor indirect costs as 
defined by 2 CFR §200.414 and 2 CFR Appendix VII to Part 200.  This information request does not 
include the indirect costs claimed by a for-profit entity (e.g. consultant). 

 The de minimis rate may only be used if the Sponsor has not previously received a negotiated
Indirect Cost Rata (ICR) and does not exceed the limitations prescribed in Appendix VII to Part
200.

 A Sponsor with an existing approved negotiated ICR must identify the ICR value, the name of the
cognizant agency that approved the ICR and the date of approval.

SECTION B. CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 
This section addresses the Sponsor’s declaration regarding lobbying activities. The declaration made in 
the section are under signature of the authorized representative as identified in box 21 of form SF-424, to 
which this form is attached. 

Title 31 U.S.C. § 1352 establishes that no appropriated funds may be expended by a recipient of a 
Federal grant to pay any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any 
agency, Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of 
Congress in connection with this covered Federal assistance action.  Pursuant to 40 CFR part 20, this 
certification attests that the Sponsor has not made, and will not make, any payment prohibited payment 
by 31 U.S.C. § 1352.  

FAA Form 5100-100 

94/153



FAA Form 5100-100 iii 

SECTION C. REPRESENTATIONS AND CERTIFICATION 

1. Compatible Land Use (49 U.S.C. § 47107(a)(10)) – Identify actions the Sponsor has taken to
assure land uses in close proximity to the airport are compatible with normal airport operations.

2. Defaults – Confirm that Sponsor is not in default on any obligation to the United States or any
agency of the United States government.

3. Possible Disabilities – Confirm that Sponsor has no facts or circumstances (i.e. legal, financial
or otherwise) that might adversely affect the Sponsor in completing the project and carrying out
the provisions of the associated Grant Assurances.

4. Consistency with Local Plans (49 U.S.C. § 47106(a)) – Confirm project is consistent with plans
(existing at the time the project is approved) of public agencies authorized by the State in which
the airport is located to plan.

5. Consideration of Local Interests (49 U.S.C. § 47106(b)) – Confirm the Sponsor has given fair
consideration to the community in and near the project.

6. Consultation with Users (49 U.S.C. § 47105(a)) - Confirm the Sponsor has consulted with
airport users that will be affected by the project.

7. Public Hearings (49 U.S.C. § 47106(c)) – For projects involving the location of an airport,
runway or major runway extension, confirm the Sponsor:

a. Provided an opportunity for a public hearing to consider economic, social and
environmental effects of the project.

b. Has voting representation from the communities in which the project is located; or has
advised the communities that they have the right to petition the Secretary about the
proposed project.

8. Air and Water Quality Standards - Confirm Sponsor will comply with applicable air and water
quality standards.

9. Exclusive Rights (49 U.S.C. § 47107(a) – Identify all instances of exclusive rights to conduct
aeronautical services at the airport.

10. Land (49 U.S.C. § 47106(b)) –

a. Identify property interests specific to the development project and/or land acquisition. The
declaration of property interest is to be based upon a title opinion submitted by an
attorney. When identifying the property interest, use the same parcel numbers as used to
identify the property on the associated Exhibit A property map.
Example: “Sponsor maintains property interest as depicted within the property table on
the Exhibit A property map dated __/__/__ originally filed with AIP Project ###.”

b. Complete this subpart if the Sponsor proposes a project for which they have not yet
obtained appropriate property interests. Note that the work may not commence until
Sponsor obtains acceptable property interests. Identify such property by parcel number
that corresponds to the associated Exhibit A property map.

c. Complete this subpart when acquiring property interests under the grant.  Identify such
property by parcel number that corresponds to the associated Exhibit A property map.

95/153



FAA Form 5100-100 iv 

PART III – Budget Information 
SECTION A. GENERAL 

1. Assistance Listing Number - Show the Assistance Listing Number from which the assistance is
requested.

2. Functional or Other Breakout:  Indicate “Airport Improvement Program”.  Prepare a separate set of
Part III forms for other Federal program categories.

SECTION B. CALCULATION OF FEDERAL GRANT 

When applying for a new grant, use the Total Amount Column only.  Use all columns when requesting 
revisions of previously awarded amounts. 

Line 1 - Enter amounts needed for administration expenses, which may include such items as: legal fees, 
mailing/shipping expenses, audit fees and documented Sponsor employee time that is necessary to 
administer the grant.  

Line 2 - Enter amounts pertaining to allowable preliminary expenses.  These include such expenses as 
independent fee estimate preparation, advertising expenses and permits. 

Line 3 - Enter amounts directly associated with the acquisition of land, existing structures, and related 
right-of-way.  

Line 4 - Enter fees for architectural engineering basic services. 

Line 5 - Enter amounts for architectural engineering special services (e.g. surveys, tests and borings). 

Line 6 - Enter fees for inspection, testing and monitoring of construction and related programs. 

Line 7 - Enter amounts associated with the development of land where the primary purpose of the grant 
is land improvement. Site work normally associated with major construction should be excluded from this 
category and shown on line 11. 

Line 8 - Enter the dollar amounts needed to provide relocation advisory assistance, and the net amounts 
for replacement (last resort) housing. Do not include relocation administration expenses on this Line; 
include them on Line 1. 

Line 9 - Enter the estimated amount of relocation payments to be made to displaced persons, business 
concerns, and non-profit organizations for moving expenses and replacement housing. 

Line 10 - Enter the cost of demolition or removal of improvements on developed land. Reduce the costs 
on this line by the amount of expected proceeds from the sale of salvage, if so instructed by the Federal 
grantor agency. Otherwise, show the proceeds on Line 15. 

Line 11 - Enter amounts for the actual construction of, addition to or restoration of a facility. Include in this 
category the amounts of project improvements such as grading, drainage, paving, marking, lighting, 
buildings, seeding/sodding, etc. 

Line 12 - Enter amounts for equipment. Examples include ARFF vehicles, SRE equipment, AWOS 
equipment, interactive training, NAVAID equipment, etc.) 

Line 13 - Enter miscellaneous amounts for items not specifically covered by previous categories. 

96/153



FAA Form 5100-100 v 

Line 14 - Enter the sum of Lines 1-13. 

Line 15 - Enter the estimated amount of program income that will be earned during the grant period and 
applied to the program. Examples include vehicle trade-in value, sale of millings resulting from project, 
credits passed on from contractor, etc. This line may be used to indicate applied liquidated damages. 

Line 16 - Enter the difference between Line 14 and Line 15. 

Line 17 - Enter the aggregate amount for those items, which are a part of the project but not subject to 
Federal participation. Refer to Section C, exclusions. 

Line 18 – Enter the subtotal sum of Lines 16 and 17. (This is the amount to which the matching share 
ratio prescribed in program legislation is applied.) 

Line 19 - Indicate the total amount of the Federal assistance requested. This value is determined by 
multiplying the grant participation rate by the amount indicated in line 18. 

Line 20 – Indicate the amount of the Grantee’s share (from Section D). 

Line 21 – Indicate the amount of other shares (from Section D) 

Line 22 – Indicate sum of Lines 19, 20 and 21. 

SECTION C. EXCLUSIONS 

Line 23 a-g - Identify and list those costs which are part of the project cost but are not subject to Federal 
participation because of program legislation or Federal grantor agency instructions. The total amount on 
Line g should agree with the amount shown on Line 17 of Section B. 

SECTION D. PROPOSED METHOD OF FINANCING NON-FEDERAL SHARE 
Line 24 a-g - Show the source of the grantee’s share. If cash is not immediately available, specify the 
actions completed to date and those actions remaining to make cash available under Section E - 
Remarks. Indicate also the period of time that will be required after execution of the grant agreement to 
obtain the funds. If there is a non-cash contribution, explain what this contribution will consist of. 

Line 24h - Indicate total of Lines 24 a-g. This amount must equal the amount in Section B, Line 20. 

Line 25a - Show the amount that will be contributed by a State or state agency, only if the applicant is not 
a State or state agency. If there is a non-cash or other contribution, explain what the contribution will 
consist of under Section E - Remarks. 

Line 25b - Show the amount that will be contributed from other sources. If there is a non-cash 
contribution, explain what the contribution will consist of under Section E - Remarks. 

Line 25c - Show the total of Lines 28a and 28b. This amount must be the same as the amount shown in 
Section B, Line 21. 

Line 26 - Enter the totals of Lines 24h and 25c. 

SECTION E. OTHER REMARKS 

Make any remarks pertinent to the project and provide any other information required by these 
instructions or the grantor agency. Attach additional sheets, if necessary.  

97/153



FAA Form 5100-100 vi 

PART IV – Program Narrative
Prepare the program narrative statement in accordance with the following instructions for all new grant 
programs. Requests for supplemental assistance should be responsive to Item 5b only. Requests for 
continuation or refunding or other changes of an approved project should be responsive to Item 5c only. 

1. OBJECTIVES AND NEED FOR THIS ASSISTANCE

Provide a short and concise description of the proposed improvement. Include a narrative on why this 
improvement is needed. 

2. RESULTS OR BENEFITS EXPECTED

Identify results and benefits to be derived. For example, include a description of who will occupy the 
facility and show how the facility will be used. For land acquisition or development projects, explain how 
the project will benefit the public. 

3. APPROACH
a. Outline a plan of action pertaining to the scope and detail of how the Sponsor proposes to

accomplish the work.

b. Cite factors, which might accelerate or decelerate the work, and your reason for taking this
approach as opposed to others. Describe any unusual features of the project such as
construction approach, reductions in cost or time or extraordinary social and community
involvements.

c. Provide projections of project milestone dates. As a minimum, identify target dates for defining
project costs (i.e. bid opening or completion of negotiations), anticipated issuance of notice-to-
proceed and anticipated project completion date.

d. Identify monitoring and oversight mechanisms the Sponsor proposes to implement.

e. List key individuals and entities such as consultant, Sponsor personnel and contractor who will
work on the project. Provide a short description of the nature of their effort or contribution.

4. GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION

Identify location of the project. This will typically be the name of the airport.

5. IF APPLICABLE, PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:
a. Describe the relationship between this project and other work planned, anticipated or underway

under the Federal Assistance listed under Part II, Section A, Item 5.

b. Explain the reason for all requests for supplemental assistance and justify the need for additional
funding.

c. If there have been significant changes in the project objectives, location, approach or time delays,
explain and justify. For other requests for changes or amendments, explain the reason for the
change(s). If the scope, budget, or objectives have changed or an extension of time is necessary,
explain the circumstances and justify.

6. SPONSOR’S REPRESENTATIVE

Identify contact information of Sponsor’s representative.

98/153



FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 1 of 7 

U.S. Department of Transportation 
Federal Aviation Administration 

OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

Application for Federal Assistance (Development and Equipment Projects) 

PART II – PROJECT APPROVAL INFORMATION 

Part II - SECTION A 

The term “Sponsor” refers to the applicant name provided in box 8 of the associated SF-424 form. 
Item 1. 
Does Sponsor maintain an active registration in the System for Award Management 
(www.SAM.gov)?  Yes  No 

Item 2. 
Can Sponsor commence the work identified in the application in the fiscal year the 
grant is made or within six months after the grant is made, whichever is later?  Yes  No  N/A 

Item 3. 
Are there any foreseeable events that would delay completion of the project? If yes, 
provide attachment to this form that lists the events.  Yes  No  N/A 

Item 4. 
Will the project(s) covered by this request have impacts or effects on the 
environment that require mitigating measures? If yes, attach a summary listing of 
mitigating measures to this application and identify the name and date of the 
environmental document(s). 

 Yes  No  N/A 

Item 5. 
Is the project covered by this request included in an approved Passenger Facility 
Charge (PFC) application or other Federal assistance program? If yes, please 
identify other funding sources by checking all applicable boxes. 

 Yes  No  N/A 

The project is included in an approved PFC application.
If included in an approved PFC application,  

does the application only address AIP matching share?  Yes  No 

The project is included in another Federal Assistance program. Its CFDA number is below. 

Item 6. 
Will the requested Federal assistance include Sponsor indirect costs as described in 
2 CFR Appendix VII to Part 200, States and Local Government and Indian Tribe 
Indirect Cost Proposals? 

 Yes  No  N/A 

If the request for Federal assistance includes a claim for allowable indirect costs, select the applicable indirect cost rate 
the Sponsor proposes to apply:  

De Minimis rate of 10% as permitted by 2 CFR § 200.414. 

Negotiated Rate equal to  % as approved by   (the Cognizant Agency) 
on  (Date) (2 CFR part 200, appendix VII). 

Note: Refer to the instructions for limitations of application associated with claiming Sponsor indirect costs. 

99/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 2 of 7 

PART II - SECTION B 

Certification Regarding Lobbying 
The declarations made on this page are under the signature of the authorized representative as identified in box 21 of 
form SF-424, to which this form is attached. The term “Sponsor” refers to the applicant name provided in box 8 of the 
associated SF-424 form. 

The Authorized Representative certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 

(1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Sponsor, to any person
for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer
or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any
Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any
cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal
contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.

(2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer
or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract,
grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the Authorized Representative shall complete and submit Standard
Form-LLL, ‘‘Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,’’ in accordance with its instructions.

(3) The Authorized Representative shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans,
and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was 
made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification 
shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure. 

100/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 3 of 7 

PART II – SECTION C

The Sponsor hereby represents and certifies as follows: 

1. Compatible Land Use – The Sponsor has taken the following actions to assure compatible usage of land adjacent
to or in the vicinity of the airport:

2. Defaults – The Sponsor is not in default on any obligation to the United States or any agency of the United States
Government relative to the development, operation, or maintenance of any airport, except as stated herewith:

3. Possible Disabilities – There are no facts or circumstances (including the existence of effective or proposed leases,
use agreements or other legal instruments affecting use of the Airport or the existence of pending litigation or other
legal proceedings) which in reasonable probability might make it impossible for the Sponsor to carry out and complete
the Project or carry out the provisions of the Grant Assurances, either by limiting its legal or financial ability or
otherwise, except as follows:

4. Consistency with Local Plans – The project is reasonably consistent with plans existing at the time of submission
of this application) of public agencies that are authorized by the State in which the project is located to plan for the
development of the area surrounding the airport.

5. Consideration of Local Interest – It has given fair consideration to the interest of communities in or near where the
project may be located.

6. Consultation with Users – In making a decision to undertake an airport development project under Title 49, United
States Code, it has consulted with airport users that will potentially be affected by the project (§ 47105(a)(2)).

7. Public Hearings – In projects involving the location of an airport, an airport runway or a major runway extension, it
has afforded the opportunity for public hearings for the purpose of considering the economic, social, and environmental
effects of the airport or runway location and its consistency with goals and objectives of such planning as has been
carried out by the community and it shall, when requested by the Secretary, submit a copy of the transcript of such
hearings to the Secretary. Further, for such projects, it has on its management board either voting representation from
the communities where the project is located or has advised the communities that they have the right to petition the
Secretary concerning a proposed project.

8. Air and Water Quality Standards – In projects involving airport location, a major runway extension, or runway
location it will provide for the Governor of the state in which the project is located to certify in writing to the Secretary
that the project will be located, designed, constructed, and operated so as to comply with applicable and air and water
quality standards. In any case where such standards have not been approved and where applicable air and water
quality standards have been promulgated by the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency, certification
shall be obtained from such Administrator. Notice of certification or refusal to certify shall be provided within sixty days
after the project application has been received by the Secretary.

101/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 4 of 7 

PART II – SECTION C (Continued) 

9. Exclusive Rights – There is no grant of an exclusive right for the conduct of any aeronautical activity at any airport
owned or controlled by the Sponsor except as follows:

10. Land – (a) The sponsor holds the following property interest in the following areas of land, which are to be developed
or used as part of or in connection with the Airport subject to the following exceptions, encumbrances, and adverse
interests, all of which areas are identified on the aforementioned property map designated as Exhibit “A”. [1]

The Sponsor further certifies that the above is based on a title examination by a qualified attorney or title company and 
that such attorney or title company has determined that the Sponsor holds the above property interests. 

(b) The Sponsor will acquire within a reasonable time, but in any event prior to the start of any construction work
under the Project, the following property interest in the following areas of land on which such construction work is to be 
performed, all of which areas are identified on the aforementioned property map designated as Exhibit “A”. [1]

(c) The Sponsor will acquire within a reasonable time, and if feasible prior to the completion of all construction
work under the Project, the following property interest in the following areas of land which are to be developed or used 
as part of or in connection with the Airport as it will be upon completion of the Project, all of which areas are identified on 
the aforementioned property map designated as Exhibit “A”. [1]

1 State the character of property interest in each area and list and identify for each all exceptions, encumbrances, and adverse 
interests of every kind and nature, including liens, easements, leases, etc. The separate areas of land need only be identified here by 
the area numbers shown on the property map. 

102/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 5 of 7 

PART III – BUDGET INFORMATION – CONSTRUCTION

SECTION A – GENERAL 

1. Assistance Listing Number:

2. Functional or Other Breakout:

SECTION B – CALCULATION OF FEDERAL GRANT 

Cost Classification 
Latest Approved 

Amount 
(Use only for 

revisions) 

Adjustment 
+ or (-) Amount
(Use only for 

revisions) 

Total 
Amount 

Required 

1. Administration expense

2. Preliminary expense

3. Land, structures, right-of-way

4. Architectural engineering basic fees

5. Other Architectural engineering fees

6. Project inspection fees

7. Land development

8. Relocation Expenses

9. Relocation payments to Individuals and Businesses

10. Demolition and removal

11. Construction and project improvement

12. Equipment

13. Miscellaneous

14. Subtotal (Lines 1 through 13)

15. Estimated Income (if applicable)

16. Net Project Amount (Line 14 minus 15)

17. Less: Ineligible Exclusions (Section C, line 23 g.)

18. Subtotal (Lines 16 through 17)

19. Federal Share requested of Line 18

20. Grantee share

21. Other shares

22. TOTAL PROJECT (Lines 19, 20 & 21)

103/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 6 of 7 

SECTION C – EXCLUSIONS 

23. Classification (Description of non-participating work)
Amount Ineligible for 

Participation 

a. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

e. 

f. 

g. Total 

SECTION D – PROPOSED METHOD OF FINANCING NON-FEDERAL SHARE 

24. Grantee Share – Fund Categories Amount 

a. Securities

b. Mortgages

c. Appropriations (by Applicant)

d. Bonds

e. Tax Levies

f. Non-Cash

g. Other (Explain):

h. TOTAL - Grantee share

25. Other Shares

a. State

b. Other

c. TOTAL - Other Shares

26. TOTAL NON-FEDERAL FINANCING

SECTION E – REMARKS 
(Attach sheets if additional space is required) 

Amount 

104/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 
OMB EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 7 of 7 

PART IV – PROGRAM NARRATIVE 
(Suggested Format) 

PROJECT: 

AIRPORT: 

1. Objective:

2. Benefits Anticipated:

3. Approach: (See approved Scope of Work in Final Application)

4. Geographic Location:

5. If Applicable, Provide Additional Information:

6. Sponsor’s Representative: (include address & telephone number)

105/153



CIP/PREAPPLICATION DATA SHEET 
 

AIRPORT:  Grand Junction Regional Airport (GJT) 
LOCAL 
PRIORITY:  

N/A UPDATED:  December 2023 

WORK ITEM: Runway 12/30 Earthwork and Drainage 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

JUSTIFICATION: Runway 12-30 Pavement Design is the continuation of the Runway 11-29 
Replacement/Relocation Program. The goal continues to be relocation of the Runway with minimal impact the aircraft 
users, including maintaining IFR procedures, Navigational Aids, etc. Design of the runway pavement section will begin 
in Spring 2023. The pavement section construction will begin in 2024. 

 

SPONSOR SIGNATURE:__________________________________________DATE:_12/12/2023_ 
 

COST ESTIMATE: $6,487,780 Item (earthwork, drainage, and grading)  
 

ADMINISTRATION: $ 10,000   $         $       
ENGINEERING: $ 1,190,282        $              $       

CONSTRUCTION: $ 5,287,498        $       TOTAL: $ 6,487,780 

ADO USE: 
PREAPP 
NO:      
 

GRANT 
NO:       

NPIAS 
CODE:      

WORK 
CODE:      

FAA 
PRIOR:      

 
FED $      
 

  

 

SKETCH: 
 

 
 

106/153



OMB Number:  4040-0004 
Expiration Date:  11/30/2025

Application for Federal Assistance SF-424 

*1.  Type of Submission:

Preapplication

Application

Changed/Corrected Application

*2.  Type of Application

New

Continuation

Revision 

* If Revision, select appropriate letter(s):

* Other (Specify)

*3.  Date Received: 4. Applicant Identifier:

5a.  Federal Entity Identifier: *5b.  Federal Award Identifier:

State Use Only: 
6. Date Received by State: 7. State Application Identifier:

8. APPLICANT INFORMATION:

*a.  Legal Name:

*b.  Employer/Taxpayer Identification Number (EIN/TIN): *c.  UEI:

d. Address:

*Street 1:

Street 2:

*City:

County/Parish:

*State: 

*Province:

*Country:

*Zip / Postal Code

e. Organizational Unit:

Department Name: Division Name: 

f. Name and contact information of person to be contacted on matters involving this application:

Prefix: *First Name:

Middle Name: 

*Last Name:

Suffix:

Title: 

 Organizational Affiliation: 

*Telephone Number: Fax Number: 

*Email:

107/153



Application for Federal Assistance SF-424 

*9. Type of Applicant 1: Select Applicant Type:

Type of Applicant 2:  Select Applicant Type: 

Type of Applicant 3:  Select  Applicant Type: 

*Other (Specify)

*10. Name of Federal Agency:

11. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number:

CFDA Title:  

*12.  Funding Opportunity Number:

*Title:

13. Competition Identification Number:

Title: 

14. Areas Affected by Project (Cities, Counties, States, etc.):

*15.  Descriptive Title of Applicant’s Project:

Attach supporting documents as specified in agency instructions. 

108/153



Application for Federal Assistance SF-424 

16. Congressional Districts Of:

*a. Applicant: *b. Program/Project:

Attach an additional list of Program/Project Congressional Districts if needed. 

17. Proposed Project:

*a. Start Date: *b. End Date:

18. Estimated Funding ($):

*a.  Federal

*b.  Applicant

*c.  State

*d.  Local

*e.  Other
*f.  Program Income
*g.  TOTAL

. 

*19.  Is Application Subject to Review By State Under Executive Order 12372 Process?

a. This application was made available to the State under the Executive Order 12372 Process for review on

b. Program is subject to E.O. 12372 but has not been selected by the State for review.

c. Program is not covered by E.O. 12372.

*20.  Is the Applicant Delinquent On Any Federal Debt?
Yes No

If “Yes”, explain:

21. *By signing this application, I certify (1) to the statements contained in the list of certifications** and (2) that the statements
herein are true, complete and accurate to the best of my knowledge.  I also provide the required assurances** and agree to comply
with any resulting terms if I accept an award.  I am aware that any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or claims may subject
me to criminal, civil, or administrative penalties.  (U. S. Code, Title 218, Section 1001)

** I AGREE

** The list of certifications and assurances, or an internet site where you may obtain this list, is contained in the announcement or 
agency specific instructions. 

Authorized Representative: 

Prefix: *First Name:

Middle Name: 

*Last Name:

Suffix:

*Title:

*Telephone Number: Fax Number: 

* Email:

*Signature of Authorized Representative: *Date Signed:

109/153



110/153



U.S. Department  
of Transportation 
Federal Aviation 
Administration 

FAA Form 5100-100, Application for Federal Assistance 
(Development and Equipment Projects) 

Paperwork Reduction Act Burden Statement 
A federal agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, nor shall a 
person be subject to a penalty for failure to comply with a collection of information subject to the 
requirements of the Paperwork Reduction Act unless that collection of information displays a currently 
valid OMB Control Number. The OMB Control Number for this information collection is 2120-0569. Public 
reporting for this collection of information is estimated to be approximately 28 hours per response, 
including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining 
the data needed, completing and reviewing the collection of information. All responses to this collection of 
information are required under 49 U.S.C. Section 47105 to retain a benefit and to meet the reporting 
requirements of 2 CFR 200; no assurance of confidentiality is provided. Send comments regarding this 
burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing 
this burden to: Information Collection Clearance Officer, Federal Aviation Administration, 10101 Hillwood 
Parkway, Fort Worth, TX 76177-1524. 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR FORM 5100-100 

PART I – Application for Federal Assistance 
Part I of the Application for Federal Assistance consists of a completed Standard Form (SF) 424. The 
remaining parts of Form 5100-100 (Parts II, III and IV) represent continuation pages that the Sponsor 
must attach to the associated SF-424 form. The signature of the Sponsor’s authorized representative on 
the SF-424 form represents acceptance of the representations and certifications made within the 
corresponding FAA 5100-100 form. 

PART II – Project Approval Information 
This information is necessary for the Federal Aviation Administration to evaluate this request for Federal 
assistance.  Responses do not require an explanation unless explicitly requested by the question. 

SECTION A. STATUTORY CONDITIONS 
Item 1 – Indicate whether the Sponsor maintains an active registration in the Federal System for Award 
Management (SAM).  Pursuant to 2 CFR §25.200(b), a Sponsor must maintain an active registration in 
the Central Contractor Registration repository (housed within SAM) with current information at the time of 
the application and during the active period of the Federal award. 

Item 2 – Indicate whether the Sponsor can commence the project within the same fiscal year the grant is 
made or within 6 months of when the grant is made, whichever is later. Attach explanation for negative 
responses. This information is considered when allocating discretionary funds. (49 U.S.C. § 47115(d)(2)) 

111/153



ii 

Item 3 – Indicate whether the Sponsor can complete the project without unreasonable delays. If 
applicable, provide listing of foreseeable events (winter shutdown, land acquisition issues, non-
aeronautical events, etc.) that have potential to delay completion of the project. (49 USC § 47106(a)) 

Item 4 – Indicate whether the environmental review (i.e. environmental assessment, mitigated FONSI, 
etc.) identified impacts or effects on the environment that require mitigating measures that lessen the 
impact or effect on the environment. If yes, provide a summary listing of mitigating measures. 
(49 U.S.C. § 47106(c)) 

Item 5 – Indicate whether the project covered by this request is also covered by an approved Passenger 
Facility Charge (PFC) application or other Federal assistance program by selecting all applicable check 
boxes (49 U.S.C. § 40117(d) and 2 CFR § 200.403). If the approved PFC application only addresses the 
Sponsor’s AIP matching share, select the appropriate check box.   

If the project, or portions thereof, is covered by another Federal assistance program, identify the Federal 
assistance program by name and the Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number.  

Item 6 – Indicate whether the Sponsor intends to seek reimbursement of Sponsor indirect costs as 
defined by 2 CFR §200.414 and 2 CFR Appendix VII to Part 200.  This information request does not 
include the indirect costs claimed by a for-profit entity (e.g. consultant). 

 The de minimis rate may only be used if the Sponsor has not previously received a negotiated
Indirect Cost Rata (ICR) and does not exceed the limitations prescribed in Appendix VII to Part
200.

 A Sponsor with an existing approved negotiated ICR must identify the ICR value, the name of the
cognizant agency that approved the ICR and the date of approval.

SECTION B. CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 
This section addresses the Sponsor’s declaration regarding lobbying activities. The declaration made in 
the section are under signature of the authorized representative as identified in box 21 of form SF-424, to 
which this form is attached. 

Title 31 U.S.C. § 1352 establishes that no appropriated funds may be expended by a recipient of a 
Federal grant to pay any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any 
agency, Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of 
Congress in connection with this covered Federal assistance action.  Pursuant to 40 CFR part 20, this 
certification attests that the Sponsor has not made, and will not make, any payment prohibited payment 
by 31 U.S.C. § 1352.  

FAA Form 5100-100 

112/153



FAA Form 5100-100 iii 

SECTION C. REPRESENTATIONS AND CERTIFICATION 

1. Compatible Land Use (49 U.S.C. § 47107(a)(10)) – Identify actions the Sponsor has taken to
assure land uses in close proximity to the airport are compatible with normal airport operations.

2. Defaults – Confirm that Sponsor is not in default on any obligation to the United States or any
agency of the United States government.

3. Possible Disabilities – Confirm that Sponsor has no facts or circumstances (i.e. legal, financial
or otherwise) that might adversely affect the Sponsor in completing the project and carrying out
the provisions of the associated Grant Assurances.

4. Consistency with Local Plans (49 U.S.C. § 47106(a)) – Confirm project is consistent with plans
(existing at the time the project is approved) of public agencies authorized by the State in which
the airport is located to plan.

5. Consideration of Local Interests (49 U.S.C. § 47106(b)) – Confirm the Sponsor has given fair
consideration to the community in and near the project.

6. Consultation with Users (49 U.S.C. § 47105(a)) - Confirm the Sponsor has consulted with
airport users that will be affected by the project.

7. Public Hearings (49 U.S.C. § 47106(c)) – For projects involving the location of an airport,
runway or major runway extension, confirm the Sponsor:

a. Provided an opportunity for a public hearing to consider economic, social and
environmental effects of the project.

b. Has voting representation from the communities in which the project is located; or has
advised the communities that they have the right to petition the Secretary about the
proposed project.

8. Air and Water Quality Standards - Confirm Sponsor will comply with applicable air and water
quality standards.

9. Exclusive Rights (49 U.S.C. § 47107(a) – Identify all instances of exclusive rights to conduct
aeronautical services at the airport.

10. Land (49 U.S.C. § 47106(b)) –

a. Identify property interests specific to the development project and/or land acquisition. The
declaration of property interest is to be based upon a title opinion submitted by an
attorney. When identifying the property interest, use the same parcel numbers as used to
identify the property on the associated Exhibit A property map.
Example: “Sponsor maintains property interest as depicted within the property table on
the Exhibit A property map dated __/__/__ originally filed with AIP Project ###.”

b. Complete this subpart if the Sponsor proposes a project for which they have not yet
obtained appropriate property interests. Note that the work may not commence until
Sponsor obtains acceptable property interests. Identify such property by parcel number
that corresponds to the associated Exhibit A property map.

c. Complete this subpart when acquiring property interests under the grant.  Identify such
property by parcel number that corresponds to the associated Exhibit A property map.

113/153



FAA Form 5100-100 iv 

PART III – Budget Information 
SECTION A. GENERAL 

1. Assistance Listing Number - Show the Assistance Listing Number from which the assistance is
requested.

2. Functional or Other Breakout:  Indicate “Airport Improvement Program”.  Prepare a separate set of
Part III forms for other Federal program categories.

SECTION B. CALCULATION OF FEDERAL GRANT 

When applying for a new grant, use the Total Amount Column only.  Use all columns when requesting 
revisions of previously awarded amounts. 

Line 1 - Enter amounts needed for administration expenses, which may include such items as: legal fees, 
mailing/shipping expenses, audit fees and documented Sponsor employee time that is necessary to 
administer the grant.  

Line 2 - Enter amounts pertaining to allowable preliminary expenses.  These include such expenses as 
independent fee estimate preparation, advertising expenses and permits. 

Line 3 - Enter amounts directly associated with the acquisition of land, existing structures, and related 
right-of-way.  

Line 4 - Enter fees for architectural engineering basic services. 

Line 5 - Enter amounts for architectural engineering special services (e.g. surveys, tests and borings). 

Line 6 - Enter fees for inspection, testing and monitoring of construction and related programs. 

Line 7 - Enter amounts associated with the development of land where the primary purpose of the grant 
is land improvement. Site work normally associated with major construction should be excluded from this 
category and shown on line 11. 

Line 8 - Enter the dollar amounts needed to provide relocation advisory assistance, and the net amounts 
for replacement (last resort) housing. Do not include relocation administration expenses on this Line; 
include them on Line 1. 

Line 9 - Enter the estimated amount of relocation payments to be made to displaced persons, business 
concerns, and non-profit organizations for moving expenses and replacement housing. 

Line 10 - Enter the cost of demolition or removal of improvements on developed land. Reduce the costs 
on this line by the amount of expected proceeds from the sale of salvage, if so instructed by the Federal 
grantor agency. Otherwise, show the proceeds on Line 15. 

Line 11 - Enter amounts for the actual construction of, addition to or restoration of a facility. Include in this 
category the amounts of project improvements such as grading, drainage, paving, marking, lighting, 
buildings, seeding/sodding, etc. 

Line 12 - Enter amounts for equipment. Examples include ARFF vehicles, SRE equipment, AWOS 
equipment, interactive training, NAVAID equipment, etc.) 

Line 13 - Enter miscellaneous amounts for items not specifically covered by previous categories. 

114/153



FAA Form 5100-100 v 

Line 14 - Enter the sum of Lines 1-13. 

Line 15 - Enter the estimated amount of program income that will be earned during the grant period and 
applied to the program. Examples include vehicle trade-in value, sale of millings resulting from project, 
credits passed on from contractor, etc. This line may be used to indicate applied liquidated damages. 

Line 16 - Enter the difference between Line 14 and Line 15. 

Line 17 - Enter the aggregate amount for those items, which are a part of the project but not subject to 
Federal participation. Refer to Section C, exclusions. 

Line 18 – Enter the subtotal sum of Lines 16 and 17. (This is the amount to which the matching share 
ratio prescribed in program legislation is applied.) 

Line 19 - Indicate the total amount of the Federal assistance requested. This value is determined by 
multiplying the grant participation rate by the amount indicated in line 18. 

Line 20 – Indicate the amount of the Grantee’s share (from Section D). 

Line 21 – Indicate the amount of other shares (from Section D) 

Line 22 – Indicate sum of Lines 19, 20 and 21. 

SECTION C. EXCLUSIONS 

Line 23 a-g - Identify and list those costs which are part of the project cost but are not subject to Federal 
participation because of program legislation or Federal grantor agency instructions. The total amount on 
Line g should agree with the amount shown on Line 17 of Section B. 

SECTION D. PROPOSED METHOD OF FINANCING NON-FEDERAL SHARE 
Line 24 a-g - Show the source of the grantee’s share. If cash is not immediately available, specify the 
actions completed to date and those actions remaining to make cash available under Section E - 
Remarks. Indicate also the period of time that will be required after execution of the grant agreement to 
obtain the funds. If there is a non-cash contribution, explain what this contribution will consist of. 

Line 24h - Indicate total of Lines 24 a-g. This amount must equal the amount in Section B, Line 20. 

Line 25a - Show the amount that will be contributed by a State or state agency, only if the applicant is not 
a State or state agency. If there is a non-cash or other contribution, explain what the contribution will 
consist of under Section E - Remarks. 

Line 25b - Show the amount that will be contributed from other sources. If there is a non-cash 
contribution, explain what the contribution will consist of under Section E - Remarks. 

Line 25c - Show the total of Lines 28a and 28b. This amount must be the same as the amount shown in 
Section B, Line 21. 

Line 26 - Enter the totals of Lines 24h and 25c. 

SECTION E. OTHER REMARKS 

Make any remarks pertinent to the project and provide any other information required by these 
instructions or the grantor agency. Attach additional sheets, if necessary.  

115/153



FAA Form 5100-100 vi 

PART IV – Program Narrative
Prepare the program narrative statement in accordance with the following instructions for all new grant 
programs. Requests for supplemental assistance should be responsive to Item 5b only. Requests for 
continuation or refunding or other changes of an approved project should be responsive to Item 5c only. 

1. OBJECTIVES AND NEED FOR THIS ASSISTANCE

Provide a short and concise description of the proposed improvement. Include a narrative on why this 
improvement is needed. 

2. RESULTS OR BENEFITS EXPECTED

Identify results and benefits to be derived. For example, include a description of who will occupy the 
facility and show how the facility will be used. For land acquisition or development projects, explain how 
the project will benefit the public. 

3. APPROACH
a. Outline a plan of action pertaining to the scope and detail of how the Sponsor proposes to

accomplish the work.

b. Cite factors, which might accelerate or decelerate the work, and your reason for taking this
approach as opposed to others. Describe any unusual features of the project such as
construction approach, reductions in cost or time or extraordinary social and community
involvements.

c. Provide projections of project milestone dates. As a minimum, identify target dates for defining
project costs (i.e. bid opening or completion of negotiations), anticipated issuance of notice-to-
proceed and anticipated project completion date.

d. Identify monitoring and oversight mechanisms the Sponsor proposes to implement.

e. List key individuals and entities such as consultant, Sponsor personnel and contractor who will
work on the project. Provide a short description of the nature of their effort or contribution.

4. GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION

Identify location of the project. This will typically be the name of the airport.

5. IF APPLICABLE, PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:
a. Describe the relationship between this project and other work planned, anticipated or underway

under the Federal Assistance listed under Part II, Section A, Item 5.

b. Explain the reason for all requests for supplemental assistance and justify the need for additional
funding.

c. If there have been significant changes in the project objectives, location, approach or time delays,
explain and justify. For other requests for changes or amendments, explain the reason for the
change(s). If the scope, budget, or objectives have changed or an extension of time is necessary,
explain the circumstances and justify.

6. SPONSOR’S REPRESENTATIVE

Identify contact information of Sponsor’s representative.

116/153



FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 1 of 7 

U.S. Department of Transportation 
Federal Aviation Administration 

OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

Application for Federal Assistance (Development and Equipment Projects) 

PART II – PROJECT APPROVAL INFORMATION 

Part II - SECTION A 

The term “Sponsor” refers to the applicant name provided in box 8 of the associated SF-424 form. 
Item 1. 
Does Sponsor maintain an active registration in the System for Award Management 
(www.SAM.gov)?  Yes  No 

Item 2. 
Can Sponsor commence the work identified in the application in the fiscal year the 
grant is made or within six months after the grant is made, whichever is later?  Yes  No  N/A 

Item 3. 
Are there any foreseeable events that would delay completion of the project? If yes, 
provide attachment to this form that lists the events.  Yes  No  N/A 

Item 4. 
Will the project(s) covered by this request have impacts or effects on the 
environment that require mitigating measures? If yes, attach a summary listing of 
mitigating measures to this application and identify the name and date of the 
environmental document(s). 

 Yes  No  N/A 

Item 5. 
Is the project covered by this request included in an approved Passenger Facility 
Charge (PFC) application or other Federal assistance program? If yes, please 
identify other funding sources by checking all applicable boxes. 

 Yes  No  N/A 

The project is included in an approved PFC application.
If included in an approved PFC application,  

does the application only address AIP matching share?  Yes  No 

The project is included in another Federal Assistance program. Its CFDA number is below. 

Item 6. 
Will the requested Federal assistance include Sponsor indirect costs as described in 
2 CFR Appendix VII to Part 200, States and Local Government and Indian Tribe 
Indirect Cost Proposals? 

 Yes  No  N/A 

If the request for Federal assistance includes a claim for allowable indirect costs, select the applicable indirect cost rate 
the Sponsor proposes to apply:  

De Minimis rate of 10% as permitted by 2 CFR § 200.414. 

Negotiated Rate equal to  % as approved by   (the Cognizant Agency) 
on  (Date) (2 CFR part 200, appendix VII). 

Note: Refer to the instructions for limitations of application associated with claiming Sponsor indirect costs. 

117/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 2 of 7 

PART II - SECTION B 

Certification Regarding Lobbying 
The declarations made on this page are under the signature of the authorized representative as identified in box 21 of 
form SF-424, to which this form is attached. The term “Sponsor” refers to the applicant name provided in box 8 of the 
associated SF-424 form. 

The Authorized Representative certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 

(1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Sponsor, to any person
for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer
or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any
Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any
cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal
contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.

(2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer
or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract,
grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the Authorized Representative shall complete and submit Standard
Form-LLL, ‘‘Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,’’ in accordance with its instructions.

(3) The Authorized Representative shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans,
and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was 
made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification 
shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure. 

118/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 3 of 7 

PART II – SECTION C

The Sponsor hereby represents and certifies as follows: 

1. Compatible Land Use – The Sponsor has taken the following actions to assure compatible usage of land adjacent
to or in the vicinity of the airport:

2. Defaults – The Sponsor is not in default on any obligation to the United States or any agency of the United States
Government relative to the development, operation, or maintenance of any airport, except as stated herewith:

3. Possible Disabilities – There are no facts or circumstances (including the existence of effective or proposed leases,
use agreements or other legal instruments affecting use of the Airport or the existence of pending litigation or other
legal proceedings) which in reasonable probability might make it impossible for the Sponsor to carry out and complete
the Project or carry out the provisions of the Grant Assurances, either by limiting its legal or financial ability or
otherwise, except as follows:

4. Consistency with Local Plans – The project is reasonably consistent with plans existing at the time of submission
of this application) of public agencies that are authorized by the State in which the project is located to plan for the
development of the area surrounding the airport.

5. Consideration of Local Interest – It has given fair consideration to the interest of communities in or near where the
project may be located.

6. Consultation with Users – In making a decision to undertake an airport development project under Title 49, United
States Code, it has consulted with airport users that will potentially be affected by the project (§ 47105(a)(2)).

7. Public Hearings – In projects involving the location of an airport, an airport runway or a major runway extension, it
has afforded the opportunity for public hearings for the purpose of considering the economic, social, and environmental
effects of the airport or runway location and its consistency with goals and objectives of such planning as has been
carried out by the community and it shall, when requested by the Secretary, submit a copy of the transcript of such
hearings to the Secretary. Further, for such projects, it has on its management board either voting representation from
the communities where the project is located or has advised the communities that they have the right to petition the
Secretary concerning a proposed project.

8. Air and Water Quality Standards – In projects involving airport location, a major runway extension, or runway
location it will provide for the Governor of the state in which the project is located to certify in writing to the Secretary
that the project will be located, designed, constructed, and operated so as to comply with applicable and air and water
quality standards. In any case where such standards have not been approved and where applicable air and water
quality standards have been promulgated by the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency, certification
shall be obtained from such Administrator. Notice of certification or refusal to certify shall be provided within sixty days
after the project application has been received by the Secretary.

119/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 4 of 7 

PART II – SECTION C (Continued) 

9. Exclusive Rights – There is no grant of an exclusive right for the conduct of any aeronautical activity at any airport
owned or controlled by the Sponsor except as follows:

10. Land – (a) The sponsor holds the following property interest in the following areas of land, which are to be developed
or used as part of or in connection with the Airport subject to the following exceptions, encumbrances, and adverse
interests, all of which areas are identified on the aforementioned property map designated as Exhibit “A”. [1]

The Sponsor further certifies that the above is based on a title examination by a qualified attorney or title company and 
that such attorney or title company has determined that the Sponsor holds the above property interests. 

(b) The Sponsor will acquire within a reasonable time, but in any event prior to the start of any construction work
under the Project, the following property interest in the following areas of land on which such construction work is to be 
performed, all of which areas are identified on the aforementioned property map designated as Exhibit “A”. [1]

(c) The Sponsor will acquire within a reasonable time, and if feasible prior to the completion of all construction
work under the Project, the following property interest in the following areas of land which are to be developed or used 
as part of or in connection with the Airport as it will be upon completion of the Project, all of which areas are identified on 
the aforementioned property map designated as Exhibit “A”. [1]

1 State the character of property interest in each area and list and identify for each all exceptions, encumbrances, and adverse 
interests of every kind and nature, including liens, easements, leases, etc. The separate areas of land need only be identified here by 
the area numbers shown on the property map. 

120/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 5 of 7 

PART III – BUDGET INFORMATION – CONSTRUCTION

SECTION A – GENERAL 

1. Assistance Listing Number:

2. Functional or Other Breakout:

SECTION B – CALCULATION OF FEDERAL GRANT 

Cost Classification 
Latest Approved 

Amount 
(Use only for 

revisions) 

Adjustment 
+ or (-) Amount
(Use only for 

revisions) 

Total 
Amount 

Required 

1. Administration expense

2. Preliminary expense

3. Land, structures, right-of-way

4. Architectural engineering basic fees

5. Other Architectural engineering fees

6. Project inspection fees

7. Land development

8. Relocation Expenses

9. Relocation payments to Individuals and Businesses

10. Demolition and removal

11. Construction and project improvement

12. Equipment

13. Miscellaneous

14. Subtotal (Lines 1 through 13)

15. Estimated Income (if applicable)

16. Net Project Amount (Line 14 minus 15)

17. Less: Ineligible Exclusions (Section C, line 23 g.)

18. Subtotal (Lines 16 through 17)

19. Federal Share requested of Line 18

20. Grantee share

21. Other shares

22. TOTAL PROJECT (Lines 19, 20 & 21)

121/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 6 of 7 

SECTION C – EXCLUSIONS 

23. Classification (Description of non-participating work)
Amount Ineligible for 

Participation 

a. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

e. 

f. 

g. Total 

SECTION D – PROPOSED METHOD OF FINANCING NON-FEDERAL SHARE 

24. Grantee Share – Fund Categories Amount 

a. Securities

b. Mortgages

c. Appropriations (by Applicant)

d. Bonds

e. Tax Levies

f. Non-Cash

g. Other (Explain):

h. TOTAL - Grantee share

25. Other Shares

a. State

b. Other

c. TOTAL - Other Shares

26. TOTAL NON-FEDERAL FINANCING

SECTION E – REMARKS 
(Attach sheets if additional space is required) 

Amount 

122/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 
OMB EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 7 of 7 

PART IV – PROGRAM NARRATIVE 
(Suggested Format) 

PROJECT: 

AIRPORT: 

1. Objective:

2. Benefits Anticipated:

3. Approach: (See approved Scope of Work in Final Application)

4. Geographic Location:

5. If Applicable, Provide Additional Information:

6. Sponsor’s Representative: (include address & telephone number)

123/153



CIP/PREAPPLICATION DATA SHEET 
 

AIRPORT:  Grand Junction Regional Airport (GJT) 
LOCAL 
PRIORITY:  

N/A UPDATED:  December 2023 

WORK ITEM: Runway Pavement – Package 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

JUSTIFICATION: Runway 12-30 Pavement Design is the continuation of the Runway 11-29 
Replacement/Relocation Program. The goal continues to be relocation of the Runway with minimal impact the aircraft 
users, including maintaining IFR procedures, Navigational Aids, etc. Design of the runway pavement section will begin 
in Spring 2023. The pavement section construction will begin in 2024. 

 

SPONSOR SIGNATURE:__________________________________________DATE:_12/12/2023_ 
 

COST ESTIMATE: $10,775,000 Item (earthwork, drainage, and grading)  
 

ADMINISTRATION: $ 10,000   $         $       
ENGINEERING: $ 1,077,500        $              $       

CONSTRUCTION: $ 9,687,500        $       TOTAL: $ 10,775,000 

ADO USE: 
PREAPP 
NO:      
 

GRANT 
NO:       

NPIAS 
CODE:      

WORK 
CODE:      

FAA 
PRIOR:      

 
FED $      
 

  

 

SKETCH: 
 

 
 

124/153



OMB Number:  4040-0004 
Expiration Date:  11/30/2025

Application for Federal Assistance SF-424 

*1.  Type of Submission:

Preapplication

Application

Changed/Corrected Application

*2.  Type of Application

New

Continuation

Revision 

* If Revision, select appropriate letter(s):

* Other (Specify)

*3.  Date Received: 4. Applicant Identifier:

5a.  Federal Entity Identifier: *5b.  Federal Award Identifier:

State Use Only: 
6. Date Received by State: 7. State Application Identifier:

8. APPLICANT INFORMATION:

*a.  Legal Name:

*b.  Employer/Taxpayer Identification Number (EIN/TIN): *c.  UEI:

d. Address:

*Street 1:

Street 2:

*City:

County/Parish:

*State: 

*Province:

*Country:

*Zip / Postal Code

e. Organizational Unit:

Department Name: Division Name: 

f. Name and contact information of person to be contacted on matters involving this application:

Prefix: *First Name:

Middle Name: 

*Last Name:

Suffix:

Title: 

 Organizational Affiliation: 

*Telephone Number: Fax Number: 

*Email:

125/153



Application for Federal Assistance SF-424 

*9. Type of Applicant 1: Select Applicant Type:

Type of Applicant 2:  Select Applicant Type: 

Type of Applicant 3:  Select  Applicant Type: 

*Other (Specify)

*10. Name of Federal Agency:

11. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number:

CFDA Title:  

*12.  Funding Opportunity Number:

*Title:

13. Competition Identification Number:

Title: 

14. Areas Affected by Project (Cities, Counties, States, etc.):

*15.  Descriptive Title of Applicant’s Project:

Attach supporting documents as specified in agency instructions. 

126/153



Application for Federal Assistance SF-424 

16. Congressional Districts Of:

*a. Applicant: *b. Program/Project:

Attach an additional list of Program/Project Congressional Districts if needed. 

17. Proposed Project:

*a. Start Date: *b. End Date:

18. Estimated Funding ($):

*a.  Federal

*b.  Applicant

*c.  State

*d.  Local

*e.  Other
*f.  Program Income
*g.  TOTAL

. 

*19.  Is Application Subject to Review By State Under Executive Order 12372 Process?

a. This application was made available to the State under the Executive Order 12372 Process for review on

b. Program is subject to E.O. 12372 but has not been selected by the State for review.

c. Program is not covered by E.O. 12372.

*20.  Is the Applicant Delinquent On Any Federal Debt?
Yes No

If “Yes”, explain:

21. *By signing this application, I certify (1) to the statements contained in the list of certifications** and (2) that the statements
herein are true, complete and accurate to the best of my knowledge.  I also provide the required assurances** and agree to comply
with any resulting terms if I accept an award.  I am aware that any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or claims may subject
me to criminal, civil, or administrative penalties.  (U. S. Code, Title 218, Section 1001)

** I AGREE

** The list of certifications and assurances, or an internet site where you may obtain this list, is contained in the announcement or 
agency specific instructions. 

Authorized Representative: 

Prefix: *First Name:

Middle Name: 

*Last Name:

Suffix:

*Title:

*Telephone Number: Fax Number: 

* Email:

*Signature of Authorized Representative: *Date Signed:

127/153



128/153



U.S. Department  
of Transportation 
Federal Aviation 
Administration 

FAA Form 5100-100, Application for Federal Assistance 
(Development and Equipment Projects) 

Paperwork Reduction Act Burden Statement 
A federal agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, nor shall a 
person be subject to a penalty for failure to comply with a collection of information subject to the 
requirements of the Paperwork Reduction Act unless that collection of information displays a currently 
valid OMB Control Number. The OMB Control Number for this information collection is 2120-0569. Public 
reporting for this collection of information is estimated to be approximately 28 hours per response, 
including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining 
the data needed, completing and reviewing the collection of information. All responses to this collection of 
information are required under 49 U.S.C. Section 47105 to retain a benefit and to meet the reporting 
requirements of 2 CFR 200; no assurance of confidentiality is provided. Send comments regarding this 
burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing 
this burden to: Information Collection Clearance Officer, Federal Aviation Administration, 10101 Hillwood 
Parkway, Fort Worth, TX 76177-1524. 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR FORM 5100-100 

PART I – Application for Federal Assistance 
Part I of the Application for Federal Assistance consists of a completed Standard Form (SF) 424. The 
remaining parts of Form 5100-100 (Parts II, III and IV) represent continuation pages that the Sponsor 
must attach to the associated SF-424 form. The signature of the Sponsor’s authorized representative on 
the SF-424 form represents acceptance of the representations and certifications made within the 
corresponding FAA 5100-100 form. 

PART II – Project Approval Information 
This information is necessary for the Federal Aviation Administration to evaluate this request for Federal 
assistance.  Responses do not require an explanation unless explicitly requested by the question. 

SECTION A. STATUTORY CONDITIONS 
Item 1 – Indicate whether the Sponsor maintains an active registration in the Federal System for Award 
Management (SAM).  Pursuant to 2 CFR §25.200(b), a Sponsor must maintain an active registration in 
the Central Contractor Registration repository (housed within SAM) with current information at the time of 
the application and during the active period of the Federal award. 

Item 2 – Indicate whether the Sponsor can commence the project within the same fiscal year the grant is 
made or within 6 months of when the grant is made, whichever is later. Attach explanation for negative 
responses. This information is considered when allocating discretionary funds. (49 U.S.C. § 47115(d)(2)) 

129/153



ii 

Item 3 – Indicate whether the Sponsor can complete the project without unreasonable delays. If 
applicable, provide listing of foreseeable events (winter shutdown, land acquisition issues, non-
aeronautical events, etc.) that have potential to delay completion of the project. (49 USC § 47106(a)) 

Item 4 – Indicate whether the environmental review (i.e. environmental assessment, mitigated FONSI, 
etc.) identified impacts or effects on the environment that require mitigating measures that lessen the 
impact or effect on the environment. If yes, provide a summary listing of mitigating measures. 
(49 U.S.C. § 47106(c)) 

Item 5 – Indicate whether the project covered by this request is also covered by an approved Passenger 
Facility Charge (PFC) application or other Federal assistance program by selecting all applicable check 
boxes (49 U.S.C. § 40117(d) and 2 CFR § 200.403). If the approved PFC application only addresses the 
Sponsor’s AIP matching share, select the appropriate check box.   

If the project, or portions thereof, is covered by another Federal assistance program, identify the Federal 
assistance program by name and the Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number.  

Item 6 – Indicate whether the Sponsor intends to seek reimbursement of Sponsor indirect costs as 
defined by 2 CFR §200.414 and 2 CFR Appendix VII to Part 200.  This information request does not 
include the indirect costs claimed by a for-profit entity (e.g. consultant). 

 The de minimis rate may only be used if the Sponsor has not previously received a negotiated
Indirect Cost Rata (ICR) and does not exceed the limitations prescribed in Appendix VII to Part
200.

 A Sponsor with an existing approved negotiated ICR must identify the ICR value, the name of the
cognizant agency that approved the ICR and the date of approval.

SECTION B. CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 
This section addresses the Sponsor’s declaration regarding lobbying activities. The declaration made in 
the section are under signature of the authorized representative as identified in box 21 of form SF-424, to 
which this form is attached. 

Title 31 U.S.C. § 1352 establishes that no appropriated funds may be expended by a recipient of a 
Federal grant to pay any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any 
agency, Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of 
Congress in connection with this covered Federal assistance action.  Pursuant to 40 CFR part 20, this 
certification attests that the Sponsor has not made, and will not make, any payment prohibited payment 
by 31 U.S.C. § 1352.  

FAA Form 5100-100 

130/153



FAA Form 5100-100 iii 

SECTION C. REPRESENTATIONS AND CERTIFICATION 

1. Compatible Land Use (49 U.S.C. § 47107(a)(10)) – Identify actions the Sponsor has taken to
assure land uses in close proximity to the airport are compatible with normal airport operations.

2. Defaults – Confirm that Sponsor is not in default on any obligation to the United States or any
agency of the United States government.

3. Possible Disabilities – Confirm that Sponsor has no facts or circumstances (i.e. legal, financial
or otherwise) that might adversely affect the Sponsor in completing the project and carrying out
the provisions of the associated Grant Assurances.

4. Consistency with Local Plans (49 U.S.C. § 47106(a)) – Confirm project is consistent with plans
(existing at the time the project is approved) of public agencies authorized by the State in which
the airport is located to plan.

5. Consideration of Local Interests (49 U.S.C. § 47106(b)) – Confirm the Sponsor has given fair
consideration to the community in and near the project.

6. Consultation with Users (49 U.S.C. § 47105(a)) - Confirm the Sponsor has consulted with
airport users that will be affected by the project.

7. Public Hearings (49 U.S.C. § 47106(c)) – For projects involving the location of an airport,
runway or major runway extension, confirm the Sponsor:

a. Provided an opportunity for a public hearing to consider economic, social and
environmental effects of the project.

b. Has voting representation from the communities in which the project is located; or has
advised the communities that they have the right to petition the Secretary about the
proposed project.

8. Air and Water Quality Standards - Confirm Sponsor will comply with applicable air and water
quality standards.

9. Exclusive Rights (49 U.S.C. § 47107(a) – Identify all instances of exclusive rights to conduct
aeronautical services at the airport.

10. Land (49 U.S.C. § 47106(b)) –

a. Identify property interests specific to the development project and/or land acquisition. The
declaration of property interest is to be based upon a title opinion submitted by an
attorney. When identifying the property interest, use the same parcel numbers as used to
identify the property on the associated Exhibit A property map.
Example: “Sponsor maintains property interest as depicted within the property table on
the Exhibit A property map dated __/__/__ originally filed with AIP Project ###.”

b. Complete this subpart if the Sponsor proposes a project for which they have not yet
obtained appropriate property interests. Note that the work may not commence until
Sponsor obtains acceptable property interests. Identify such property by parcel number
that corresponds to the associated Exhibit A property map.

c. Complete this subpart when acquiring property interests under the grant.  Identify such
property by parcel number that corresponds to the associated Exhibit A property map.

131/153



FAA Form 5100-100 iv 

PART III – Budget Information 
SECTION A. GENERAL 

1. Assistance Listing Number - Show the Assistance Listing Number from which the assistance is
requested.

2. Functional or Other Breakout:  Indicate “Airport Improvement Program”.  Prepare a separate set of
Part III forms for other Federal program categories.

SECTION B. CALCULATION OF FEDERAL GRANT 

When applying for a new grant, use the Total Amount Column only.  Use all columns when requesting 
revisions of previously awarded amounts. 

Line 1 - Enter amounts needed for administration expenses, which may include such items as: legal fees, 
mailing/shipping expenses, audit fees and documented Sponsor employee time that is necessary to 
administer the grant.  

Line 2 - Enter amounts pertaining to allowable preliminary expenses.  These include such expenses as 
independent fee estimate preparation, advertising expenses and permits. 

Line 3 - Enter amounts directly associated with the acquisition of land, existing structures, and related 
right-of-way.  

Line 4 - Enter fees for architectural engineering basic services. 

Line 5 - Enter amounts for architectural engineering special services (e.g. surveys, tests and borings). 

Line 6 - Enter fees for inspection, testing and monitoring of construction and related programs. 

Line 7 - Enter amounts associated with the development of land where the primary purpose of the grant 
is land improvement. Site work normally associated with major construction should be excluded from this 
category and shown on line 11. 

Line 8 - Enter the dollar amounts needed to provide relocation advisory assistance, and the net amounts 
for replacement (last resort) housing. Do not include relocation administration expenses on this Line; 
include them on Line 1. 

Line 9 - Enter the estimated amount of relocation payments to be made to displaced persons, business 
concerns, and non-profit organizations for moving expenses and replacement housing. 

Line 10 - Enter the cost of demolition or removal of improvements on developed land. Reduce the costs 
on this line by the amount of expected proceeds from the sale of salvage, if so instructed by the Federal 
grantor agency. Otherwise, show the proceeds on Line 15. 

Line 11 - Enter amounts for the actual construction of, addition to or restoration of a facility. Include in this 
category the amounts of project improvements such as grading, drainage, paving, marking, lighting, 
buildings, seeding/sodding, etc. 

Line 12 - Enter amounts for equipment. Examples include ARFF vehicles, SRE equipment, AWOS 
equipment, interactive training, NAVAID equipment, etc.) 

Line 13 - Enter miscellaneous amounts for items not specifically covered by previous categories. 

132/153



FAA Form 5100-100 v 

Line 14 - Enter the sum of Lines 1-13. 

Line 15 - Enter the estimated amount of program income that will be earned during the grant period and 
applied to the program. Examples include vehicle trade-in value, sale of millings resulting from project, 
credits passed on from contractor, etc. This line may be used to indicate applied liquidated damages. 

Line 16 - Enter the difference between Line 14 and Line 15. 

Line 17 - Enter the aggregate amount for those items, which are a part of the project but not subject to 
Federal participation. Refer to Section C, exclusions. 

Line 18 – Enter the subtotal sum of Lines 16 and 17. (This is the amount to which the matching share 
ratio prescribed in program legislation is applied.) 

Line 19 - Indicate the total amount of the Federal assistance requested. This value is determined by 
multiplying the grant participation rate by the amount indicated in line 18. 

Line 20 – Indicate the amount of the Grantee’s share (from Section D). 

Line 21 – Indicate the amount of other shares (from Section D) 

Line 22 – Indicate sum of Lines 19, 20 and 21. 

SECTION C. EXCLUSIONS 

Line 23 a-g - Identify and list those costs which are part of the project cost but are not subject to Federal 
participation because of program legislation or Federal grantor agency instructions. The total amount on 
Line g should agree with the amount shown on Line 17 of Section B. 

SECTION D. PROPOSED METHOD OF FINANCING NON-FEDERAL SHARE 
Line 24 a-g - Show the source of the grantee’s share. If cash is not immediately available, specify the 
actions completed to date and those actions remaining to make cash available under Section E - 
Remarks. Indicate also the period of time that will be required after execution of the grant agreement to 
obtain the funds. If there is a non-cash contribution, explain what this contribution will consist of. 

Line 24h - Indicate total of Lines 24 a-g. This amount must equal the amount in Section B, Line 20. 

Line 25a - Show the amount that will be contributed by a State or state agency, only if the applicant is not 
a State or state agency. If there is a non-cash or other contribution, explain what the contribution will 
consist of under Section E - Remarks. 

Line 25b - Show the amount that will be contributed from other sources. If there is a non-cash 
contribution, explain what the contribution will consist of under Section E - Remarks. 

Line 25c - Show the total of Lines 28a and 28b. This amount must be the same as the amount shown in 
Section B, Line 21. 

Line 26 - Enter the totals of Lines 24h and 25c. 

SECTION E. OTHER REMARKS 

Make any remarks pertinent to the project and provide any other information required by these 
instructions or the grantor agency. Attach additional sheets, if necessary.  

133/153



FAA Form 5100-100 vi 

PART IV – Program Narrative
Prepare the program narrative statement in accordance with the following instructions for all new grant 
programs. Requests for supplemental assistance should be responsive to Item 5b only. Requests for 
continuation or refunding or other changes of an approved project should be responsive to Item 5c only. 

1. OBJECTIVES AND NEED FOR THIS ASSISTANCE

Provide a short and concise description of the proposed improvement. Include a narrative on why this 
improvement is needed. 

2. RESULTS OR BENEFITS EXPECTED

Identify results and benefits to be derived. For example, include a description of who will occupy the 
facility and show how the facility will be used. For land acquisition or development projects, explain how 
the project will benefit the public. 

3. APPROACH
a. Outline a plan of action pertaining to the scope and detail of how the Sponsor proposes to

accomplish the work.

b. Cite factors, which might accelerate or decelerate the work, and your reason for taking this
approach as opposed to others. Describe any unusual features of the project such as
construction approach, reductions in cost or time or extraordinary social and community
involvements.

c. Provide projections of project milestone dates. As a minimum, identify target dates for defining
project costs (i.e. bid opening or completion of negotiations), anticipated issuance of notice-to-
proceed and anticipated project completion date.

d. Identify monitoring and oversight mechanisms the Sponsor proposes to implement.

e. List key individuals and entities such as consultant, Sponsor personnel and contractor who will
work on the project. Provide a short description of the nature of their effort or contribution.

4. GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION

Identify location of the project. This will typically be the name of the airport.

5. IF APPLICABLE, PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:
a. Describe the relationship between this project and other work planned, anticipated or underway

under the Federal Assistance listed under Part II, Section A, Item 5.

b. Explain the reason for all requests for supplemental assistance and justify the need for additional
funding.

c. If there have been significant changes in the project objectives, location, approach or time delays,
explain and justify. For other requests for changes or amendments, explain the reason for the
change(s). If the scope, budget, or objectives have changed or an extension of time is necessary,
explain the circumstances and justify.

6. SPONSOR’S REPRESENTATIVE

Identify contact information of Sponsor’s representative.

134/153



FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 1 of 7 

U.S. Department of Transportation 
Federal Aviation Administration 

OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

Application for Federal Assistance (Development and Equipment Projects) 

PART II – PROJECT APPROVAL INFORMATION 

Part II - SECTION A 

The term “Sponsor” refers to the applicant name provided in box 8 of the associated SF-424 form. 
Item 1. 
Does Sponsor maintain an active registration in the System for Award Management 
(www.SAM.gov)?  Yes  No 

Item 2. 
Can Sponsor commence the work identified in the application in the fiscal year the 
grant is made or within six months after the grant is made, whichever is later?  Yes  No  N/A 

Item 3. 
Are there any foreseeable events that would delay completion of the project? If yes, 
provide attachment to this form that lists the events.  Yes  No  N/A 

Item 4. 
Will the project(s) covered by this request have impacts or effects on the 
environment that require mitigating measures? If yes, attach a summary listing of 
mitigating measures to this application and identify the name and date of the 
environmental document(s). 

 Yes  No  N/A 

Item 5. 
Is the project covered by this request included in an approved Passenger Facility 
Charge (PFC) application or other Federal assistance program? If yes, please 
identify other funding sources by checking all applicable boxes. 

 Yes  No  N/A 

The project is included in an approved PFC application.
If included in an approved PFC application,  

does the application only address AIP matching share?  Yes  No 

The project is included in another Federal Assistance program. Its CFDA number is below. 

Item 6. 
Will the requested Federal assistance include Sponsor indirect costs as described in 
2 CFR Appendix VII to Part 200, States and Local Government and Indian Tribe 
Indirect Cost Proposals? 

 Yes  No  N/A 

If the request for Federal assistance includes a claim for allowable indirect costs, select the applicable indirect cost rate 
the Sponsor proposes to apply:  

De Minimis rate of 10% as permitted by 2 CFR § 200.414. 

Negotiated Rate equal to  % as approved by   (the Cognizant Agency) 
on  (Date) (2 CFR part 200, appendix VII). 

Note: Refer to the instructions for limitations of application associated with claiming Sponsor indirect costs. 

135/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 2 of 7 

PART II - SECTION B 

Certification Regarding Lobbying 
The declarations made on this page are under the signature of the authorized representative as identified in box 21 of 
form SF-424, to which this form is attached. The term “Sponsor” refers to the applicant name provided in box 8 of the 
associated SF-424 form. 

The Authorized Representative certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 

(1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Sponsor, to any person
for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer
or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any
Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any
cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal
contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.

(2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer
or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract,
grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the Authorized Representative shall complete and submit Standard
Form-LLL, ‘‘Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,’’ in accordance with its instructions.

(3) The Authorized Representative shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans,
and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was 
made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification 
shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure. 

136/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 3 of 7 

PART II – SECTION C

The Sponsor hereby represents and certifies as follows: 

1. Compatible Land Use – The Sponsor has taken the following actions to assure compatible usage of land adjacent
to or in the vicinity of the airport:

2. Defaults – The Sponsor is not in default on any obligation to the United States or any agency of the United States
Government relative to the development, operation, or maintenance of any airport, except as stated herewith:

3. Possible Disabilities – There are no facts or circumstances (including the existence of effective or proposed leases,
use agreements or other legal instruments affecting use of the Airport or the existence of pending litigation or other
legal proceedings) which in reasonable probability might make it impossible for the Sponsor to carry out and complete
the Project or carry out the provisions of the Grant Assurances, either by limiting its legal or financial ability or
otherwise, except as follows:

4. Consistency with Local Plans – The project is reasonably consistent with plans existing at the time of submission
of this application) of public agencies that are authorized by the State in which the project is located to plan for the
development of the area surrounding the airport.

5. Consideration of Local Interest – It has given fair consideration to the interest of communities in or near where the
project may be located.

6. Consultation with Users – In making a decision to undertake an airport development project under Title 49, United
States Code, it has consulted with airport users that will potentially be affected by the project (§ 47105(a)(2)).

7. Public Hearings – In projects involving the location of an airport, an airport runway or a major runway extension, it
has afforded the opportunity for public hearings for the purpose of considering the economic, social, and environmental
effects of the airport or runway location and its consistency with goals and objectives of such planning as has been
carried out by the community and it shall, when requested by the Secretary, submit a copy of the transcript of such
hearings to the Secretary. Further, for such projects, it has on its management board either voting representation from
the communities where the project is located or has advised the communities that they have the right to petition the
Secretary concerning a proposed project.

8. Air and Water Quality Standards – In projects involving airport location, a major runway extension, or runway
location it will provide for the Governor of the state in which the project is located to certify in writing to the Secretary
that the project will be located, designed, constructed, and operated so as to comply with applicable and air and water
quality standards. In any case where such standards have not been approved and where applicable air and water
quality standards have been promulgated by the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency, certification
shall be obtained from such Administrator. Notice of certification or refusal to certify shall be provided within sixty days
after the project application has been received by the Secretary.

137/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 4 of 7 

PART II – SECTION C (Continued) 

9. Exclusive Rights – There is no grant of an exclusive right for the conduct of any aeronautical activity at any airport
owned or controlled by the Sponsor except as follows:

10. Land – (a) The sponsor holds the following property interest in the following areas of land, which are to be developed
or used as part of or in connection with the Airport subject to the following exceptions, encumbrances, and adverse
interests, all of which areas are identified on the aforementioned property map designated as Exhibit “A”. [1]

The Sponsor further certifies that the above is based on a title examination by a qualified attorney or title company and 
that such attorney or title company has determined that the Sponsor holds the above property interests. 

(b) The Sponsor will acquire within a reasonable time, but in any event prior to the start of any construction work
under the Project, the following property interest in the following areas of land on which such construction work is to be 
performed, all of which areas are identified on the aforementioned property map designated as Exhibit “A”. [1]

(c) The Sponsor will acquire within a reasonable time, and if feasible prior to the completion of all construction
work under the Project, the following property interest in the following areas of land which are to be developed or used 
as part of or in connection with the Airport as it will be upon completion of the Project, all of which areas are identified on 
the aforementioned property map designated as Exhibit “A”. [1]

1 State the character of property interest in each area and list and identify for each all exceptions, encumbrances, and adverse 
interests of every kind and nature, including liens, easements, leases, etc. The separate areas of land need only be identified here by 
the area numbers shown on the property map. 

138/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 5 of 7 

PART III – BUDGET INFORMATION – CONSTRUCTION

SECTION A – GENERAL 

1. Assistance Listing Number:

2. Functional or Other Breakout:

SECTION B – CALCULATION OF FEDERAL GRANT 

Cost Classification 
Latest Approved 

Amount 
(Use only for 

revisions) 

Adjustment 
+ or (-) Amount
(Use only for 

revisions) 

Total 
Amount 

Required 

1. Administration expense

2. Preliminary expense

3. Land, structures, right-of-way

4. Architectural engineering basic fees

5. Other Architectural engineering fees

6. Project inspection fees

7. Land development

8. Relocation Expenses

9. Relocation payments to Individuals and Businesses

10. Demolition and removal

11. Construction and project improvement

12. Equipment

13. Miscellaneous

14. Subtotal (Lines 1 through 13)

15. Estimated Income (if applicable)

16. Net Project Amount (Line 14 minus 15)

17. Less: Ineligible Exclusions (Section C, line 23 g.)

18. Subtotal (Lines 16 through 17)

19. Federal Share requested of Line 18

20. Grantee share

21. Other shares

22. TOTAL PROJECT (Lines 19, 20 & 21)

139/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 OMB 
EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 6 of 7 

SECTION C – EXCLUSIONS 

23. Classification (Description of non-participating work)
Amount Ineligible for 

Participation 

a. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

e. 

f. 

g. Total 

SECTION D – PROPOSED METHOD OF FINANCING NON-FEDERAL SHARE 

24. Grantee Share – Fund Categories Amount 

a. Securities

b. Mortgages

c. Appropriations (by Applicant)

d. Bonds

e. Tax Levies

f. Non-Cash

g. Other (Explain):

h. TOTAL - Grantee share

25. Other Shares

a. State

b. Other

c. TOTAL - Other Shares

26. TOTAL NON-FEDERAL FINANCING

SECTION E – REMARKS 
(Attach sheets if additional space is required) 

Amount 

140/153



OMB CONTROL NUMBER: 2120-0569 
OMB EXPIRATION DATE: 6/30/2023 

FAA Form 5100-100 (8/20) SUPERSEDES PREVIOUS EDITION Page 7 of 7 

PART IV – PROGRAM NARRATIVE 
(Suggested Format) 

PROJECT: 

AIRPORT: 

1. Objective:

2. Benefits Anticipated:

3. Approach: (See approved Scope of Work in Final Application)

4. Geographic Location:

5. If Applicable, Provide Additional Information:

6. Sponsor’s Representative: (include address & telephone number)

141/153



CIP/PREAPPLICATION DATA SHEET 
 

AIRPORT:  Grand Junction Regional Airport (GJT) 
LOCAL 
PRIORITY:  

N/A UPDATED:  December 2023 

WORK ITEM: Permanent FAA – Design RA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

JUSTIFICATION: Desing of permanent RA FAA NAVAID relocation is a step toward the construction of the new 
Runway 12-30.  

 

SPONSOR 
SIGNATURE:__________________________________________DATE:__12/12/2023___ 
 

COST ESTIMATE: $243,000 Item (earthwork, drainage, and grading)  
 

ADMINISTRATION: $ 10,000   $         $       
ENGINEERING: $ 233,000        $              $       

CONSTRUCTION: $         $       TOTAL: $ 243,000 

ADO USE: 
PREAPP 
NO:      
 

GRANT 
NO:       

NPIAS 
CODE:      

WORK 
CODE:      

FAA 
PRIOR:      

 
FED $      
 

  

 

SKETCH: 

 
                      

142/153



S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S

1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6
7 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27
28 29 30 31 25 26 27 28 29 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 28 29 30

31

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S

1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3
5 6 7 8 9 10 11 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 11 12 13 14 15 16 17
19 20 21 22 23 24 25 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 18 19 20 21 22 23 24
26 27 28 29 30 31 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 28 29 30 31 25 26 27 28 29 30 31

30

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 15 16 17 18 19 20 21
22 23 24 25 26 27 28 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 22 23 24 25 26 27 28
29 30 27 28 29 30 31 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 29 30 31

GJRAA Board Workshop
GJRAA Board Meeting
Joint Agency Meeting (City / County / GJRAA)

Subject to change. Updated: 12.8.2023

September October November December

May June July August

January February March April

2024 Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority

143/153



October 2023
DATA & STATISTICS

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT

144/153



Total Passenger Enplanements 

January 2020

2023 Allegiant (LAX, 
AZA, LAS)

American (DFW, 
PHX) Delta (SLC) Frontier 

(DEN) United (DEN) Charters Total Annual 
Inc/Dec

JAN 932 8,545 0 0 7,110 0 16,587 13.0%
FEB 1,507 9,479 0 0 7,394 108 18,488 22.8%
MAR 2,512 8,687 0 0 8,886 0 20,085 10.6%
APR 1,790 10,063 0 0 10,339 0 22,192 15.3%
MAY 1,587 10,848 0 0 11,221 0 23,656 16.4%
JUN 1,663 9,246 0 0 9,285 0 20,194 4.4%
JUL 2,571 10,062 0 0 9,280 0 21,913 6.4%
AUG 1,303 9,171 0 0 9,826 0 20,300 1.0%
SEP 893 10,032 0 0 12,388 0 23,313 6.1%
OCT 1,074 11,220 0 0 11,501 0 23,795 1.1%
NOV 0
DEC 0
TOTAL 15,832                    97,353                    -                          -                          97,230                    108                         210,523         

Market Share 7.52% 46.24% 0.00% 0.00% 46.18% 0.05% 100.00%

2022 Allegiant (LAX, 
AZA, LAS)

American (DFW, 
PHX) Delta (SLC) Frontier 

(DEN) United (DEN) Charters Total

JAN 2,180                      7,420                      975 88 4,013 0 14,676
FEB 2,220                      7,199                      0 0 5,637 0 15,056
MAR 2,327                      7,540                      0 0 8,108 177 18,152
APR 1,240                      9,790                      0 131 8,083 0 19,244
MAY 1,142                      9,582                      0 435 9,064 94 20,317
JUN 1,764                      9,237                      0 369 7,980 0 19,350
JUL 2,710                      9,019                      0 560 8,302 0 20,591
AUG 1,764                      9,669                      0 246 8,421 0 20,100
SEP 1,185                      10,932                    0 0 9,860 0 21,977
OCT 1,206                      11,578                    0 0 10,743 0 23,527
NOV 1,039                      10,744                    0 0 7,483 0 19,266
DEC 1,034                      8,335                      0 0 7,157 0 16,526
TOTAL 19,811                    111,045                  975                         1,829                      94,851                    271                         228,782         

Market Share 8.66% 48.54% 0.43% 0.80% 41.46% 0.12% 100.00%

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

Allegiant

American

United

Charters

8%

46%46%

2023 YTD Market Share

Allegiant

American

United

145/153



Total Passenger Deplanements

January 2020

2023 Allegiant (LAX, 
AZA, LAS)

American (DFW, 
PHX) Delta (SLC) Frontier 

(DEN) United (DEN) Charters Total Annual 
Inc/Dec

JAN 900 8,617 131 0 9,461 0 19,109 25.4%
FEB 1,529 9,723 0 0 8,164 110 19,526 10.8%
MAR 2,259 10,202 202 0 10,820 0 23,483 23.1%
APR 1,827 10,498 54 0 10,453 0 22,832 20.5%
MAY 1,683 10,837 0 0 10,761 0 23,281 15.9%
JUN 1,683 9,194 2 0 9,776 0 20,655 7.9%
JUL 2,792 9,595 0 0 9,006 0 21,393 6.9%
AUG 1,345 9,124 0 0 9,897 0 20,366 4.0%
SEP 796 9,615 0 0 11,834 0 22,245 2.3%
OCT 1,050 10,451 0 0 11,176 0 22,677 1.8%
NOV 0
DEC 0
TOTAL 15,864                   97,856                   389                        -                         101,348                 110                        215,567        

Market Share 7.36% 45.39% 0.18% 0.00% 47.01% 0.05% 100.00%

2022 Allegiant (LAX, 
AZA, LAS)

American (DFW, 
PHX) Delta (SLC) Frontier 

(DEN) United (DEN) Charters Total

JAN 2,141                     7,474                     874 69 4,682 0 15,240
FEB 2,066                     7,829                     147 0 7,404 181 17,627
MAR 2,135                     7,527                     81 0 9,341 0 19,084
APR 1,270                     9,715                     0 133 7,823 0 18,941
MAY 1,154                     9,654                     0 423 8,790 67 20,088
JUN 1,727                     8,858                     0 407 8,145 0 19,137
JUL 2,633                     8,617                     0 624 8,136 0 20,010
AUG 1,763                     9,173                     0 242 8,414 0 19,592
SEP 1,083                     10,525                   0 0 10,147 0 21,755
OCT 1,165                     10,457                   0 0 10,662 0 22,284
NOV 1,071                     10,341                   0 0 7,662 0 19,074
DEC 989                        9,205                     0 0 7,437 0 17,631
TOTAL 19,197                   109,375                 1,102                     1,898                     98,643                   248                        230,463        

Market Share 8.33% 47.46% 0.48% 0.82% 42.80% 0.11% 100.00%

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

Allegiant

American

United

Charters

7%

46%
47%

2023 YTD Market Share

Allegiant

American

United

146/153



Scheduled Capacity

January 2020

2023 Allegiant (LAX, 
AZA, LAS)

American (DFW, 
PHX) Delta (SLC) Frontier 

(DEN) United     (DEN) Charters Total Annual 
Inc/Dec

JAN 1,446 11,096 0 0 8,230 0 20,772 1.9%
FEB 2,112 13,749 0 0 8,262 0 24,123 29.1%
MAR 3,102 13,908 0 0 10,846 0 27,856 34.6%
APR 2,826 13,300 0 0 10,980 0 27,106 22.5%
MAY 2,334 13,057 0 0 12,418 0 27,809 16.4%
JUN 3,078 11,091 0 0 11,424 0 25,593 14.9%
JUL 3,546 12,727 0 0 11,214 0 27,487 11.0%
AUG 1,794 13,628 0 0 11,218 0 26,640 6.7%
SEP 1,278 11,972 0 0 14,112 0 27,362 7.0%
OCT 1,404 12,212 0 0 12,106 0 25,722 -0.6%
NOV 0
DEC 0
TOTAL 22,920                    126,740                  -                         -                         110,810                  -                         260,470                  

Market Share 8.80% 48.66% 0.00% -                             42.54% 0.00% 100.00%

2022 Allegiant (LAX, 
AZA, LAS)

American (DFW, 
PHX) Delta (SLC) Frontier 

(DEN) United     (DEN) Charters Total

JAN 4,599 9,896 1,300 180 4,416 0 20,391
FEB 3,246 8,848 0 0 6,592 0 18,686
MAR 2,862 8,044 0 0 9,598 186 20,690
APR 1,779 10,999 0 558 8,790 0 22,126
MAY 1,434 10,571 0 1,488 10,206 186 23,885
JUN 2,202 10,468 0 1,116 8,490 0 22,276
JUL 3,078 10,693 0 1,488 9,498 0 24,757
AUG 2,274 11,980 0 558 10,158 0 24,970
SEP 1,425 12,677 0 0 11,476 0 25,578
OCT 1,545 12,762 0 0 11,562 0 25,869
NOV 1,362 13,717 0 0 8,516 0 23,595
DEC 1,494 12,587 0 0 8,620 0 22,701
TOTAL 27,300                    133,242                  1,300                      5,388                      107,922                  372                         275,524                  

Market Share 9.91% 48.36% 0.47% 39.17% 0.14% 98.04%

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

Allegiant

American

United

Charters

9%

49%

42%

2023 YTD Market Share

Allegiant

American

United

147/153



Load Factor *Includes Scheduled Flights ONLY

January 2020

2023 Allegiant (LAX, 
AZA, LAS)

American 
(DFW, PHX) Delta (SLC) Frontier 

(DEN) United     (DEN) Total Annual Inc/Dec

JAN 64% 77% 0% 0% 86% 80% 8%
FEB 71% 69% 0% 0% 89% 76% -4%
MAR 81% 62% 0% 0% 82% 72% -16%
APR 63% 76% 0% 0% 91% 81% -6%
MAY 68% 83% 0% 0% 90% 85% 0%
JUN 54% 83% 0% 0% 81% 79% -8%
JUL 73% 79% 0% 0% 83% 80% -3%
AUG 73% 67% 0% 0% 88% 76% -4%
SEP 70% 84% 0% 0% 88% 85% -1%
OCT 76% 92% 0% 0% 95% 93% 2%
NOV
DEC
TOTAL 69% 77% 0% 0% 87% 81%

2022 Allegiant (SNA, 
AZA, LAS)

American 
(DFW, PHX, 

LAX)
Delta (SLC) Frontier 

(DEN) United     (DEN) Total

JAN 47% 79% 75% 49% 91% 72%
FEB 68% 81% 0% 0% 85% 81%
MAR 81% 88% 0% 0% 84% 88%
APR 70% 89% 0% 23% 92% 87%
MAY 80% 91% 0% 29% 89% 85%
JUN 80% 87% 0% 33% 84% 87%
JUL 88% 84% 0% 38% 87% 83%
AUG 78% 79% 0% 44% 83% 80%
SEP 83% 86% 0% 0% 86% 86%
OCT 78% 91% 0% 0% 93% 91%
NOV 76% 78% 0% 0% 86% 82%
DEC 69% 66% 0% 0% 83% 73%
TOTAL 73% 83% 73% 83% 88% 83%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

Allegiant

American

United

148/153



2023 Enplaned and Deplaned Airfreight - Lbs

Enplaned Freight 2,892,120
Deplaned Freight 4,909,202

Enplaned Freight 2,883,675
Deplaned Freight 5,045,699

Enplaned FedEx Key Lime American United Total YTD Total Annual Inc/Dec

JAN 250,575                25,894                  -                        55                         276,524                276,524 -9.1%
FEB 220,287                16,565                  84                         14                         236,950                513,474 -16.6%

MAR 298,243                26,558                  -                        -                        324,801                838,275 -1.0%
APR 257,621                17,332                  147                       -                        275,100                1,113,375 3.1%

MAY 245,734                16,272                  253                       3                           262,262                1,375,637 10.9%
JUN 274,182                14,195                  84                         43                         288,504                1,664,141 1.2%
JUL 249,316                18,325                  -                        -                        267,641                1,931,782 -8.2%

AUG 344,252                22,254                  -                        36                         366,542                2,298,324 14.4%
SEP 287,291                13,441                  567                       -                        301,299                2,599,623 3.3%

OCT 279,325                13,147                  -                        25                         292,497                2,892,120 6.4%
NOV -                        
DEC -                        

TOTAL 2,706,826             183,983                1,135                    176                       2,892,120             2,892,120             
Market Share 93.59% 6.36% 0.04% 0.01% 100.00%

Deplaned  FedEx  Key Lime  American United  Total YTD Total Month over 
Month Inc/Dec

JAN 380,660                64,871                                       2,732 105                       448,368                448,368 27.2%
FEB 362,156                67,111                  927                       119                       430,313                878,681 -7.2%

MAR 435,946                80,510                  1,568                    135                       518,159                1,396,840 -21.7%
APR 343,904                69,893                  442                       149                       414,388                1,811,228 -12.7%

MAY 377,914                62,714                  338                       455                       441,421                2,252,649 -3.3%
JUN 469,445                61,150                  1,825                    302                       532,722                2,785,371 -10.4%
JUL 452,206                60,345                  248                       178                       512,977                3,298,348 -3.6%

AUG 526,409                73,522                  488                       59                         600,478                3,898,826 8.7%
SEP 434,706                69,929                  157                       -                        504,792                4,403,618 -3.1%

OCT 424,569                80,673                  26                         316                       505,584                4,909,202 16.0%
NOV -                        
DEC -                        

TOTAL 4,207,915             690,718                8,751                    1,818                    4,909,202             4,909,202             
Market Share 85.71% 14.07% 0.18% 0.04% 100.00%

2023 YTD

2022 YTD

89%

11%

2023 Market Share

 FedEx

 Key Lime

 American

United

149/153



2023 Aircraft Operations

2023 Air Carrier Air Taxi General 
Aviation Military TOTAL 

ITINERANT
C
o Local Civilian Local 

Military TOTAL LOCAL TOTAL

JAN 625 647 1,410 74 2,756 1,278 20 1,298 4,054
FEB 552 476 1,411 128 2,567 820 70 890 3,457

MAR 619 721 1,608 132 3,080 1,222 88 1,310 4,390
APR 505 571 1,940 162 3,178 1,298 62 1,360 4,538

MAY 609 480 1,969 66 3,124 1,296 20 1,316 4,440
JUN 509 405 2,084 145 3,143 1,212 118 1,330 4,473
JUL 635 455 2,666 158 3,914 1,376 66 1,442 5,356

AUG 597 491 2,398 170 3,656 1,528 66 1,594 5,250
SEP 0 0 0

OCT 0 0 0
NOV 0 0 0
DEC 0 0 0

TOTAL 4,651 4,246 15,486 1,035 25,418 10,030 510 10,540 35,958
Historical 

Data 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
C
o
l

2023 2022-2023 
Inc/Dec

JAN 3,320 3,425 3,713 4,904 4,477 4,054            -9.45%
FEB 2,945 3,473 4,378 4,195 4,672 3,457            -26.01%

MAR 3,931 4,119 3,241 4,710 4,636 4,390            -5.31%
APR 3,670 3,378 2,436 4,238 4,357 4,538            4.15%

MAY 3,908 4,075 3,826 4,514 5,235 4,440            -15.19%
JUN 4,287 4,293 4,588 5,000 4,785 4,473            -6.52%
JUL 5,195 4,348 4,784 5,014 4,039 5,356            32.61%

AUG 5,139 4,256 5,436 4,858 4,983 5,250            5.36%
SEP 4,161 3,941 4,777 5,355 4,890 -                

OCT 4,600 4,004 5,216 5,095 5,171 -                
NOV 4,092 3,811 4,612 4,841 3,974 -                
DEC 3,612 4,216 4,532 4,269 3,746 -                

TOTAL 48,860 47,339 51,539 56,993 54,965 35,958

Itinerant LOCAL

150/153



2023 Rental Car Revenues

2023 Avis Budget Enterprise Hertz National/ Alamo Total YTD Total Annual YTD 
Inc/Dec

JAN 181,827 65,487 123,652 188,798 143,046 702,810 702,810 2.0%
FEB 190,145 75,821 107,590 206,867 142,539 722,962 1,425,772 8.8%

MAR 254,342 104,412 134,608 247,316 183,427 924,105 2,349,877 6.5%
APR 274,156 134,658 196,094 217,265 208,603 1,030,775 3,380,652 7.0%

MAY 214,029 146,630 233,204 272,627 246,679 1,113,171 4,493,823 5.6%
JUN 220,371 155,734 214,896 351,403 195,591 1,137,994 5,631,817 2.8%
JUL 216,754 165,221 204,004 369,830 207,560 1,163,369 6,795,186 2.3%

AUG 240,821 157,859 184,695 345,047 209,632 1,138,054 7,933,240 2.9%
SEP 294,294 149,806 284,758 336,892 244,914 1,310,664 9,243,904 4.6%

OCT 265,920 170,534 271,416 344,468 277,885 1,330,223 10,574,127 4.7%
NOV 0
DEC 0

TOTAL 2,352,659 1,326,163 1,954,917 2,880,513 2,059,876 10,574,127 10,574,127
Market Share 22.25% 12.54% 18.49% 27.24% 19.48% 100.00%

2022 Avis Budget Enterprise Hertz National/ Alamo Total YTD Total
JAN 176,166 89,345 95,880 224,219 103,471 689,081 689,081
FEB 143,863 96,759 72,822 214,043 93,316 620,803 1,309,884

MAR 240,024 122,561 88,755 319,526 126,531 897,398 2,207,282
APR 227,825 135,356 118,265 321,883 149,140 952,468 3,159,751

MAY 253,564 154,634 139,193 388,020 159,108 1,094,518 4,254,269
JUN 307,601 188,738 141,273 410,136 176,650 1,224,398 5,478,667
JUL 291,685 163,564 133,813 412,711 162,717 1,164,489 6,643,157

AUG 272,047 144,127 119,251 386,339 141,719 1,063,483 7,706,640
SEP 279,133 162,152 169,651 350,376 165,881 1,127,193 8,833,832

OCT 305,409 150,280 206,331 378,976 227,963 1,268,961 10,102,793
NOV 163,151 72,511 148,808 253,682 143,677 781,830 10,884,623
DEC 125,971 54,498 132,123 193,037 127,754 633,383 11,518,006

TOTAL 2,786,439 1,534,525 1,566,164 3,852,949 1,777,929 11,518,006
Market Share 24.19% 13.32% 13.60% 33.45% 15.44% 100.00%

22%

13%

19%
27%

19%

2023 Market Share

Avis

Budget

Enterprise

Hertz

National/
Alamo

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

Avis

Budget

Enterprise

Hertz

National/ Alamo

151/153



2023 Parking Revenues

2023 Gross Revenue  Transactions YTD Gross 
Revenue YTD Transactions Revenue per 

Transaction
Annual YTD 

Inc/Dec
JAN 182,662 6,875 182,662 6,875 26.57$                 31.1%
FEB 201,062 7,137 383,724 14,012 28.17$                 34.3%

MAR 214,738 8,079 598,462 22,091 26.58$                 38.2%
APR 243,795 8,458 842,257 30,549 28.82$                 42.0%

MAY 250,617 9,550 1,092,874 40,099 26.24$                 33.1%
JUN 183,350 8,396 1,276,224 48,495 21.84$                 34.3%
JUL 178,577 8,650 1,454,801 57,145 20.64$                 23.3%

AUG 178,228 7,882 1,633,029 65,027 22.61$                 26.2%
SEP 199,599 8,268 1,832,628 73,295 24.14$                 33.2%

OCT 239,876 10,128 2,072,504 83,423 23.68$                 15.8%
NOV
DEC

TOTAL 2,072,504 83,423 2,072,504 83,423 24.84$                      

2022 Gross Revenue  Transactions YTD Gross 
Revenue YTD Transactions Revenue per 

Transaction
JAN 121,929 6,017 121,929 6,017 20.26$                 
FEB 122,490 5,838 244,419 11,855 20.98$                 

MAR 132,255 6,876 376,674 18,731 19.23$                 
APR 144,445 7,116 521,119 25,847 20.30$                 

MAY 156,412 7,935 677,531 33,782 19.71$                 
JUN 123,087 7,568 800,618 41,350 16.26$                 
JUL 137,341 8,201 937,959 49,551 16.75$                 

AUG 145,288 8,109 1,083,247 57,660 17.92$                 
SEP 153,041 8,447 1,236,288 66,107 18.12$                 

OCT 178,323 8,716 1,414,611 74,823 20.46$                 
NOV 202,956 7,939 1,617,567 82,762 25.56$                 
DEC 166,129 7,221 1,783,696 89,983 23.01$                 

TOTAL 1,783,696 89,983 1,783,696 89,983 19.82$                      

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

Gross Revenue

 Transactions

152/153



2023 Terminal Concessions Revenues

2023 Food & Beverage Alcohol Gift Shop Vending Total Annual 
Inc/Dec

JAN 94,581 27,001 22,149 542 144,273$                     63.8%
FEB 93,333 27,432 21,176 525 142,465$                     40.5%

MAR 102,174 35,647 24,536 433 162,790$                     41.2%
APR 111,201 35,582 27,274 344 174,402$                     46.2%

MAY 106,032 36,213 30,735 316 173,296$                     45.3%
JUN 105,070 28,173 28,665 271 162,180$                     44.3%
JUL 111,353 31,433 31,937 237 174,960$                     40.1%

AUG 104,513 31,181 32,036 279 168,008$                     15.2%
SEP 102,355 34,840 34,470 260 171,925$                     8.2%
OCT 105,895 37,553 32,609 233 176,290$                     3.8%
NOV
DEC

TOTAL 1,036,508                    325,054                       285,587                       3,440                           1,650,589                    7%

2022 Food & Beverage Alcohol Gift Shop Vending Total

JAN 51,472 20,758 12,776 3,070 88,076$                       
FEB 58,525 24,891 15,427 2,525 101,369$                     

MAR 65,297 28,772 18,980 2,206 115,255$                     
APR 60,875 34,303 21,927 2,208 119,314$                     

MAY 58,830 32,478 25,633 2,317 119,257$                     
JUN 58,144 27,597 24,343 2,305 112,388$                     
JUL 63,414 31,535 27,593 2,331 124,872$                     

AUG 83,768 29,995 30,164 1,900 145,826$                     
SEP 92,577 34,068 30,497 1,791 158,933$                     
OCT 101,481 35,545 31,633 1,115 169,773$                     
NOV 89,651 32,333 25,552 577 148,112$                     
DEC 81,532 27,861 23,943 543 133,878$                     

TOTAL 865,567                       360,134                       288,467                       22,886                         1,537,054                    
Market Share 56% 23% 19% 1% 100%

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

Food & Bev

Alcohol

Gift Shop

Vending 63%
20%

17%
0%

2023 Market Share

Food &
Beverage

Alcohol

Gift Shop

Vending

153/153


	12 December 12, 2023 Board Meeting Agenda
	October 17, 2023 Meeting Minutes ______________________________________ 1
	November 7, 2023 Meeting Minutes ______________________________________ 2
	Air Service Incentive Program Revisions ___________________________________ 3
	3.1 GJT Air Service Incentive Program Proposed CLEAN
	3.2 GJT Air Service Incentive Program Proposed Redline
	Asset Capitalization Policy ______________________________________________ 4
	4.1 2023 - Capitalization Policy CLEAN
	4.2 2023 - Capitalization Policy Redline
	Resolution No. 2023-014 Appoint Budget Officer ____________________________ 5
	5.1 Resolution 2023-014 Appoint Budget Officer
	Resolution No. 2023-015 to Adopt 2024 Budget and Appropriate Funds for 2024 __ 6
	6.1 Board Resolution 2023-015 Adopting Budget
	6.2 2024 Budget Message
	6.3 2024 Detail Final Draft
	Resolution No. 2023-016_ Rates and Charges _______________________________ 7
	7.1 Rates and Charges Resolution 2023-016 CLEAN
	7.2 Rates and Charges Resolution 2023-016 Redline
	Resolution No. 2023-017_ Delegation of Authority ___________________________ 8
	8.1 Resolution 2023-017 Delegation of Authority CLEAN
	8.2 Resolution 2023-017 Delegation of Authority Redline
	2024 Grant Applications________________________________________________ 9
	9.1 GJT Runway Pavement Design - Phase 2 Grant App
	9.2 GJT Earthwork &amp; Drainage Grant App
	9.3 GJT Runway Pavement Package 1 Grant App
	9.4 GJT Permanent FAA Design RA Grant App
	2024 Draft Board Meeting Calendar _____________________________________ 10
	Finance and Activity Report (Jennifer Kroeker)  ____________________________ 11

